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Report of the Board of Directors 
January–December, 2015

Governance 
Current legislation, the Company’s Articles of Association and the 
rules and regulations of organizations regulating and supervising 
the activities of listed companies are complied with in Valmet Cor-
poration and Valmet Group corporate governance. Valmet Corpo-
ration complies with the Finnish Corporate Governance Code for 
listed companies, which was published by the Securities Market 
Association in October 2015 and came into force on January 1, 2016. 
The Code is publicly available at www.cgfinland.fi/en.

Corporate Governance Statement
Valmet has prepared a separate Corporate Governance Statement 
for 2015 which complies with the recommendations of the Finnish 
Corporate Governance Code for listed companies. It also covers 
other central areas of corporate governance. The statement has 
been published on Valmet’s website, separately from the Board of 
Directors’ Report, at www.valmet.com/governance.

Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting is the company’s highest deci-
sion-making body, and its tasks are defined according to the Articles 
of Association and the Finnish Companies Act. The Annual General 
Meeting decides on the adoption of the Financial Statements, the 
distribution of profit, discharging the members of the Board of 
Directors and the President and CEO from liability, appointing 
the members, Chairman and Vice Chairman of the Board and the 
auditor, and their remunerations, as well as other matters requiring 
a decision by the Annual General Meeting according to the Finnish 
Companies Act and presented to the Annual General Meeting. The 
Annual General Meeting convenes at least once a year. The Board 
of Directors convenes the Annual General Meeting.

The Board of Directors
The Board of Directors takes care of the company’s administration 
and the appropriate organization of its activities and ensures that the 
monitoring of the company’s accounting and asset management is 
arranged appropriately. The Board of Directors monitors the Group’s 
activities, finances and risk management, and its task is to promote 
the interests of shareholders and the Group by ensuring the appro-
priate organization of the entire Group’s governance and operations.

According to Valmet’s Articles of Association, the Board of Di-
rectors shall include at least five (5) members and at most eight (8) 
members. The term of office of Board members ends at the end 
of the first Annual General Meeting following the elections. The 
Annual General Meeting selects the Chairman, Vice Chairman and 
other members of the Board. 

President and CEO 
The Board of Directors selects a President and CEO for the company 
and decides on the salary and remunerations of the President and 
CEO and other terms related to the position. The Board of Directors 
monitors the work of the President and CEO.

The President and CEO is responsible for the company’s daily 
administration according to the instructions and regulations of the 
Board of Directors. The President and CEO is responsible for en-
suring the legality of the company’s accounting and for the reliable 
organization of the company’s asset management.

Valmet Financial Statements 2015 Report of the Board of Directors
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Key figures1

EUR million
2015 2014 20132

Carve-out

Orders received 2,878 3,071 2,182

Order backlog3 2,074 1,998 1,398

Net sales 2,928 2,473 2,613

Earnings before interest, taxes and amortization (EBITA) and non-recurring items 182 106 54 

% of net sales 6.2% 4.3% 2.1% 

Earnings before interest, taxes and amortization (EBITA) 157 94 -32

% of net sales 5.3% 3.8% -1.2%

Operating profit (EBIT)  120 72 -59  
% of net sales 4.1% 2.9% -2.2% 

Profit before taxes 108 67 -64
Profit/loss 78 46 -62
Earnings per share, EUR 0.51 0.31 -0.424

Earnings per share, diluted, EUR 0.51 0.31 -0.424

Equity per share3, EUR 5.70 5.36 5.39

Dividend per share, EUR 0.355 0.25 0.15

Cash flow provided by operating activities 78 236 -43

Cash flow after investments -287 194 -97

Return on equity (ROE) 9% 6% -7%6

Return on capital employed (ROCE) before taxes 12% 9% -4%

1 Group figures: the calculation of key figures is presented in the section ‘Formulas for Calculation of Indicators’.
2  Valmet has formed a separate legal group as of December 31, 2013. Key figures for 2013 are based on financial carve-out data. Figures based on the Statement of Financial 

Position as at December 31, 2013 are actual figures.
3 At the end of period.
4 The earnings per share information was computed as if the shares issued in conjunction with the Demerger had been outstanding for the entire comparison period.
5 Board of Directors’ proposal.
6  In calculating these key ratios, an adjustment of EUR 468 million has been made from ‘Non-current debt, Metso Group’ to ‘equity’ in order to reflect the conversion of Metso 

Svenska AB’s non-current debt to Metso Group which took place in January 2013.

As at Dec 31, 
Equity to assets ratio and gearing 2015 2014 2013

Equity to assets ratio at end of period 36% 42% 41%

Gearing at end of period 21% -21% 0%

Customer activity increased towards the end 
of the year
In 2015, customer activity increased towards the end of the year, 
which was visible in orders received. After the high activity in the 
first half of 2014, orders received decreased to a lower level in the 
second half of 2014. From that level, customer activity and orders 
received have been growing during 2015. In 2015, orders received in-
creased in China and North America, and decreased in other areas.

The services business developed well in 2015 and orders received 
remained stable compared with 2014 in EMEA (Europe, Middle 
East and Africa) and increased in all other areas. In 2015, the de-
velopment in the capital business was strong in China and North 
America. In the automation business, the majority of the orders 
received came from EMEA in 2015. 

Valmet’s results 2015
Figures in brackets, unless otherwise stated, refer to the comparison 
period, i.e. the same period of the previous year. Automation has 

been consolidated into Valmet’s financials since April 1, 2015, when 
the acquisition of Automation was completed.

Report of the Board of DirectorsValmet Financial Statements 2015

5



In the energy business, customers’ decision making has been 
slower and in many cases postponed due to uncertainty in reg-
ulation in the energy market and the low price of energy. In the 
pulp business, customers made many investment decisions in 2015. 

Orders received increased in China and 
North America, stable business1 orders 
received EUR 1.3 billion in 2015

Orders received, EUR million 2015 2014 Change

Services 1,119 1,055 6%

Automation 222 - -

Pulp and Energy 864 1,344 -36%

Paper 673 671 0%

Total 2,878 3,071 -6%
1 Stable business = Services and Automation business lines.

Orders received, EUR million 2015 2014 Change

North America 717 490 46%

South America 166 281 -41%

EMEA 1,320 1,470 -10%

China 428 244 75%

Asia-Pacific 247 586 -58%

Total 2,878 3,071 -6%

Orders received in 2015 amounted to EUR 2,878 million, i.e. 6 per-
cent less than in the comparison period (EUR 3,071 million). The 
Automation business line contributed to orders received with EUR 
222 million. The emerging markets accounted for 36 percent (45%) 
of orders received. Orders received increased in the Services busi-
ness line, remained at the previous year’s level in the Paper business 
line, and decreased in the Pulp and Energy business line. Orders 
received increased in China and North America and decreased in 
other areas. Measured by orders received, the top three countries 
were the USA, Finland and China, which together accounted for 
49 percent of total orders received (Sweden, Finland and the USA, 
which together accounted for 41%).

In 2015, changes in foreign exchange rates increased orders 
received by approximately EUR 105 million compared with the 
exchange rates for 2014.

The largest orders in 2015 were received by the Pulp and Energy 
business line. In April, Valmet received an order for key technology 
to a bioproduct mill in Finland. The estimated value of the delivery, 
which includes only the core equipment supplied by Valmet, is about 
EUR 125–150 million. In August, Valmet received an order for the 
main equipment to a pulp mill project in China. The value of the or-
der is about EUR 110 million. In December 2015, Valmet received an 
order for key technology to a pulp mill expansion project in Sweden.

Other orders that Valmet received during the year were, among 
others, an OptiConcept M containerboard production line to 

China, several automation orders in Europe and North America, 
an Advantage NTT tissue production line to the USA, and two 
Advantage DCT tissue production lines to China. Valmet also 
signed a five-year agreement on the supply of paper machine and 
fiber line consumables to a customer in Sweden.

Order backlog at EUR 2.1 billion

As at Dec 31,
Order backlog, EUR million 2015 2014 Change

Total 2,074 1,998 4%

At the end of December, the order backlog was EUR 2,074 million, 
which was 4 percent higher than at the end of the comparison 
period (EUR 1,998 million). Approximately 25 percent of the or-
der backlog relates to stable business (Services and Automation 
business lines). At the end of December 2014, approximately 20 
percent of the order backlog related to the Services business line.

Net sales increased in 2015

Net sales, EUR million 2015 2014 Change

Services 1,128 989 14%

Automation 229 - -

Pulp and Energy  913 956 -5%

Paper 659 528 25%

Total 2,928 2,473 18%

Net sales, EUR million 2015 2014 Change

North America 615 449 37%

South America 335 325 3%

EMEA 1,304 1,053 24%

China 303 268 13%

Asia-Pacific 372 378 -2%

Total 2,928 2,473 18%

Net sales in 2015 increased 18 percent to EUR 2,928 million 
(EUR 2,473 million). Automation business line contributed to net 
sales with EUR 229 million. Net sales increased in both the Paper 
and Services business lines and remained at the previous year’s level 
in the Pulp and Energy business line. The stable business (Services 
and Automation business lines together) accounted for 46 percent 
of Valmet’s net sales (Services business line accounted for 40% in 
2014). Net sales increased in North America, EMEA, and China, 
and remained at the previous year’s level in Asia-Pacific and South 
America. Measured by net sales, the top three countries were the 
USA, Finland and Sweden, which together accounted for 43 per-
cent of total net sales (the USA, Sweden and Brazil, which together 
accounted for 38%). Emerging markets accounted for 42 percent 
(48%) of net sales.

Valmet Financial Statements 2015 Report of the Board of Directors
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In 2015, changes in foreign exchange rates increased net sales 
by approximately EUR 78 million compared with the exchange 
rates for 2014. 

Profitability improved – EBITA margin in the 
targeted range
In 2015, earnings before interest, taxes and amortization and 
non-recurring items (EBITA before non-recurring items) were 
EUR 182 million, i.e. 6.2 percent of net sales (EUR 106 million 
and 4.3%). Profitability improved due to increased net sales in the 
Services and Paper business lines, improved gross profit, and the 
acquisition of Automation.

Operating profit (EBIT) in 2015 was EUR 120 million, i.e. 4.1 per-
cent of net sales (EUR 72 million and 2.9%). Non-recurring items 
amounted to EUR -26 million (EUR -12 million), of which EUR -14 
million related to the acquisition of Automation and EUR -5 million 
to impairment of fixed assets.

Financing activities
Net financial income and expenses in 2015 were EUR -10 mil-
lion (EUR -5 million), of which interest expenses amounted to 
EUR 13 million (EUR 12 million), interest income to EUR 3 mil-
lion (EUR  5  million), other financial income and expenses to 
EUR -2 million (EUR -2 million), dividends received to EUR 0 mil-
lion (EUR 1 million) and net foreign exchange gains to EUR 2 mil-
lion (EUR 3 million).

Share in profits and losses of associated companies, financial 
investments, amounted to EUR -2 million (EUR 0 million) in 2015. 

Profit before taxes and earnings per share
Profit before taxes for 2015 was EUR 108 million (EUR 67 million). 
The profit attributable to owners of the parent company in 2015 was 
EUR 77 million (EUR 46 million), corresponding to earnings per 
share (EPS) of EUR 0.51 (EUR 0.31).

Return on capital employed (ROCE) 
increased
In 2015, return on capital employed (ROCE) before taxes was 12 per-
cent (9%) and return on equity (ROE) 9 percent (6%).

Business lines

Services – orders received and net  
sales increased in 2015

Services business line 2015 2014 Change

Orders received (EUR million) 1,119 1,055 6%

Net sales (EUR million) 1,128 989 14%

Personnel (end of period) 5,363 5,230 3%

During 2015, orders received by the Services business line increased 
6 percent to EUR 1,119 million (EUR 1,055 million) and accounted 
for 39 percent of all orders received (34%). Orders received re-
mained stable compared with the comparison period in EMEA 
and increased in other areas.

During 2015, net sales for the Services business line totaled EUR 
1,128 million (EUR 989 million), corresponding to 39 percent of 
Valmet’s net sales (40%).

Automation – orders received EUR 222 million and 
net sales EUR 229 million in 2015

Automation business line 2015 2014 Change

Orders received (EUR million) 222 - -

Net sales (EUR million) 229 - -

Personnel (end of period) 1,637 - -

The acquisition of Process Automation Systems was completed on 
April 1, 2015 and the acquired business forms the Automation busi-
ness line. During April–December, orders received by the Automa-
tion business line amounted to EUR 222 million and accounted for 
8 percent of all orders received. EMEA accounted for approximately 
60 percent and North America for approximately 20 percent of 
orders received.

During April–December, net sales for the Automation business 
line totaled to EUR 229 million, corresponding to 8 percent of 
Valmet’s net sales.

Pulp and Energy – orders received decreased in 2015

Pulp and Energy business line 2015 2014 Change

Orders received (EUR million) 864 1,344 -36%

Net sales (EUR million) 913 956 -5%

Personnel (end of period) 1,750 1,737 1%

During 2015, orders received by the Pulp and Energy business line 
decreased 36 percent to EUR 864 million (EUR 1,344 million) and 
accounted for 30 percent of all orders received (44%). Orders re-
ceived increased in China and North America and decreased in 
other areas. Orders received decreased in both Pulp and Energy.

During 2015, net sales for the Pulp and Energy business line 
totaled to EUR 913 million (EUR 956 million), corresponding to 
31 percent of Valmet’s net sales (39%). 

Paper – net sales increased in 2015

Paper business line 2015 2014 Change

Orders received (EUR million) 673 671 0%

Net sales (EUR million) 659 528 25%

Personnel (end of period) 3,036 3,098 -2%

Report of the Board of DirectorsValmet Financial Statements 2015
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During 2015, orders received by the Paper business line remained 
at the previous year’s level at EUR 673 million (EUR 671 million) 
and accounted for 23 percent of all orders received (22%). Orders 
received increased in China, North America and South America, 
remained stable compared to the comparison period in Asia-Pa-
cific, and decreased in EMEA. Orders received remained stable 
compared to the comparison period in both Board and Paper, as 
well as Tissue.

During 2015, net sales for the Paper business line totaled EUR 
659 million (EUR 528 million), corresponding to 23 percent of 
Valmet’s net sales (21%).

Cash flow and financing
Cash flow provided by operating activities amounted to EUR 
78 million (EUR 236 million) in 2015. Net working capital was 
EUR -238 million (EUR -353 million) at the end of December 2015. 
The change in net working capital, net of effect from business com-
binations and disposals in the condensed consolidated statement 
of cash flows was EUR -121 million (EUR 103 million) in 2015. Pay-
ment schedules of large capital projects have a significant impact 
on net working capital development. Cash flow after investments 
was EUR -287 million (EUR 194 million) in 2015.

Gearing was 21 percent (-21%) at the end of December and equity 
to assets ratio was 36 percent (42%). Gearing increased and the 
equity to assets ratio decreased, mainly due to the acquisition of 
Automation, which was completed on April 1, 2015. Interest-bearing 
liabilities were EUR 371 million (EUR 68 million) and net inter-
est-bearing liabilities totaled to EUR 178 million (EUR -166 million) 
at the end of the reporting period. Interest-bearing liabilities in-
creased due to bank loans to finance the acquisition of Automation. 
The average maturity for Valmet’s non-current debt was 3.4 years 
and the average interest rate was 1.3 percent.

Valmet’s liquidity was strong at the end of the reporting pe-
riod, with cash and cash equivalents totaling to EUR 165 million 
(EUR 192 million) and interest-bearing available-for-sale financial 
assets totaling to EUR 7 million (EUR 34 million). Valmet’s liquid-
ity was additionally secured by an unused revolving credit facility 
agreement worth EUR 200 million, that is committed by the banks 
and matures in 2018, and an uncommitted EUR 200 million com-
mercial paper program, of which none was outstanding at the end 
of December. 

On April 10, 2015, Valmet Corporation paid out dividends of 
EUR 37 million.

Investments excluding business 
combinations decreased in 2015
Gross capital expenditure, excluding business combinations, in 2015 
was EUR -44 million (EUR -46 million). Maintenance investments 
were EUR -36 million (EUR -37 million).

Business combinations and disposals of 
businesses 

Business combinations

Acquisition of Process Automation Systems
On April 1, 2015, Valmet completed its acquisition of Process 
Automation Systems. The final purchase consideration was 
EUR  312  million in cash. Control in the acquiree was obtained 
through a series of share deals financed through long-term bor-
rowings. Goodwill of EUR 164 million arising from the acquisition 
is attributable to the assembled workforce and synergies expected 
to arise subsequent to the acquisition.

Acquisition of MC Paper Machinery and Focus Rewinding 
business
On August 6, 2015, Valmet completed its acquisition of the MC 
Paper Machinery and Focus Rewinding business, through purchase 
of 100 percent of the share capital of Valmet Pescia S.r.l.. The pur-
chase consideration paid and provisional goodwill arising from 
the transaction amounted to EUR 5 million and EUR 5 million, 
respectively. This acquisition had no material effect on Valmet’s 
financial statements for the August–December 2015 period.

Disposals
Valmet made no disposals during the 12 months period ended  
December 31, 2015.

Research and development 
Valmet’s research and development (R&D) expenses for 2015 were 
EUR 59 million, i.e. 2.0 percent of net sales (EUR 42 million and 
1.7%). Research and development work is carried out predominant-
ly in Finland and Sweden within the business lines’ technology and 
R&D organizations. In addition, research and development takes 
place together with a network made up of customers, research facili-
ties and universities. In 2015, R&D employed 456 people (298 people).

Valmet’s R&D work is based on customers’ needs, such as in-
creasing production efficiency, improving competitiveness, max-
imizing the value of raw materials, widening raw material base, 
providing high-value end products, and developing new innova-
tions and technologies. 

Currently, Valmet has three focus areas in its R&D work. To 
ensure advanced and competitive technologies and services, Valmet 
develops cost competitive, leading production and automation 
technologies and services. To enhance raw material, water and en-
ergy efficiency, Valmet combines process technology, automation 
and services to reduce raw material, water, and energy consumption 
in its customers’ production processes. To promote renewable ma-
terials, Valmet develops solutions to replace fossil materials with 
renewable ones.

Valmet Financial Statements 2015 Report of the Board of Directors
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Valmet has successfully commercialized its techological innova-
tions. Valmet has, for example, sold 10 OptiConcept M board and 
paper machines, and 6 Advantage NTT tissue machines. Valmet is 
in the process of delivering its first high power recovery boiler and 
has delivered 2 LignoBoost lignin separation plants.

Valmet has recorded all costs resulting from R&D activities as 
expenses in the income statement in 2014 and 2015.

Number of personnel increased mainly due 
to the acquisition

As at Dec 31,
Personnel by business line 2015 2014 Change

Services 5,363 5,230 3%

Automation 1,637 - -

Pulp and Energy 1,750 1,737 1%

Paper 3,036 3,098 -2%

Other 520 399 30%

Total (end of period) 12,306 10,464 18%

As at Dec 31, 
Personnel by area 2015 2014 Change

North America 1,367 1,141 20%

South America 531 432 23%

EMEA 7,747 6,376 22%

China 1,955 1,927 1%

Asia-Pacific 706 588 20%

Total (end of period) 12,306 10,464 18%

In 2015, Valmet employed an average of 11,781 people (10,853). The 
number of personnel at the end of December was 12,306 (10,464). 
The number of personnel increased mainly due to the acquisition 
of Automation. In 2015, personnel expenses totaled to EUR 748 mil-
lion (EUR 609 million) of which wages, salaries and remuneration 
equaled to EUR 583 million (EUR 472 million).

Strategic goals and their implementation 
Valmet is a leading global developer and supplier of services, tech-
nologies and automation for the pulp, paper and energy industries. 
Valmet’s mission is to convert renewable resources into sustainable 
results. The company continues to focus on developing and sup-
plying competitive technology and services to the pulp, paper and 
energy industries. Valmet is committed to moving its customers’ 
performance forward. 

Valmet seeks to achieve its strategic targets by pursuing the 
following Must-Win initiatives: customer excellence, leader in 
technology and innovation, excellence in processes, and winning 
team. Valmet’s vision is to become the global champion in serving 
its customers.

Valmet’s product and service portfolio consists of productivi-
ty-enhancing services, automation solutions, plant upgrades and 
rebuilds, new cost-efficient equipment and solutions for optimizing 
energy and raw material usage, and technologies increasing the 
value of its customers’ end-products.

Valmet’s strategy and financial targets were reconfirmed by the 
Board of Directors in June 2015 (Stock exchange release on June 
24, 2015). Valmet has the following financial targets:

Financial targets

Net sales growth to exceed market growth

EBITA margin before non-recurring items: 6 to 9 percent

Return on capital employed (pre-tax), ROCE: minimum of 15 percent

Dividend payout at least 40 percent of net profit 

Continued focus on improving profitability
Valmet aims to improve product margin by focusing on improv-
ing sales and project management. By harmonizing processes and 
tools, localization of competencies, better selection of sales cases 
and developing project management, Valmet believes it can improve 
product margin. 

In order to reduce quality costs and lead times Valmet is imple-
menting Lean. Implementing Lean is expected to improve efficiency 
and reduce waste. A common quality development approach, to-
gether with different quality tools and processes help reduce qual-
ity costs and lead times. In order to affect quality costs and lead 
times, it is also important to highlight the importance of quality 
initiatives and accountability. In 2015, Valmet has conducted active 
Lean training on all levels, and there were over 100 Lean projects, 
of which majority ongoing. Results in reducing quality costs have 
been in line with the targets for 2015.

To improve profitability, Valmet also focuses on procure-
ment savings. These can be achieved by increasing sourcing from 
cost-competitive countries, by increasing the use of sub-contracting 
and by consolidating the shipment and warehouse network. Valmet 
also aims to find savings by focusing on design-to-cost together 
with suppliers. In 2015, Valmet was ahead of its procurement savings 
target. Procurement activity has increased in all main cost-com-
petitive areas, such as China, India, Eastern Europe and Mexico.

Valmet is constantly focusing on improving product competi-
tiveness in order to increase gross profit and reduce customer in-
vestment costs. Valmet focuses on cost efficient design, modularity 
and standardization, and product-based improvement programs.

Following the acquisition of the automation business, Valmet 
believes it can increase profitability by providing customer benefits 
by combining process technology, automation and services. Valmet 
can use common sales lead activation and a harmonized project 
execution model. Valmet can also utilize low-cost automation en-
gineering and manufacturing optimization and focus on product 
competitiveness development.

Report of the Board of DirectorsValmet Financial Statements 2015
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Activities and achievements in sustainability
Valmet’s sustainability agenda focuses on five core areas: sustainable 
supply chain; health, safety and environment; people and perfor-
mance; sustainable solutions and corporate citizenship. Each focus 
area has a specific roadmap with targets and key performance in-
dicators for 2014–2016.

Implementation of global supply chain activities 
continued
In 2015, Valmet continued to integrate sustainability criteria and 
tools into its procurement processes. By the end of 2015 all ac-
tive suppliers had been informed about the company’s Sustainable 
Supply Chain policy and assessed through a 5-level sustainability 
risk assessment, and relevant tools and processes established for 
supplier self-assessments and audits. Based on the results from the 
risk assessments and self-assessments, Valmet conducted in total 41 
supplier sustainability audits covering all geographical areas with a 
third-party sustainability auditor. At the end of 2015, the company 
kicked off a specific development program to ensure compliance 
with future chemical regulations. Furthermore, altogether 380 pro-
curement professionals globally received training in sustainability. 

Improvements in health, safety and environment 
(HSE)
Valmet’s lost time incident frequency rate (LTIF) at the end of 2015 
was at the level of 3.3 (12 months rolling; 5.5 at the end of Decem-
ber 2014). In 2015, the focus was on improving preventative safety 
measures, reinforcing safety awareness and leadership, and harmo-
nizing HSE practices in customer project deliveries globally. The 
development of Valmet’s environmental indicators are disclosed as 
part of Valmet’s Annual Report.

New solutions for more sustainable production 
processes
Valmet continuously develops and innovates new solutions to drive 
its customers’ performance. In 2015, Valmet received further or-
ders for its recent board, paper and tissue technologies which are 
designed for improved environmental efficiency, profitability and 
safety of production processes. The company also launched a new- 
generation on-line quality management solution, called Valmet IQ, 
and continued to develop new bioconversion technologies.

Personnel engagement increased
In 2015, Valmet conducted its second employee engagement survey 
with a global response rate of 81 percent (68%). The survey results 
improved in nearly all questions and global employee engagement 
rose by 9 percentage points to 65 percent. 

During the year, Valmet launched a renewed global training 
portfolio. It also continued to develop the role of managers and 
embed the company values in the daily work.

Valmet recognized as one of the world’s 
 sustainability leaders
In September 2015, Valmet was included in the Dow Jones Sus-
tainability Index (DJSI) for the second consecutive year, among 
the 317 most sustainable companies in the world. Valmet was listed 
both in the Dow Jones Sustainability World and Europe indices. 
Valmet also ranked high in CDP’s Climate change program with 
a score of 97/100.

To promote standards of behavior, Valmet enforced its updated 
Code of Conduct supported by e-learning and class room trainings. 
By the end of 2015, 90 percent of Valmet’s employees had completed 
this training.

Valmet reports annually on its sustainability performance ac-
cording to the Global Reporting Initiative, GRI G4 Core option, 
with selected indicators assured by an independent third party.

Lawsuits and claims
Several lawsuits, claims and disputes based on various grounds 
are pending against Valmet in various countries, including prod-
uct liability lawsuits and claims as well as legal disputes related to 
Valmet’s deliveries. 

On February 20, 2015 Valmet issued a stock exchange release 
about Andritz Oy having filed a summons application with the 
Stockholm District Court against Valmet AB, a subsidiary of Valmet 
Corporation, regarding patent infringement. In the claim Andritz 
is asking that Valmet under a penalty ceases to utilize the patent 
allegedly infringing Andritz’s patent and the Court to impose roy-
alty and damages on Valmet AB. Valmet has denied the claims in 
its writ of response submitted to the Stockholm District Court. In 
June Andritz revised its claim, which subsequently changed their 
overall claim from EUR 52 million to EUR 54 million and interest 
for the alleged infringement. Consequently, Valmet filed a second 
response to the Stockholm District Court in September.

Valmet’s management does not expect to the best of its present 
understanding that the outcome of these lawsuits, claims and dis-
putes will have a material adverse effect on Valmet in view of the 
grounds presented for them, provisions made, insurance coverage 
in force and the extent of Valmet’s total business activities. Valmet 
is also a plaintiff in several lawsuits.

Shares and shareholders

Share capital and number of shares
At the end of December 2015, Valmet Corporation’s share cap-
ital totaled to EUR 100,000,000 and the number of shares was 
149,864,619. At the end of December, Valmet held 399 treasury 
shares and the number of outstanding shares was 149,864,220.

Valmet Financial Statements 2015 Report of the Board of Directors
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Largest shareholders (Euroclear) Holdings % of holdings

1 Solidium Oy1 16,695,287 11.14

2 Varma Mutual Pension Insurance Company 4,208,465 2.81

3 Ilmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance Company 2,980,055 1.99

4 The State Pension Fund 1,520,000 1.01

5 Keva 1,502,166 1.00

6 Nordea Fennia Fund 1,331,310 0.89

7 Mandatum Life Insurance Company Limited 1,217,307 0.81

8 Odin Finland 974,240 0.65

9 Nordea Nordenfonden 811,896 0.54

10 Danske Invest Finnish Institutional Equity Fund 700,000 0.47

11 Nordea Pro Finland Fund 700,000 0.47

12 OP-Finland Value Fund 620,756 0.41

13 Sigrid Jusélius Foundation 610,865 0.41

14 Evli Finnish Small Cap Fund 610,253 0.41

15 Kaleva Mutual Insurance Company 599,659 0.40

1 Solidium Oy (wholly owned by the Finnish state)

Holdings of the Board of Directors in Valmet Corporation on December 31, 2015

Holdings Holdings of interest parties 

Risberg, Bo Chairman of the Board 3,922 0

Von Frenckell, Mikael Vice Chairman of the Board 107,989 0

Helfer, Friederike Member of the Board 4,187 0

Pehu-Lehtonen, Erkki Yrjö Juhani Member of the Board 7,366 0

Schrøder, Lone Fønss Member of the Board 5,235 0

Ziviani, Rogério Member of the Board 4,187 0

Total 132,886 0

% of outstanding shares 0.09% 0.00%

Largest shareholders
The following table summarizes the largest shareholders on  
December 31, 2015. 

In addition to the shareholders presented in the table, the share-
holder exceeding five percent ownership in Valmet on December 
31, 2015 was Cevian Capital Partners Ltd. (ownership of 6.89 per-

cent as announced on February 13, 2015). All flagging notifications 
received and announced during 2015 are presented in the section 
of flagging notifications.
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Distribution of holdings by number of shares held on December 31, 2015

Number of shares
Number of  

shareholders % of shareholders
Total number  

of shares % of share capital

1–100 19,950 41.6 1,034,868 0.7

101–1,000 23,167 48.3 8,565,969 5.7

1,001–10,000 4,434 9.2 11,354,016 7.6

10,001–100,000 333 0.7 8,727,228 5.8

100,001– 68 0.1 120,173,618 80.2

Total 47,952 100.0 149,855,699 100.0

Nominee registered 12 0.0 74,114,704 49.5

Treasury shares held by the parent company 1 0.0 399 0.0

On shared account 0 0.0 8,920 0.0

Distribution of holdings by group on December 31, 2015

Number of shareholders Number of shares % of share capital 

Nominee registered and non-Finnish holders 298 76,891,116 51.3

Finnish institutions, companies and foundations 2,629 34,619,876 23.1

Solidium Oy1 16,695,287 11.1

Finnish private investors 45,025 21,658,340 14.5

Total 47,952 149,864,619 100.0

1 Solidium Oy (wholly owned by the Finnish state)

The ownership structure is based on the classification of sectors determined by Statistics Finland. The classification determines mandatory insurance companies, such as pension 
funds into the general government sector. Other insurance companies are classified under financial and insurance corporations.

Holdings of the Executive Team in Valmet Corporation on December 31, 2015

Holdings Holdings of interest parties 

Laine, Pasi Kalevi President and CEO 49,021 0

Saarinen, Kari Juhani CFO 6,325 0

Bohn, William Leslie Area President, North America 6,652 0

Karlstedt, Bertel Evald Business Line President, Pulp and Energy 5,700 0

Macharey, Julia Irene SVP, Human Resources 3,455 0

Niemi, Aki Petri Area President, China 8,000 0

Pietilä, Hannu T. Area President, Asia-Pacific 8,432 0

Ruotsalainen, Jussi Sakari Business Line President, Automation 8,090 0

Salonsaari-Posti, Anu Maarit SVP, Marketing and Communications 1,500 100

Simola, Vesa Tuomas Area President, EMEA 5,817 0

Tacla, Celso Luiz Area President, South America 21,175 0

Tiitinen, Jukka Heikki Business Line President, Services 23,770 100

Vähäpesola, Jari Business Line President, Paper 12,391 0

Total 160,328 200

% of outstanding shares 0.11% 0.00%
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Treasury shares and Board authorizations
Valmet Corporation’s Annual General Meeting on March 27, 2015 
authorized Valmet’s Board of Directors to resolve on repurchasing 
Company shares in one or more tranches. The maximum num-
ber of shares to be repurchased shall be 10,000,000 shares, which 
corresponds to approximately 6.7 percent of all the shares in the 
Company. 

Company shares may be repurchased otherwise than in propor-
tion to the shareholdings of the shareholders (directed repurchase). 
Company shares may be repurchased using the unrestricted equity 
of the Company at a price formed on a regulated market on the 
main list of the Nasdaq Helsinki Ltd. on the date of the repurchase.

Company shares may be repurchased for reasons of developing 
the Company’s capital structure, financing or carrying out acquisi-
tions, investments or other business transactions, or for the shares 
to be used in an incentive scheme. The Board of Directors resolves 
on all other terms related to the repurchasing of own shares.

Valmet Corporation’s Annual General Meeting authorized 
Valmet’s Board of Directors to resolve on the issuance of shares as 
well as the issuance of special rights entitling to shares, pursuant to 
Chapter 10(1) of the Finnish Limited Liability Companies Act, in 
one or more tranches. The issuance of shares may be carried out by 
issuing new shares as well as transferring treasury shares of Valmet 
Corporation. Based on the authorization, the Board of Directors 
may resolve to issue shares in derogation from the shareholder’s 
pre-emptive right and to issue special rights within the conditions 
of Finnish laws.

The maximum number of new shares which may be issued 
shall be 15,000,000 shares, which corresponds to approximately 
10 percent of all the shares in Valmet Corporation. The maximum 
number of treasury shares which may be issued shall be 10,000,000 
shares, which corresponds to approximately 6.7 percent of all the 
shares in the Company.

The Board of Directors is furthermore authorised to issue special 
rights pursuant to Chapter 10(1) of the Finnish Limited Liabili-
ty Companies Act entitling their holder to receive new shares or 
treasury shares for consideration. The maximum number of shares 
which may be issued based on the special rights shall be 15,000,000 
shares, which corresponds to approximately 10 percent of all the 
shares in Company. This number of shares shall be included in the 
aggregate numbers of shares mentioned in the previous paragraph.

The new shares and treasury shares may be issued for consid-
eration or without consideration.

The Board of Directors of Valmet Corporation shall also be 
authorised to resolve on issuing treasury shares to the Company 
without consideration. The maximum number of shares which 
may be issued to Valmet Corporation shall be 10,000,000 shares 
when combined with the number of shares repurchased based on 
an authorization. Such a number corresponds to approximately 6.7 
percent of all shares in the Company. The treasury shares issued to 
the Company shall not be taken into account in the limits pursuant 
to the preceding paragraphs.

The Board of Directors resolves on all other terms related to the 
issuance of shares as well as the issuance of special rights entitling 
to shares pursuant to Chapter 10(1) of the Finnish Limited Liability 
Companies Act. The authorisation may be exercised by The Board 
of Directors for example for reasons of developing the Company’s 
capital structure, in financing or carrying out acquisitions, invest-
ments or other business transactions, or for the shares to be used 
in an incentive scheme.

The authorizations shall remain in force until the next Annual 
General Meeting, and they cancel the Annual General Meeting’s 
authorizations of March 26, 2014.

Trading in shares
The closing price of Valmet’s share on the final day of trading for 
the reporting period, December 30, 2015, was EUR 8.90. The clos-
ing share price on the last day of trading in 2014 (December 30, 
2014) was EUR 10.22. The share price decreased by some 13 percent 
during the reporting period. The highest price for the share during 
the reporting period was EUR 12.47, the lowest was EUR 8.36 and 
the volume-weighted average price was EUR 10.39. The number of 
shares traded on Nasdaq Helsinki Ltd during January–December 
was approximately 102 million. The value of trading was approxi-
mately EUR 1.1 billion. (Source: Nasdaq)

In addition to Nasdaq Helsinki Ltd, Valmet’s shares are also 
traded on other marketplaces, such as Chi-X and BATS. A total 
of approximately 22 million of Valmet’s shares were traded on 
alternative marketplaces in January–December, which equals to 
approximately 18 percent of the share’s total trade volume. Of the 
alternative exchanges, Valmet’s shares were traded especially on 
Chi-X. (Source: VWD, Six)

Market capitalization (excluding treasury shares) stood at 
EUR 1,334 million at the end of the reporting period.
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Share capital and share data1

2015 2014

Share capital, December 31, EUR million 100 100

Number of shares, December 31:

Number of outstanding shares 149,864,220 149,864,220
Treasury shares held by the parent 
company 399 399

Total number of shares 149,864,619 149,864,619
Average number of outstanding 
shares 149,864,220 149,863,252

Average number of diluted shares 149,864,220 149,863,252

Trading volume on Nasdaq Helsinki Ltd. 102,209,913 137,682,776

% of total shares for public trading 68.2 91.9

Earnings/share, EUR 0.51 0.31

Earnings/share, diluted, EUR 0.51 0.31

Dividend/share, EUR 0.352 0.25

Dividend, EUR million 522 37

Dividend/earnings 68%2 81%

Effective dividend yield 3.9%2 2.4%

Price to earnings ratio (P/E) 17.3 33.2

Equity/share, EUR 5.70 5.36

Highest share price, EUR 12.47 10.37

Lowest share price, EUR 8.36 6.00

Volume-weighted average share price, EUR 10.39 7.54
Share price, December 31, EUR 8.90 10.22
Market capitalization3,  
December 31, EUR million 1,334 1,532

1  The formulas for calculation of figures are presented in the section ‘Formulas for 
Calculation of Indicators’.

2 Board of Directors’ proposal.
3 Excluding treasury shares.

Flagging notifications
During the review period, Valmet received the following flagging 
notifications:

Stock exchange release on June 11, 2015
Valmet Corporation received a notification referred to in the 
Securities Market Act from Franklin Templeton Institutional, LLC, 
stating that the company’s ownership and share of votes in Valmet 
Corporation has decreased below the threshold of 5 percent (1/20). 
As a result of share transactions on June 9, 2015, the holding of 
Franklin Templeton Institutional, LLC decreased to 7,196,324 shares 
(previously 7,517,629 shares), representing an ownership of 4.80 per-
cent (previously 5.02 percent) of Valmet Corporation’s total number 
of shares and share of votes.

Stock exchange release on February 13, 2015
Valmet Corporation received a notification referred to in the 
Securities Market Act from Cevian Capital Partners Ltd., stating 
that the company’s ownership and share of votes in Valmet Corpo-
ration has decreased below the threshold of 10 percent (1/10). As 
a result of share transactions on February 12, 2015, the holding of 
Cevian Capital Partners Ltd. decreased to 10,323,191 shares (previ-
ously 20,813,714 shares), representing an ownership of 6.89 percent 
(previously 13.89 percent) of Valmet Corporation’s total number of 
shares and share of votes.

Share-based incentive plans
Valmet’s share-based incentive plans are part of the remuneration 
and retention program for Valmet’s management. The aim of the 
plans is to align the objectives of shareholders and management 
to increase the value of the company, commit management to the 
company, and offer management a competitive reward plan based 
on long-term shareholding in Valmet.
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Development of Valmet’s share price, December 31, 2014–December 31, 2015

Number of shareholders
The number of registered shareholders at the end of December 
2015 was 47,952 (49,294 on December 31, 2014). Shares owned by 
nominee-registered parties and by non-Finnish parties equaled to 
51.3 percent of the total number of shares at the end of December 
2015 (54.7% on December 31, 2014). 
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Valmet has entered into an agreement with a third-party ser-
vice provider concerning the administration of the share-based 
incentive programs for key personnel. At the end of the reporting 
period, the number of shares held within the administration plan 
was 473,617.

Long-term incentive plan 2012–2014
In December 2011, a share-based incentive plan including three 
performance periods, which were the calendar years 2012, 2013 and 
2014, was approved.

For the 2012 performance period a gross number of 321,438 
shares were earned by 31 participants. The earning criteria of the 
performance period 2012 were based on net sales growth of the 
Services business, return on capital employed (ROCE) before taxes 
and earnings per share (EPS). The reward was paid partly as com-
pany shares and partly in cash during 2015.

For the 2013 performance period, the performance criteria were 
not met and therefore no rewards will be paid for the 2013 perfor-
mance period.

For the 2014 performance period, the plan was targeted at 40 
persons in Valmet’s management. From the performance period 
2014, a gross number of 268,003 shares were earned. The earning 
criteria of the performance period 2014 were based on growth in 
Valmet’s EBITA % and growth in Services orders received. The re-
ward will be paid partly as company shares and partly in cash. The 
cash portion is dedicated to cover taxes and tax-related payments. 
The expense of the plan is recognized over the vesting period i.e. 
from the beginning of 2014 until the end of February 2017.

Long-term incentive plan 2015–2017
The Board of Directors of Valmet Corporation approved in De-
cember 2014 a new share-based incentive plan for Valmet’s key 
employees. The Plan includes three discretionary periods, which are 
the calendar years 2015, 2016 and 2017. The Board of Directors shall 
decide on the performance criteria and targets in the beginning of 
each discretionary period. The Plan is directed to approximately 
80 key people. 

The reward of the plan may not exceed 120 percent of the key 
employee’s annual base salary. As a rule, no reward is paid, if the 
key employee’s employment or service ends before the reward pay-
ment. The shares paid as reward may not be transferred during 
the restriction period, which will end two years from the end of 
the discretionary period. Should a key employee’s employment or 
service end during the restriction period, as a rule, he or she must 
gratuitously return the shares given as reward to the Company.

The potential reward of the plan from the discretionary period 
2015 is based on EBITA % and Services orders received growth %. 
The potential reward of the plan from the discretionary period 2015 
will be paid partly as company shares and partly in cash in 2016. 
The proportion to be paid in cash is intended to cover taxes and 

tax-related costs arising from the reward to the key employee. The 
rewards to be paid on the basis of the discretionary period 2015 
are in total a maximum of 693,079 shares in Valmet Corporation. 

As part of the plan, members of Valmet’s Executive Team shall 
have a possibility to receive a matching share reward for the dis-
cretionary period 2015 provided that he or she owns or acquires 
Valmet shares up to a number determined by the Board of Directors 
by December 31, 2015.

The Board of Directors of Valmet Corporation decided in De-
cember 2015 to continue the share-based incentive program for 
Valmet’s key employees approved in December 2014. The potential 
reward of the program from the discretionary period 2016 is based 
on EBITA % and orders received growth % of the stable business, 
that is, the Services and Automation business lines. The potential 
reward of the plan from the discretionary period 2016 will be paid 
partly as Valmet shares and partly in cash in 2017. The rewards to 
be paid on the basis of the discretionary period 2016 are in total an 
approximate maximum of 850,000 shares in Valmet.

As part of the share-based incentive program members of the 
Valmet Executive Team shall have a possibility to receive a matching 
share reward for the discretionary period 2016 provided that he or 
she owns or acquires Valmet shares up to a number determined by 
the Board of Directors by December 31, 2016.

The shares to be transferred as part of the possible reward will 
be obtained in public trading, ensuring that the incentive plan will 
not have a diluting effect on Valmet’s share value.

More information about share-based incentive plans can be 
found in Valmet’s Corporate Governance Statement which is avail-
able at www.valmet.com/governance.

Resolutions of Valmet Corporation’s Annual 
General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting of Valmet Corporation was held in 
Helsinki on March 27, 2015. The Annual General Meeting adopted 
the Financial Statements for 2014 and discharged the members of 
the Board of Directors and the President and CEO from liability 
for the 2014 financial year. The Annual General Meeting approved 
the Board of Directors’ proposals, which concerned authorizing 
the Board to resolve on repurchasing company shares and to re-
solve on the issuance of shares and the issuance of special rights 
entitling to shares. 

The Annual General Meeting confirmed the number of Board 
members as seven and appointed Bo Risberg as a new member 
of the Board. Bo Risberg was appointed as Chairman of Valmet 
Corporation’s Board and Mikael von Frenckell as Vice Chairman. 
Lone Fønss Schrøder, Friederike Helfer, Pekka Lundmark, Erkki 
Pehu-Lehtonen and Rogério Ziviani will continue as members 
of the Board. The term of office of the members of the Board of 
Directors expires at the end of the next Annual General Meeting.
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The Annual General Meeting appointed Pricewaterhouse-
Coopers Oy, authorized public accountants, as the company’s au-
ditor for a term expiring at the end of the next Annual General 
Meeting.

Valmet published stock exchange releases on March 27, 2015, 
concerning the resolutions of the Annual General Meeting and 
the composition of the Board of Directors. The stock exchange 
releases and a presentation of the Board’s members can be viewed 
on Valmet’s website at www.valmet.com/agm.

In compliance with the resolution of the Annual General Meet-
ing on March 27, 2015, Valmet Corporation paid out dividends of 
EUR 37 million for 2014, corresponding to EUR 0.25 per share, on 
April 10, 2015.

Changes in the Board composition 
On April 7, 2015, Pekka Lundmark announced his resignation from 
the Board of Directors of the company. The reason for the resigna-
tion is his appointment as the President and CEO of Fortum Cor-
poration as of September 2015. Valmet announced the resignation 
as a stock exchange release on April 8, 2015.

The Board of Directors elected Erkki Pehu-Lehtonen to replace 
Pekka Lundmark in Valmet’s Remuneration and HR Committee. 
Valmet announced the election as a stock exchange release on April 
20, 2015.

Risks and business uncertainties
Valmet’s operations are affected by various strategic, financial, 
operational, and hazard risks. Valmet takes measures to exploit 
emerging opportunities and to limit the adverse effects of potential 
threats. The assessment of risks related to sustainable development 
holds a key role in risk management. If such threats materialized, 
they could have material adverse effects on Valmet’s business, 
financial situation, and operating result or on the value of shares 
and other securities. 

The objective of Valmet’s risk management is to ensure the im-
plementation of an effective and successful strategy for achieving 
both long- and short-term goals. The task of Valmet’s management 
is to regulate risk appetite. 

In assessing risks, Valmet takes into consideration the probabili-
ty of the risks and their estimated impact on net sales and financial 
results. Valmet’s management estimates that the company’s overall 
risk level is currently manageable in proportion to the scope of 
its operations and the practical measures available for managing 
these risks. 

Financial uncertainty in the global economy, coupled with fluc-
tuations in exchange rates and tightening financial market regu-
lations, may have an adverse effect on the availability of financing 
from banks and capital markets, and could reduce the investment 
appetite of Valmet’s customers. Valmet estimates that the high 
proportion of business derived from stable business (Services and 

Automation) and the geographical diversification will reduce the 
possible negative effects that market uncertainties may have. 

If global economic growth weakens, it might have adverse ef-
fects on new projects under negotiation or on projects in the order 
backlog. Some projects may be postponed, suspended, or canceled. 
In the case of long-term delivery projects, initial customer down 
payments are typically 10–30 percent of the value of the project, and 
customers make progress payments as a project is implemented. 
This significantly decreases the risks and financing requirements 
related to Valmet’s projects. Valmet continually assesses its cus-
tomers’ creditworthiness and their ability to meet their obligations. 
As a rule, Valmet does not finance customer projects. If economic 
growth slows significantly, the markets for Valmet’s products may 
shrink, which may lead to, for example, tougher price competition. 
Changes and uncertainty in future regulation and legislation can 
also critically affect especially the energy business.

Large fluctuations in energy prices can affect the global econ-
omy. These fluctuations can also affect Valmet and its customers, 
especially in the energy business.

Changes in labor costs and the prices of raw materials and 
components can affect Valmet’s profitability. Wage inflation is con-
tinuing, but Valmet’s goal is to offset this at least partly through 
increased productivity and strict price discipline. It is possible, 
however, that tough competition in some product categories will 
make it difficult to pass on cost increases to product prices. On 
the other hand, some of Valmet’s customers are raw material pro-
ducers, and their ability to operate and invest may be enhanced 
by strengthening commodity prices and hampered by declining 
commodity prices.

Through acquisitions Valmet may become exposed to risks as-
sociated with new markets and business environments. The actual 
acquisition process also includes risks. Other risks associated with 
acquisitions include, but are not limited to, integration of the ac-
quired business, increased financial risk exposure, retention of key 
personnel and achieving the targets set for the acquired business.

Management of project business risks important
An important part of Valmet’s business consists of project business. 
Pulp business projects in particular are large, thus project-specific 
risk management is crucial. Key risks related to projects are cost ac-
counting, scheduling and materials management risks. Risk analysis 
shall, as a minimum, take place for all significant project quotations. 
The work concerning threat and opportunity assessment continues 
during the execution phase of the project. Risk management is 
based on careful planning and on continuous, systematic moni-
toring and drawing on past experiences. Project risks are managed 
by improving and continuously developing project management 
processes and the related tools. 

There may be changes in the competitive situation of Valmet’s 
individual businesses, such as the emergence of new, cost-effective 
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players in the markets. Valmet can safeguard its market position by 
developing its products and services, and through good customer 
service and a local presence. 

Availability of financing crucial
Securing the continuity of Valmet’s operations requires that suffi-
cient funding is available under all circumstances. Valmet estimates 
that its liquid cash assets and committed credit limits are sufficient 
to secure the company’s immediate liquidity and to ensure the flex-
ibility of financing. The average maturity for Valmet’s non-current 
debt is 3.4 years. Loan facilities include customary covenants and 
Valmet is in clear compliance with the covenants at the balance 
sheet date.

Net working capital and capital expenditure levels have a key 
impact on the adequacy of our financing. Valmet estimates that 
the company is well-positioned to keep capital expenditure at the 
level of total depreciation.

Of the financial risks that affect Valmet’s profit, currency ex-
change rate risks are among the most substantial. Exchange rate 
changes can affect Valmet’s business, although the wide geographi-
cal scope of the company’s operations reduces the impact of any in-
dividual currency. Economic insecurity typically increases exchange 
rate fluctuations. Valmet hedges its currency exposures linked to 
firm delivery and purchase agreements. 

At the end of December 2015, Valmet had EUR 624 million 
(EUR 446 million) of goodwill on its statement of financial position. 
Valmet assesses the value of its goodwill for impairment annually 
or more frequently if facts and circumstances indicate that a risk 
of impairment exists. Valmet has not identified any indications of 
impairment during the reporting period. The principles used for 
impairment testing are presented in the Annual Report. 

Events after the reporting period 
There were no subsequent events after the review period that re-
quired recognition or disclosure. 

Guidance for 2016
Valmet estimates that net sales in 2016 will remain at the same 
level with 2015 (EUR 2,928 million) and EBITA before non-recur-
ring items in 2016 will increase in comparison with 2015 (EUR 182 
million).

Short-term outlook

General economic outlook 
Global growth, currently estimated at 3.1 percent in 2015, is project-
ed at 3.4 percent in 2016 and 3.6 percent in 2017. The pickup in global 
activity is projected to be more gradual than in the October 2015 
World Economic Outlook (WEO), especially in emerging market 
and developing economies. In advanced economies, a modest and 

uneven recovery is expected to continue, with a gradual further 
narrowing of output gaps. The picture for emerging market and 
developing economies is diverse but in many cases challenging. 
The slowdown and rebalancing of the Chinese economy, lower 
commodity prices, and strains in some large emerging market 
economies will continue to weigh on growth prospects in 2016–17. 
(International Monetary Fund, January 19, 2016)

Short-term market outlook
Valmet estimates that the short-term market outlook has improved 
for Board and Paper to good level (previously satisfactory level) and 
for Energy to satisfactory level (previously weak level). Valmet also 
estimates that the short-term market outlook for Pulp has decreased 
to satisfactory level (previously good level).

Valmet reiterates the satisfactory short-term market outlook for 
services, automation, and tissue.

Board of Director’s proposal for the 
distribution of profit
Valmet Corporation’s distributable funds totaled to EUR 
882,995,368.40 on December 31, 2015, of which the net profit for 
2015 was EUR 21,593,211.93 (according to Finnish Generally Accept-
ed Accounting Standards).

The Board of Directors proposes that a dividend of EUR 0.35 
per share be paid based on the statement of financial position to 
be adopted for the financial year which ended December 31, 2015, 
and that the remaining part of the profit be retained and carried 
further in the Company’s unrestricted equity. 

The dividend will be paid to shareholders who on the dividend 
record date March 24, 2016 are registered in the Company’s share-
holders’ register held by Euroclear Finland Ltd. The dividend will 
be paid on April 6, 2016. All the shares in the company are entitled 
to a dividend with the exception of treasury shares held by the 
company on the dividend record date. 

Espoo, February 9, 2016
Valmet Corporation’s Board of Directors

Report of the Board of DirectorsValmet Financial Statements 2015
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Year ended Dec 31,

EUR million Note 2015 2014

Net sales 2, 15 2,928 2,473
Cost of goods sold 6, 7 -2,291 -2,004

Gross profit 637 469

Selling, general and administrative expenses 4, 6, 7 -501 -401

Other operating income 5 29 27

Other operating expenses 5 -47 -23

Share in profits and losses of associated companies, operative investments 12 2 -

Operating profit 120 72

Financial income 8, 27 6 9

Financial expenses 8, 27 -16 -15

Share in profits and losses of associated companies, financial investments 12 -2 -

Profit before taxes 108 67

Current tax expense -29 -19

Deferred taxes -1 -2

Income taxes, total 9 -30 -21

Profit/loss 78 46

Attributable to:

Owners of the parent company 77 46

Non-controlling interests - -

Profit/loss 78 46

Earnings per share attributable to owners of the parent:

Earnings per share, EUR 0.51 0.31

Diluted earnings per share, EUR 0.51 0.31

Consolidated Statement of Income

Valmet Financial Statements 2015 Consolidated Financial Statements 
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Year ended Dec 31,

EUR million Note 2015 2014

Profit/loss 78 46

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:

Cash flow hedges 17, 19, 27 -2 -11

Currency translation on subsidiary net investments 19 10 7

Income tax relating to items that may be reclassified 9 - 3

8 -1

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:

Remeasurement of defined benefit plans 24 8 -40

Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified 9 -1 13

7 -27

Other comprehensive income/expense 15 -28

Total comprehensive income/expense 93 18

Attributable to:

Owners of the parent company 92 18

Non-controlling interests 1 -

Total comprehensive income/expense 93 18

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Consolidated Financial Statements Valmet Financial Statements 2015
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Assets
As at Dec 31,

EUR million Note 2015 2014

Non-current assets

Intangible assets

Goodwill 624 446

Other intangible assets 235 91

Total intangible assets 11 859 537

Property, plant and equipment

Land and water areas 26 22

Buildings and structures 138 132

Machinery and equipment 196 202

Assets under construction 25 25

Total property, plant and equipment 11 385 381

Financial and other non-current assets

Investments in associated companies 12 12 5

Available-for-sale financial assets 13, 17 3 9

Loans and other receivables 16, 17 20 7

Derivative financial instruments 17, 27 2 -

Deferred tax asset 9 85 86

Other non-current assets 16 13 14

Total financial and other non-current assets 134 121

Total non-current assets 1,378 1,040

Current assets

Inventories 14 508 474

Receivables

Trade and other receivables 16, 17 575 445

Amounts due from customers under construction contracts 15 216 192

Loans and other receivables 16, 17 1 -

Available-for-sale financial assets 13, 17 7 28

Derivative financial instruments 17, 27 13 20

Income tax receivables 31 22

Total receivables 842 706

Cash and cash equivalents 17, 18 165 192

Total current assets 1,516 1,372

Total assets 2,894 2,412

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
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Equity and liabilities
As at Dec 31,

EUR million Note 2015 2014

Equity

Share capital 100 100

Reserve for invested unrestricted equity 404 403

Cumulative translation adjustments 18 9

Fair value and other reserves -4 -3

Treasury shares -7 -

Retained earnings 344 296

Equity attributable to owners of the parent company 19 855 804

Non-controlling interests 6 5

Total equity 860 809

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Non-current debt 17, 21 309 16

Post-employment benefits 24 149 144

Provisions 22 10 10

Derivative financial instruments 17, 27 3 3

Deferred tax liability 9 70 22

Other non-current liabilities - 1

Total non-current liabilities 542 195

Current liabilities

Current portion of non-current debt 17, 21 62 51

Trade and other payables 17, 23 767 740

Provisions 22 98 98

Advances received 248 146

Amounts due to customers under construction contracts 15 276 327

Derivative financial instruments 17, 27 13 30

Income tax liabilities 27 16

Total current liabilities 1,491 1,408

Total liabilities 2,033 1,603

Total equity and liabilities 2,894 2,412

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
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Year ended Dec 31, 

EUR million Note 2015 2014

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit/loss 78 46

Adjustments

Depreciation and amortization 7, 11 92 72

Gain (-) / loss (+) on sale of fixed assets 5 -1 -

Gain (-) / loss (+) on sale of subsidiaries and associated companies 5 - 2

Dividend income and net interests 8 6 2

Income taxes 9 30 21

Other non-cash items 23 16

Change in net working capital, net of effect from business acquisitions and disposals

Inventories 14 -40

Trade and other receivables -59 -10

Amounts due to / from customers under construction contracts, net -32 116

Trade and other payables -44 38

Interest paid -7 -8

Interest received 3 5

Dividends received - 1

Income taxes paid -25 -24

Net cash provided by (+) / used in (-) operating activities 78 236

Cash flows from investing activities

Capital expenditures on fixed assets 11 -44 -46

Proceeds from sale of fixed assets 3 4

Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired 11 -323 -

Net cash provided by (+) / used in (-) investing activities -365 -42

Cash flows from financing activities

Purchase of treasury shares -7 -

Dividends paid -37 -22

Net borrowings (+) / payments (-) on current debt - -8

Proceeds from issuance of non-current debt 355 -

Principal payments of non-current debt -61 -134

Investments in available-for-sale financial assets - -62

Proceeds from available-for-sale financial assets 24 29

Other -13 -7

Net cash provided by (+) / used in (-) financing activities 259 -204

Net increase (+) / decrease (-) in cash and cash equivalents -28 -10

Effect of changes in exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents 1 -9

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 17, 18 192 211

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 165 192

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

EUR million
Share 

capital

Reserve for 
invested 

unrestrict-
ed equity

Cumulative 
translation 

adjustments
Hedge 

reserve

Fair 
value 

reserve
Legal 

reserve

Fair value 
and other 

reserves
Treasury 

shares
Retained 
earnings

Equity 
attributable 
to owners of 

the parent 
company

Non- 
controlling 

interests
Total 

equity

Balance at Jan 1, 2014 100 402 2 1 - 4 5 - 299 808 5 813

Profit/loss - - - - - - - - 46 46 - 46

Other comprehensive income/expense

Cash flow hedges

Fair value gains/losses, net of tax - - - -3 - - -3 - - -3 - -3
Transferred to Other operating 
income/expenses in profit and loss, 
net of tax - - - -5 - - -5 - - -5 - -5

Currency translation on subsidiary net 
investments - - 7 - - - - - - 7 - 7
Remeasurement of defined benefit 
plans, net of tax - - - - - - - - -27 -27 - -27

Other comprehensive income/expense 
total - - 7 -8 - - -8 - -27 -28 - -28

Total comprehensive income/expense - - 7 -8 - - -8 - 19 18 - 18

Dividends - - - - - - - - -22 -22 - -23

Other - - - - - - - - -1 -1 - -1

Share-based payments, net of tax - - - - - - - - 2 2 - 2

Balance at Dec 31, 2014 100 403 9 -7 - 3 -3 - 296 804 5 809

Balance at Jan 1, 2015 100 403 9 -7 - 3 -3 - 296 804 5 809

Profit/loss - - - - - - - - 77 77 - 78

Other comprehensive income/expense

Cash flow hedges

Fair value gains/losses, net of tax - - - 3 - - 3 - - 3 - 3
Transferred to Other operating 
income/expenses in profit and loss, 
net of tax - - - -5 - - -5 - - -5 - -5

Currency translation on subsidiary net 
investments - - 10 - - - - - -2 8 - 8
Remeasurement of defined benefit 
plans, net of tax - - - - - - - - 9 9 - 9

Other comprehensive income/expense 
total - - 10 -2 - - -2 - 7 15 - 15

Total comprehensive income/expense - - 10 -2 - - -2 - 84 92 1 93

Dividends - - - - - - - - -37 -37 - -37

Purchase of treasury shares - - - - - - - -7 - -7 - -7

Share-based payments, net of tax - 2 - - - - - - 2 3 - 3

Balance at Dec 31, 2015 100 404 18 -8 - 4 -4 -7 344 855 6 860

Consolidated Financial Statements Valmet Financial Statements 2015
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1  Background, basis of preparation 
and accounting principles 

General information
Valmet Corporation (the “Company” or the “parent company”), 
a public limited liability company, and its subsidiaries (together 
“Valmet”, “Valmet Group” or the “Group”) form a global supplier 
of sustainable technology and services, which designs, develops and 
produces systems, automation solutions, machinery and equipment 
for process industries. The main customers of Valmet operate in 
the pulp, paper and energy industries.

Valmet Corporation is domiciled in Helsinki, and its registered 
address is Keilasatama 5, 02150 Espoo, Finland. The Company’s 
shares are listed on the Nasdaq Helsinki Ltd as of January 2, 2014. 
The copies of the consolidated financial statements are available at 
www.valmet.com or the parent company’s head office, Keilasatama 
5, 02150 Espoo, Finland.

The consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue 
by Valmet’s Board of Directors on February 9, 2016 after which, in ac-
cordance with Finnish Company Law, the financial statements are ei-
ther approved, amended or rejected in the Annual General Meeting. 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the basis of preparation and accounting principles 
set out below.

Basis of preparation
These consolidated financial statements were prepared in ac-
cordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”) as adopted by the EU. In the financial statements the 
figures are presented in million euros subject to rounding, which 
may cause some rounding inaccuracies in column and total sums.

Accounting principles

Consolidation

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities over which Valmet Group has control. 
Control over an entity exists when the Group is exposed, or has 
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and 
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the 
entity. When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or 
similar rights of an entity, the Group considers all relevant facts and 
circumstances in assessing whether it has control over an entity, 
including the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders 
of the entity, rights arising from other contractual arrangements and 

the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights. The Group 
reassesses whether or not it controls an entity if facts and circum-
stances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three 
elements of control. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the 
date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are decon-
solidated from the date that control ceases.

Valmet applies the acquisition method of accounting to account 
for business combinations. The total consideration transferred for 
the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair value of the assets trans-
ferred, the liabilities assumed and the equity interests issued by 
Valmet Group. The total consideration includes the fair value of 
any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration 
arrangement. Acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred. 
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities 
assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their 
fair value at the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisi-
tion basis, the Group recognizes any non-controlling interest in 
the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s 
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealized gains and 
losses on transactions between Group companies are eliminated.

Associated companies
The consolidated financial statements include associated companies 
in which Valmet either holds between 20% to 50% of the voting 
rights or in which Valmet otherwise has significant influence but 
not control. Investments in associated companies are accounted for 
using the equity method of accounting. Investments in associates 
are initially recorded at cost, and the carrying amount is increased 
or decreased to recognize Valmet’s share of changes in net assets 
of the associates after the date of the acquisition. The Group’s in-
vestment in associates includes goodwill identified on acquisition. 
The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any 
objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired.

Valmet’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss is recognized in 
the statement of income, and its share of post-acquisition move-
ments in other comprehensive income is recognized in other com-
prehensive income with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying 
amount of the investment. The share of results of associated com-
panies is presented in the statement of income either included in 
operating profit or adjacent to financial income and expenses below 
operating profit depending on the nature of the investment. When 
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the Group’s share of losses in an associate exceeds its interest in the 
associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does 
not recognize further losses, unless it has incurred legal or construc-
tive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate. Un-
realized gains on transactions between the Group and its associates 
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in each associate.

Joint ventures
Joint ventures are companies in which Valmet exercises joint con-
trol with other parties. The Group’s investments in joint ventures 
are accounted for using the equity method. Investments in joint 
ventures are initially recognized at cost and adjusted thereafter to 
recognize Valmet’s share of post-acquisition changes in net assets. 
The Group’s share of joint ventures’ post-acquisition profits or losses 
is recognized in the statement of income, and its share of post-ac-
quisition movements in other comprehensive income is recognized 
in other comprehensive income with a corresponding adjustment 
to the carrying amount of the investment. Unrealized gains on 
transactions between the Group and joint ventures are eliminated 
to the extent of the Group’s interest in the joint ventures.

Transactions with non-controlling interests
Valmet accounts transactions with non-controlling interests that do 
not result in loss of control as equity transactions. The difference 
between the fair value of any consideration paid and the relevant 
share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is 
recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling 
interests are also recorded in equity. If interest in a Group company 
is reduced but control is retained, only a proportionate share of the 
amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income is 
recorded against the non-controlling interest.

Disposal of subsidiaries
When Valmet ceases to have control, any remaining interest in the 
entity is re-measured to its fair value at the date when control is lost, 
with the change in the carrying amount recognized through profit 
and loss. In addition, any amounts previously recognized in other 
comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for 
as if realized and thus they are recognized in the income statement. 

Foreign currency translation
Items included in the consolidated financial statements of each of 
Valmet entities are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates (the functional 
currency). These consolidated financial statements are presented in 
euros, which is the Group’s presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional 
currency using the exchange rates prevailing on the date of trans-

action. Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value are 
translated into functional currency using the exchange rate of the 
valuation date. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the 
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end 
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are recognized in the income statement. For-
eign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash 
and cash equivalents are presented in the income statement within 
‘Financial income and expenses’. All other foreign exchange gains 
and losses are presented in ‘Other operating income and expenses’. 

Translation of the financial statements of foreign Group 
companies
The statements of income of foreign Group companies are trans-
lated into euros using the average exchange rate for the reporting 
period. The statements of financial position are translated at the 
closing rate of the reporting date. Translating the net income for the 
period using different exchange rates in the statements of income 
and in the statement of financial position, results in a translation 
difference, which is recognized in Other comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition 
of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign 
entity and translated at the closing rate. Exchange rate differences 
arising are recognized in Other comprehensive income. When a 
foreign subsidiary is disposed of or sold, exchange rate differences 
that were recorded in equity are recognized in the statement of 
income as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Derivative financial instruments
Valmet uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure 
to interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates and commodity 
price risks arising from operational, financing and investment activ-
ities. Derivatives are initially recognized in the balance sheet at fair 
value and subsequently measured at each balance sheet date at their 
fair value. Derivatives are designated at inception either as hedges 
of firm commitments or forecasted sales and purchase transactions 
(cash flow hedge), or as derivatives at fair value through profit and 
loss that do not meet the hedge accounting criteria. 

For hedge accounting purposes, the relationship between the 
hedging instruments and hedged items is documented in accor-
dance with the risk management strategy and objectives. In addi-
tion, Valmet tests the effectiveness of the hedge relationships at the 
inception of the hedge and on a quarterly basis both prospectively 
and retrospectively.

Derivative assets and liabilities are classified as non-current as-
sets or liabilities when the remaining maturities exceed 12 months 
and as current assets or liabilities when the remaining maturities 
are less than 12 months.
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Cash flow hedge
Valmet applies cash flow hedge accounting to certain interest rate 
swaps, foreign currency forward contracts and to electricity for-
wards.

The realized gain or loss relating to the effective portion of in-
terest rate swaps hedging variable rate borrowings is recognized in 
the statement of income within financial items concurrently with 
the recognition of the underlying interest expense. The gain or loss 
relating to the ineffective portion of interest rate swaps is report-
ed under financial items. The fair value of the interest rate swaps 
contract is calculated as the present value of the estimated future 
cash flows arising from the contract.

Valmet has designated only the currency component of the 
foreign currency forward contracts as the hedging instrument to 
hedge foreign currency denominated firm commitments. The in-
terest component is recognized under ‘Other operating income and 
expenses’. The realized gain or loss relating to the effective portion 
of the currency forward contracts is recognized in the ‘Statement 
of income’ in ‘Revenue’ or ‘Cost of sales’, as appropriate, concur-
rently with the underlying hedge item. Both at hedge inception and 
at each balance sheet date an assessment is performed to ensure 
the continued effectiveness of the designated component of the 
derivatives in offsetting changes in the fair values of the cash flows 
of hedged items.

Valmet regularly assesses the effectiveness of the fair value 
changes of the electricity forwards in offsetting the changes in the 
price of the underlying forecasted electricity purchases in different 
countries. The realized gain or loss relating to the effective portion 
of the electricity forward contracts are recognized in ‘Cost of goods 
sold’, whereas the ineffective portion of both realized and unreal-
ized electricity forward contracts is recognized in ‘Other operating 
income and expenses’.

When applying hedge accounting, the effective portion of the 
derivatives is recognized through Other Comprehensive Income 
(OCI) in the hedge reserve under equity and reversed through 
OCI to be recorded through profit and loss concurrently with the 
underlying transaction being hedged.

The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion of the deriv-
atives is reported under Other operating income and expenses in 
the statement of income. Should a hedged transaction no longer 
be expected to occur, any cumulative gain or loss previously rec-
ognized under equity is reclassified from OCI to profit and loss.

Derivatives at fair value through profit and loss
Certain foreign exchange forward and electricity forward contracts 
do not qualify for hedge accounting. Changes in the fair value of 
foreign exchange forward contracts are mainly recognized in other 
operating income and expenses. However, when the foreign ex-

change forwards have been contracted to mitigate the exchange rate 
risks arising from foreign currency denominated financial items 
such as loans, receivables and cash, the changes in fair value of 
the derivatives are recognized in ‘Financial income and expenses’. 

Employee benefits

Pensions and coverage of pension liabilities
Valmet has various pension schemes in place in its entities in accor-
dance with local regulations and practices in countries in which they 
operate. In certain countries, the pension schemes are defined bene-
fit plans with retirement, disability, death, and other post- retirement 
benefits, such as health services, and termination income benefits. 
Defined benefit plans are post-employment benefit plans other than 
defined contribution plans. In defined benefit plans the benefits are 
usually based on the number of service years and the salary levels 
of the final service year. The schemes are generally funded through 
payments to insurance companies or to trustee- administered funds 
as determined by periodic actuarial calculations.

In addition, certain entities within Valmet Group have multi- 
employer pension arrangements classified as defined contribution 
plans. The contributions to defined contribution plans and to 
multi-employer and insured plans are charged to profit and loss 
concurrently with the payment obligations. In defined contribution 
plans, the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity 
and the Group will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay 
further contributions.

In the case of defined benefit plans, the net defined benefit lia-
bility recognized from the plan is the present value of the defined 
benefit obligation as of the balance sheet date, adjusted by the fair 
value of the plan assets. Independent actuaries calculate the defined 
benefit obligation by applying the projected unit credit method 
under which the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 
present value using the discount rate approximating the duration 
of the pension obligation. The cost of providing retirement and 
other post-retirement benefits to the personnel is charged to profit 
and loss concurrently with the service rendered by the personnel. 
The service cost is recorded under personnel expenses and the net 
interest is recorded under financial income and expenses. Actuarial 
gains and losses arising from experience adjustments, changes in 
actuarial assumptions and return on plan assets excluding interest 
income are recognized through OCI into shareholders’ equity. 

Share-based payments
Certain Valmet key personnel participate in share-based incentive 
plans. Equity-settled share based awards are valued based on the 
market price of the Valmet share as of the grant date, and recog nized 
as an employee benefit expense over the vesting period with an cor-
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responding entry in equity. The liability resulting from cash-settled 
transactions is measured based on the market price of the Valmet 
share as of the balance sheet date and accrued as an employee 
benefit expense with a corresponding entry in the current liabilities 
until the settlement date.

Market conditions, such as the total shareholder return upon 
which vesting is conditioned, is taken into account when estimating 
the fair value of the equity instruments granted. The expense relat-
ing to the market condition is recognized irrespective of whether 
that market condition is satisfied.

Non-market vesting conditions, such as operating profit, ser-
vices business growth, return on capital employed and earnings 
per share targets, are included in assumptions about the amount 
of share-based payments that are expected to vest. At each balance 
sheet date, Valmet revises its estimates on the amount of share-
based payments that are expected to vest. The impact of the re-
vision to previous estimate is recognized through profit and loss 
with corresponding adjustment to equity and current liabilities, 
as appropriate.

Revenue recognition
Valmet supplies process automation, machinery, equipment and 
services for the pulp, paper and energy industries.

Revenues from goods and services sold are recognized, net of 
sales taxes and discounts, when substantially all the risks and re-
wards of ownership are transferred to the buyer. The transfer of risk 
typically takes place either when the goods are shipped or made 
available to the buyer for shipment depending on the terms of the 
contract. The credit worthiness of the buyer is verified before engag-
ing in a sale. However, if a risk of non-payment arises after revenue 
recognition, an allowance for non-collectability is established.

Percentage-of-completion method
Sales and anticipated profits under engineering and construction 
contracts are recorded on a percentage-of-completion basis. The 
stage of completion is determined either by units of delivery, which 
are based on predetermined milestones and on the realized value 
added (contract value of the work performed to date) or through 
the cost-to-cost method of accounting. Estimated contract profits 
are recorded in earnings in proportion to recorded sales. In the 
cost-to-cost method, sales and profits are recorded after considering 
the ratio of accumulated costs to estimated total costs to complete 
each contract. Subcontractor materials, labor and equipment, are 
included in sales and costs of goods sold when management believes 
that Valmet is responsible for the ultimate acceptability of the proj-
ect. Changes to total estimated contract profits (revenue and costs), 
if any, are recognized in the period in which they are determined.

Service revenue
Service revenue comprises short-term and long-term maintenance 
contracts and rebuilding and modification contracts. Revenues 
from short-term service contracts are recognized once the service 
has been rendered. Revenues from long-term service contracts are 
recognized using the cost-to-cost method.

Government grants
Government grants relating to acquisition of property, plant and 
equipment are deducted from the acquisition cost of the asset and 
they reduce the depreciation charge of the related asset. Other 
government grants are deferred and recognized in profit and loss 
concurrently with the costs they compensate.

Other operating income and expenses
Other operating income and expenses comprise income and ex-
penses, which do not directly relate to the operating activity of busi-
nesses within Valmet. Such items include costs related to significant 
restructuring programs, impairment charges, and gains and losses 
on disposal of fixed assets. Additionally, the interest component of 
the fair value of derivative financial instruments and unrealized and 
realized changes in fair value of derivative financial instruments 
associated with the operating activity, excluding those qualifying 
for hedge accounting, are recognized in ‘Other operating income 
and expenses’.

Income taxes
Tax expenses in the statement of income comprise current and 
deferred taxes. Taxes are recognized in the statement of income 
except when they are associated with items recognized in other 
comprehensive income or directly in shareholders’ equity. Current 
taxes are calculated on the taxable income on the basis of the tax rate 
stipulated for each country by the balance sheet date. Additionally, 
non-recoverable foreign taxes, which are not based on taxable prof-
its, are reported in current taxes. These include for example foreign 
taxes and/or equivalent payments not based on Double Tax Treaties 
in force. Taxes are adjusted for the taxes of previous financial peri-
ods, if applicable. The management evaluates positions taken in tax 
returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation 
is subject to interpretation. The tax provisions recognized in such 
situations are based on evaluations by the management.

Deferred taxes are calculated on all temporary differences 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts in the financial statements. No deferred taxes are calculat-
ed on goodwill impairment that is not deductible in taxation and no 
deferred taxes are recognized on the undistributed profits of subsid-
iaries to the extent that the difference is unlikely to be reversed in 
the foreseeable future. Deferred taxes have been calculated using the 
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statutory tax rates or the tax rates enacted or substantively enacted 
by the balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets are only recognized 
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be 
available against which the temporary difference can be utilized. 
The most significant temporary differences arise from differenc-
es between the revenue recognized from construction contracts 
using the percentage of completion method and taxable income, 
depreciation differences relating to property, plant and equipment, 
defined benefit pension plans, provisions deductible at a later date, 
measurement at fair value in connection with business combina-
tions and unused tax losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally 
enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax lia-
bilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate 
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the 
same taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an 
intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

Fixed assets
Fixed assets comprise intangible assets and property, plant and 
equipment.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets, which comprise mainly goodwill, trademarks, 
patents and licenses, are stated at historical cost less accumulated 
amortization and impairment loss, if any. Goodwill is not amor-
tized, but tested annually for impairment.

Amortization of intangible assets
Amortization of intangible assets with a definite useful life is cal-
culated on a straight-line basis over the expected economic lives 
of the assets, being the following:

Patents and licenses 5–10 years
Computer software 3–5 years
Technology 3–15 years
Customer relationships 3–15 years
Other intangibles (incl. order backlog) < 1–15 years

Expected useful lives are reviewed at each balance sheet date and 
if they differ significantly from previous estimates, the remaining 
amortization periods are adjusted accordingly.

The carrying value of intangible assets subject to amortization 
is reviewed for impairment whenever events and changes in cir-
cumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not 
be recoverable. A previously recognized impairment loss may be 
reversed if there is significant improvement in the circumstances 
having initially caused the impairment, however not to a higher 
value than the carrying amount, which would have been recorded 
had there been no impairment in prior years.

Impairment of intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
The carrying value of goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually 
or more frequently, if the facts and circumstances, such as decline 
in sales, operating profit or cash flows or material adverse changes 
in the business environment, suggest that carrying value may not be 
recoverable. Valmet has three cash generating units. The testing of 
goodwill is performed at the cash generating unit level as goodwill 
does not generate independent cash flows from the cash generating 
unit. The annual testing may be performed using the previous year’s 
recoverable amounts of the cash generating unit, if there has not 
been any significant changes to the assets and liabilities of the cash 
generating unit, if in the previous testing the recoverable value 
clearly exceeded the carrying values tested, and if the likelihood 
that the current recoverable value would be less than the current 
carrying value of the cash generating unit is remote. Valmet uses 
a discounted cash flow analysis to assess the fair value of goodwill 
subject to testing. A previously recognized impairment loss on 
goodwill is not reversed even if there is significant improvement 
in circumstances having initially caused the impairment.

Research and development costs
Research and development costs are mainly expensed as incurred. 
Research and development costs comprise salaries, services from 
external suppliers, administration costs, depreciation and amorti-
zation of tangible and intangible fixed assets. Development costs 
meeting certain capitalization criteria under IAS 38 are capitalized 
and amortized during the expected economic life of the underlying 
asset.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost, less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment loss, if any. Land and 
water areas are not depreciated.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the ex-
pected useful lives of the assets, being the following:

Buildings and structures 15–40 years
Machinery and equipment 3–20 years

Expected useful lives are reviewed at each balance sheet date and 
if they differ significantly from previous estimates the remaining 
depreciation periods are adjusted accordingly.

Subsequent improvement costs related to an asset are included in 
the carrying value of such an asset or recognized as a separate asset, 
as appropriate, only when the future economic benefits associated 
with the costs are probable and the related costs can be separated 
from normal maintenance costs.

Valmet reviews property, plant and equipment to be held and 
used by the entities for impairment whenever events and changes 
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may 
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not be recoverable. Impairment of property, plant and equipment 
and capital gains and losses on their disposal are included in ‘Other 
operating income and expenses’. Previously recognized impairment 
on property, plant and equipment is reversed only if there has been 
a significant change in the estimates used to determine the recov-
erable amount, however not to exceed the carrying value, which 
would have been recorded had there been no impairment in prior 
years.

Leases
Leases for property, plant and equipment, where Valmet has sub-
stantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, are classified as 
finance leases. Finance leases are capitalized at the inception of 
the lease at the lower of the fair value of the leased property or the 
present value of the minimum lease payments. Each lease payment 
is allocated between the liability and finance charges. The corre-
sponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included 
in long-term and short-term debt, respectively, and the interest 
element is charged to profit and loss over the lease period. Property, 
plant and equipment classified as finance leases are depreciated 
over the useful life of the asset or over the lease period, if shorter.

Leases of property, plant and equipment, where the lessor re-
tains a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership, 
are classified as operating leases. Payments under operating leases 
are expensed as incurred.

Financial assets and liabilities
Valmet classifies its financial investments into the following cat-
egories: assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and loss, 
loans and receivables, and available-for-sale financial assets. The 
classification is determined at the time of the initial recognition 
depending on the intended purpose.

Derivative financial assets and liabilities are initially recognized 
as at the trade date while for other financial assets and liabilities 
settlement date accounting is applied. Financial assets are derecog-
nized when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments 
have expired or have been transferred and Valmet has transferred 
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

 Financial assets are presented as non-current when their ma-
turity exceeds one year.

Assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and loss 
Derivative financial instruments to which hedge accounting is not 
applied are fair valued quarterly through profit and loss. Unrealized 
and realized gains and losses on derivatives are recorded in ‘Other 
operating income and expenses’ in the Statement of income.

Available-for-sale equity and debt investments
Available-for-sale financial assets comprise available-for-sale eq-
uity and debt investments. Available-for-sale equity and debt in-

vestments are carried at fair value and unrealized gains and losses 
arising from changes in fair value are recognized through OCI 
in the fair value reserve of equity. Gains and losses on disposal 
and impairment, if any, are recorded in the profit and loss and the 
accumulated change in fair value previously recorded in the fair 
value reserve of equity is reversed through OCI.

On each balance sheet date, Valmet assesses whether there is 
objective evidence on an available-for-sale financial asset being 
impaired. In case of a significant or prolonged decline in the fair 
value of such an asset compared to its acquisition value, the ac-
cumulated net loss is reversed from equity and recognized in the 
income statement. If the amount of the impairment loss decreases 
in subsequent periods for debt instruments and the decrease can 
be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment 
was recognized (such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rat-
ing), the reversal of the previously recognized impairment loss is 
recognized in the Consolidated statement of income. 

Loans and receivables
Loans and other interest bearing receivables comprise interest bear-
ing trade and loan receivables.

Loans and loan receivables are initially recognized at fair value 
including transaction costs. Subsequently they are recognized at 
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. They are 
subject to regular and systematic review as to collectability. If a 
loan receivable is estimated to be partly or totally unrecoverable, an 
impairment loss is recognized for the shortfall between the carrying 
value and the present value of the expected cash flows. Interest 
income on loan and other interest bearing receivables is included 
under ‘Financial income and expenses’. 

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. 
Net realizable value is the estimated amount that can be realized 
from the sale of the asset in the normal course of business after 
allowing for the costs of realization. For materials and supplies 
and finished products, cost is determined on a first in first out 
(FIFO) basis.

The work in progress balance includes specific costs identified 
for larger projects ongoing as of the balance sheet date. These costs 
usually include direct inventory costs and costs for absorption of 
engineering, supplies, manufacturing and project management 
costs.

Trade receivables
Trade receivables are recognized at the original amount invoiced to 
customers and reported on the statement of financial position, net 
of impairment. The impairment, which is expensed under ‘Other 
operating income and expenses’, is recorded on the basis of period-
ic reviews of potential non-recovery of receivables by taking into 
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consideration individual customer credit risk, economic trends in 
customer industries and changes in payment terms. Bad debts are 
written off when official announcement of receivership, liquidation 
or bankruptcy is received confirming that the receivable will not 
be honored.

If extended payment terms, exceeding one year, are offered to 
customers, the invoiced amount is discounted to its present value 
and interest income is recognized over the credit term.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held 
at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid 
investment with maturities of three months or less that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value. 

Borrowings
Non-current debt is initially recognized at fair value as at the settle-
ment date, net of transaction costs incurred. Subsequently borrow-
ings are measured at amortized cost by using the effective interest 
rate method. Debt is classified as a current liability unless Valmet 
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at 
least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

Provisions
Provisions, for which settlement is expected to occur more than 
one year after the initial recognition, are discounted to their present 
value and adjusted on subsequent reporting dates for the time effect.

Restructuring and capacity adjustment costs
A provision for restructuring and capacity adjustment costs is 
recognized only after management has developed and approved 
a formal plan to which it is committed and it has raised a valid 
expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring 
by starting to implement that plan or announcing its main features 
to those affected by it.

The costs included in a provision for capacity adjustment are 
those costs that are either incremental or incurred as a direct result 
of the plan or are the result of a continuing contractual obliga-
tion with no continuing economic benefit to Valmet or a penalty 
incurred to cancel the contractual obligation. Restructuring and 
capacity adjustment expenses are recognized in either cost of goods 
sold or selling, general and administrative expenses depending on 
the nature of the restructuring expenses. Restructuring costs can 
also include other costs incurred as a result of the plan, which are 
recorded under ‘Other operating income and expenses’, such as 
asset write-downs.

Environmental remediation costs
Valmet accrues for costs associated with environmental remedia-
tion obligations when such obligations and related cash outflows 
to settle the obligation are probable and they can be estimated 
reliably. Provisions for estimated costs from environmental reme-
diation obligations are generally recognized no later than upon the 
completion of the remedial feasibility study. Such provisions are 
adjusted as further information impacting the amount of estimated 
costs or other circumstances change. Recoveries of environmental 
remediation costs from other parties are recorded as assets when 
their receipt is deemed virtually certain.

Warranty costs
A warranty accrual is recognized for the estimated warranty costs 
for each project. The main principle in measuring the warranty cost 
accrual is to book a certain percentage, based on past experience, 
of a project’s total costs as an accrual. The actual warranty costs of 
each project are booked against the warranty provision and thus 
the remaining warranty provision of each project can be followed. 
Actual warranty costs for projects are followed regularly in order 
to assess the feasible amount of the warranty accrual.

Segment reporting
Valmet supplies process automation, machinery, services, clothing 
and filter fabrics for the pulp, paper and energy industries. Valmet’s 
operations and profitability is reported as a single reportable seg-
ment and operative decisions have been made by Valmet’s CEO as 
Valmet’s Chief Operating Decision Maker at Valmet Group level. 
Valmet has not aggregated operating segments and thus Valmet 
Group is the reportable operating segment.

The performance of the Group is reviewed by the CODM. One 
key indicator of performance is EBITA (Earnings Before Interest, 
Taxes and Amortization). The performance is also analyzed by ex-
cluding from EBITA items qualifying as non-recurring, such as 
capacity adjustment costs, impairments, gains and losses on busi-
ness disposals, and other infrequent events, as these items reduce 
the comparability of the Group’s performance from one period to 
another.

Critical accounting estimates and judgments 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS 
requires management to make estimates and exercise judgement 
in the application of the accounting policies. Estimates and judge-
ments are continually evaluated and are based on historical expe-
rience and other factors, including expectations of future events 
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The 
resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal 
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have 
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a significant risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 
addressed below.

Trade receivables
Valmet’s policy is to calculate an impairment loss based on the 
best estimate of the amounts that are potentially uncollectable at 
the balance sheet date. The estimates are based on a systematic 
ongoing review and evaluation performed as part of the credit risk 
evaluation process. As part of this evaluation, Valmet takes into 
account the history of collections, the size and compositions of 
the receivable balances, current economic events and conditions.

Inventory
Valmet’s policy is to maintain a provision for slow-moving and 
obsolete inventory based on the best estimate of such amounts 
at the balance sheet date. The estimates are based on a systematic 
ongoing review and evaluation of inventory balances. As part of 
this evaluation, Valmet also considers the composition and age of 
the inventory compared to anticipated future needs.

Revenue recognition
Valmet delivers turnkey projects to its customers, where the signing 
of a sales contract (firm commitment) and the final acceptance of 
a delivery by the customer may take place in different financial 
periods. In accordance with its accounting principles, Valmet ap-
plies the percentage of completion method (‘POC method’) for 
recognizing such long-term delivery contracts. Recognition of 
revenue under the POC method is based either on predetermined 
milestones or cost-to-cost input method. A projected loss on a firm 
commitment is recognized through profit and loss, when it becomes 
known. The estimated revenue, the costs and profit, together with 
the planned delivery schedule of the projects are subject to regular 
revisions as the contract progresses to completion. Revisions in 
profit estimates are charged through profit and loss in the period 
in which the facts that give rise to the revision become known. 
Although Valmet has significant experience using the POC method, 
the total costs estimated to be incurred on projects may change over 
time due to changes in the underlying project cost structures, which 
may ultimately affect the revenue recognized. Therefore, the POC 
method is not applied for recognizing sales commitments where 
the final outcome of the project and related cost structure cannot 
be pre-established reliably.

Hedging of foreign currency denominated firm 
 commitments
Under Valmet hedging policy, all Valmet entities have to hedge their 
foreign currency risk when they have become engaged in a firm 

commitment denominated in a currency different of their function-
al currency. The commitment can be between Valmet Corporation 
and Valmet entities or external to Valmet Group. When a firm 
commitment qualifies for recognition under the POC method, the 
entity applies cash flow hedge accounting and recognizes the effect 
from the hedging instruments in the OCI until the commitment is 
recognized. Although the characteristics triggering a firm commit-
ment have been defined, the final realization of the unrecognized 
commitment depends also on factors beyond management control, 
which cannot be foreseen when initiating the hedge relationship. 
Such a factor can be a change in the market environment causing 
the other party to postpone or cancel the commitment. Manage-
ment tries to the extent possible to include in the contracts clauses 
reducing the impact of such adverse events to the result.

Allocation of purchase price to acquired assets
In business combinations, the purchase consideration is allocated 
to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed with the excess being 
recognized as goodwill in the balance sheet. Whenever feasible, 
Valmet has used as a basis for such allocations readily available 
market values to determine the fair value to be recognized. How-
ever, when this has not been possible, as often is the case with in-
tangible assets and certain assets with no active markets or available 
price quotations, the valuation has been based on past performance 
of such asset and expected future cash generating capacity. The 
appraisals, which have been based on current replacement costs, 
discounted cash flows and estimated selling prices depending on 
the underlying asset, require management to make estimates and 
assumptions of the future performance and use of these assets and 
their impact on the financial position. Any change in Valmet’s future 
business priorities and orientations may affect the planned outcome 
of initial appraisals.

Impairment testing
The carrying value of identifiable intangible assets with indefinite 
economic life such as goodwill is tested annually or more frequently 
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that such carrying 
value may not be recoverable. The carrying values of property, plant 
and equipment and intangible assets, subject to depreciation and 
amortization are reviewed for impairment whenever there are in-
dications that their carrying values could exceed their value in use 
or disposal value if disposal is considered as a possible option. In 
2015 Valmet recognized an impairment of EUR 6 million on fixed 
assets, the corresponding amount for 2014 being EUR 3 million. 
The annual impairment tests performed in 2015 and 2014 did not 
result in goodwill impairments.
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Triggering events for impairment reviews include the following:

• Material permanent deterioration in the economic or political 
environment of the customers’ or of own activity

• Business’s or asset’s significant under-performance relative to 
historical or projected future performance

• Significant changes in Valmet’s strategic orientations affecting 
the business plans and previous investment policies

Preparation of impairment analysis requires use of numer-
ous estimates. The valuation is inherently judgmental and highly 
susceptible to change from period to period, because it requires 
management to make assumptions about future supply and de-
mand related to its individual business units, future sales prices 
and achievable cost savings. The value of the benefits and savings 
expected from the efficiency improvement programs are inherently 
subjective. The fair value of the cash generating unit is determined 
using a weighted average cost of capital as the rate to discount es-
timated future cash flows. This rate may not be indicative of actual 
rates obtained in the market.

Reserves for restructuring costs
Reserves for capacity adjustments and restructuring costs are rec-
ognized when the requirements for recognition are satisfied. For 
reasons beyond the control of management the final costs may differ 
from the initial amount for which provision has been established.

Reserves for warranty and guarantee costs
The warranty and guarantee reserve is based on the history of past 
warranty costs and claims on machines and equipment under war-
ranty. The typical warranty period is 12 months from the date of cus-
tomer acceptance of the delivered equipment. For larger projects, 
the average warranty period is two years. For sales involving new 
technology and long-term delivery contracts, additional warranty 
reserves may be established on a case by case basis to take into 
account the potentially increased risk.

Pensions
In accordance with IAS 19, the benefit expense for defined benefit 
arrangements is based on assumptions that include the following:

• The rate used to discount post-employment benefit obligations 
(both funded and unfunded) has been determined by reference to 
market yields at the end of the reporting period on high quality 
corporate bonds. In countries where there is no deep market in 
such bonds, the market yields (at the end of the reporting pe-
riod) on government bonds have been used. The currency and 
term of the corporate bonds or government bonds are consistent 
with the currency and estimated term of the post-employment 
benefit obligations.

• Estimated rates of future pay increases. Actual increases may not 
reflect estimated future increases. Due to the significant uncertain-
ty of the global economy, these estimates are difficult to project.

The actuarial experience that differs from the assumptions and 
changes in the assumptions results in actuarial gains and losses, 
which are recognized in OCI.

Financial instruments
In accordance with the disclosure requirements on financial instru-
ments, the management is obliged to make certain assumptions 
of the future cash in and outflows arising from such instruments. 
The management has also had to assume that the fair values of 
derivatives, especially foreign currency denominated derivatives 
at balance sheet date materially reflect the future realized cash in 
or outflow of such instruments.

New and amended standards adopted by the Group
In the current year, the Group has adopted number of amendments 
to existing standards forming part of IASB’s annual improvement 
project. The adoption of these amendments did not a have material 
impact on the Group’s financial position. 

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
The following new standards issued by IASB are expected to be 
relevant to the Group’s operations and financial position:

• IFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers, issued in May 
2014, is a converged standard on revenue recognition. It replac-
es IAS 11, Construction contracts, IAS 18, Revenue, and related 
interpretations.

The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity recognizes reve-
nue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to cus-
tomers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which 
the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or 
services. An entity recognizes revenue in accordance with that 
core principle by applying the following steps:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer
Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract 
Step 3: Determine the transaction price
Step 4:  Allocate the transaction price to the performance ob-

ligations in the contract
Step 5:  Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a 

performance obligation

Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognized when a customer obtains 
control of a good or service. A customer obtains control when it 
has the ability to direct the use of and obtain the benefits from 
the good or service.
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IFRS 15 also includes a cohesive set of disclosure requirements 
that will result in an entity providing users of financial statements 
with comprehensive information about the nature, amount, tim-
ing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from the 
entity’s contracts with customers. The standard is effective for an-
nual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The standard 
has not yet been endorsed by the EU. Management is currently 
in process of assessing the impact of IFRS 15 on its consolidated 
financial statements.

• The complete version of IFRS 9, issued in July 2014, replaces 
most of the guidance in IAS 39. IFRS 9 retains but simplifies 
the mixed measurement model and establishes three primary 
measurement categories for financial assets: amortised cost, fair 
value through OCI and fair value through profit and loss. The 
basis of classification depends on the entity’s business model and 
the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. 
Investments in equity instruments are required to be measured 
at fair value through profit or loss with the irrevocable option at 
inception to present changes in fair value in OCI. There is also a 
new expected credit losses model that replaces the incurred loss 
impairment model used in IAS 39. 

For financial liabilities there are no changes to classification 
and measurement except for the recognition of changes in own 
credit risk in other comprehensive income, for liabilities desig-
nated at fair value, through profit or loss.

IFRS 9 relaxes the requirements for hedge effectiveness by 
replacing the bright line hedge effectiveness tests. It requires an 
economic relationship between the hedged item and hedging 
instrument and for the hedged ratio to be the same as the one 
management actually use for risk management purposes. Con-
temporaneous documentation is still required but is different to 
that currently prepared under IAS 39. The standard is effective 
for accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The 
standard has not yet been endorsed by the EU. Valmet has not 
yet assessed the impact of IFRS 9 on its consolidated financial 
statements.

• IFRS 16, Leases, was issued in January 2016 and it will replace 
the current guidance in IAS 17. The standard introduces a single 
lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to recognise right 
of use assets and liabilities for all leases except for leases with a 
term of less than 12 months and small value assets. The standard 
applies to annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019.  
The standard has not yet been endorsed by the EU. The Group 
has not yet assessed the impact of IFRS 16 on its consolidated 
financial statements.
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2   Reporting segment and geographic 
information 

Valmet’s operations and profitability is reported as a single report-
able segment and operative decisions have been made by Valmet’s 
CEO as Valmet’s Chief Operating Decision Maker at Valmet Group 
level. Following the acquisition of the Automation Business from 
Metso on April 1, 2015, Automation was established as a separate 
business line within Valmet. Valmet has not prior to or after the 
acquisition of Automation aggregated operating segments. Accord-
ingly Valmet Group is the reportable operating segment. 

The performance of the Group is reviewed by the Chief Oper-
ating Decision Maker. One key indicator of performance is EBITA 
(Earnings Before Interest, Taxes and Amortization). The perfor-

EUR million
North  

America
South  

America EMEA China Asia-Pacific Total

2015 615 335 1,304 303 372 2,928

2014 449 325 1,053 268 378 2,473

Net sales to unaffiliated customers by destination:

Non-current assets comprise intangible assets, property, plant and 
equipment and investments in associated companies and joint 
ventures. Non-allocated assets include mainly goodwill and other 

EUR million Finland
North  

America
South  

America

EMEA  
excluding 

Finland China Asia-Pacific Non-allocated Total

2015 204 105 17 81 103 10 735 1,256

2014 193 69 23 70 105 7 456 923

EUR million
North  

America
South  

 America EMEA China Asia-Pacific Total

2015 155 133 469 135 219 1,111

2014 75 111 409 112 221 928

Valmet’s exports, including sales to unaffiliated customers and intra-group sales from Finland, by destination:

Non-current assets by location:

allocated assets arising from business acquisitions that have not 
been pushed down to the subsidiaries’ books.

mance is also analyzed by excluding from EBITA items qualifying as 
non-recurring, such as capacity adjustment costs, gains and losses 
on business disposals, and other infrequent events, as these reduce 
the comparability of the Group’s performance from one period to 
another. 

Entity-wide information
Valmet’s businesses are present in over 30 countries and on all con-
tinents. The main market areas are Europe and North America 
accounting for 64% of net sales in 2015 and 59% in 2014.

Valmet Financial Statements 2015 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

34



3   Financial risk management 

As a global company, Valmet is exposed to a variety of business and 
financial risks. Financial risks are managed centrally by the Cor-
porate Treasury (hereafter the Treasury) under annually reviewed 
written policies approved by Valmet´s Board of Directors. Treasury 
identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close co-operation 
with the subsidiaries. The Treasury functions as a counterparty 
to the subsidiaries, manages centrally external funding and is re-
sponsible for the management of financial assets and appropriate 
hedging measures. The objective of financial risk management is 
to mitigate potential adverse effects of financial risks on Valmet’s 
financial performance.

Sensitivity analysis 
Sensitivity analysis presented in connection with various financial 
risks are based on the risk exposures at the balance sheet date. 
Sensitivities are calculated by assuming a change in one of the risk 
factors of a financial instrument, such as interest rate or currency. 
When calculating the sensitivity, commonly used market conven-
tions have been chosen in assuming a variation of one percentage 
point (100 basis points) in interest rates, a ten percent change in 
foreign exchange rates and in commodity prices.

Liquidity and refinancing risk management
Liquidity or refinancing risk arises when a company is not able 
to arrange funding at terms and conditions corresponding to its 
creditworthiness. Cautious maturity distribution of debt portfolio 
and sufficient cash, short-term investments and committed and 
uncommitted credit facilities are maintained to protect short-term 
liquidity and to manage refinancing risk. Diversification of fund-

ing among different markets and an adequate number of financial 
institutions are used to safeguard the availability of liquidity at all 
times. The Treasury monitors bank account structures, cash bal-
ances and forecasts of the subsidiaries and manages the utilization 
of the consolidated cash resources.

At the end of 2015 cash and cash equivalents amounted to EUR 
165 million (EUR 192 million) and available-for-sale interest bearing 
financial assets to EUR 7 million (EUR 34 million). In addition 
Valmet had a committed revolving credit facility of EUR 200 mil-
lion which matures in 2018, committed overdraft limits of EUR 14 
million and uncommitted domestic commercial paper program of 
EUR 200 million which were all unused at the end of the reporting 
period.

Net working capital management is an integral part of the li-
quidity risk management. The Treasury monitors and forecasts net 
working capital fluctuations in close co-operation with the subsid-
iaries. Net working capital increased to EUR -238 million (EUR -353 
million) due to the significant impact of the large capital projects’ 
milestone payment schedules on net working capital.

Valmet’s refinancing risk is managed by balancing the pro-
portion of current and non-current debt and average maturity of 
non-current debt including committed undrawn credit facility. 
The average maturity for non-current debt including committed 
undrawn credit facility was 3.4 years (3.2 years) and current debt 
including current portion of non-current debt was 17% (76%) of to-
tal debt portfolio. The tables below present undiscounted cash flows 
on the repayments and interests on Valmet’s debt by the remaining 
maturities from the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity 
date. The maturities of the derivatives are presented in Note 27.

Major customers
Valmet delivers large long-term construction contracts, which how-
ever rarely exceed 10 percent of its net revenue. In 2015 and 2014 

EUR million
North  

America
South  

America EMEA China Asia-Pacific Total

2015 4 2 28 6 5 44

2014 4 2 31 8 1 46

Gross capital expenditure (excluding business combinations) by location:

there were no single customer with revenue exceeding 10 percent 
of net sales.
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Capital structure management
The capital structure management seeks to safeguard the ongoing 
business operations, to ensure flexible access to capital markets and 
to secure adequate funding at a competitive rate. Capital structure 
management in Valmet comprises both equity and total debt. As 
of December 31, 2015 the total equity was EUR 860 million (EUR 
809 million) and the amount of total debt was EUR 371 million 
(EUR 68 million).

Valmet has not disclosed any long-term financial ratio for its 
capital structure. However the objective of Valmet is to maintain 
strong capital structure in order to secure customers, investors, 
creditors and market confidence. The capital structure is assessed 
regularly by the Board of Directors and managed operationally by 
the Treasury. Loan facility agreements include customary covenants 
and Valmet is in clear compliance with the covenants at the balance 
sheet date. Valmet has no credit rating at December 31, 2015.

As at Dec 31,
EUR million 2015 2014 

Total interest bearing liabilities 371 68
Cash and cash equivalents 165 192
Available-for-sale interest bearing  
financial assets 7 34
Other interest bearing receivables 21 8
Interest bearing net debt 178 -166
Total equity 860 809
Gearing ratio 21% -21%

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk arises when changes in market interest rates and 
interest margins influence finance costs, returns on financial in-
vestments and valuation of interest bearing items. The interest rate 
risk is managed and controlled by the Treasury. The interest rate 
risks are managed through balancing the ratio between fixed and 
floating interest rates and duration of debt and investment portfo-

lios. Additionally, Valmet may use derivative instruments such as 
forward rate agreements, swaps, options and futures contracts to 
mitigate the risks arising from interest bearing assets and liabili-
ties. The ratio of fixed rate debt of the total debt is accepted to stay 
within the 10-60% range including interest rate derivatives. The 
duration of the non-current debt including the current portion of 
non-current debt and interest rate derivatives is accepted to deviate 
between 6–42 months.

The fixed rate interest proportion of total debt portfolio was 
27 % (52%), the duration was 1.5 years (0.5 years) and the EUR 
denominated debt was 100% (95%) of the entire gross debt at the 
end of 2015.

The basis for the interest rate risk sensitivity analysis is an ag-
gregate corporate level interest rate exposure, composed of interest 
bearing assets, interest bearing liabilities and interest rate swaps, 
which are used to hedge the underlying exposures. The sensitivity 
analysis does not include interest rate impact from foreign exchange 
derivatives when an impact of one percentage point change in inter-
est rates is not significant, assuming similar change in all currency 
pairs at the same time. For all interest bearing debt, assets and inter-
est rate derivatives to be fixed during the next 12 months a change of 
one percentage point upwards or downwards in interest rates with 
all other variables held constant would have an effect, net of taxes:

EUR million 2015 2014

Profit/loss -/+ 0.8 +/- 1.2

Equity +/- 2.0 -

Valmet has used interest rate derivatives to hedge interest rate risk 
of debt portfolio. All interest rate swaps have been accounted in 
accordance with the principles of hedge accounting as cash flow 
hedges. The nominal and fair values of the outstanding interest rate 
derivative contracts are presented in Note 27.

EUR million 2016 2017 2018 2019
2020 and 

later

Loans from financial institutions

Repayments 62 47 47 53 162

Interests 4 4 3 2 5

Trade and other payables 767 - - - -

Total 832 51 50 56 167

As at December 31, 2015 there were no material liabilities under 
finance lease obligations and other debt.
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Foreign exchange risk
Valmet operates globally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk in 
several currencies, although the geographical diversity of operations 
decrease the significance of any individual currency. Substantial 
proportion of Valmet’s net sales and costs are generated in euros 
(EUR), US dollars (USD), Swedish crowns (SEK) and Chinese yu-
ans (CNY).

Transaction exposure
Foreign exchange transaction exposure arises when a subsidiary 
has commercial or financial transactions and payments in another 
currency than its own functional currency, and when related cash 
inflow and outflow amounts are not equal or concurrent.

In accordance with the Treasury Policy, subsidiaries are required 
to hedge in full the foreign currency exposures on consolidated 
statement of financial position and other firm commitments. Cash 
flows denominated in a currency other than the functional currency 
of the subsidiary are hedged with internal forward exchange con-
tracts with the Treasury for periods, which do not usually exceed 
two years. Subsidiaries also carry out hedging directly with banks 

in countries, where regulation does not allow corporate internal 
cross-border contracts.

The Treasury monitors the net position of each currency and 
decides to what extent a currency position is to be closed. The 
Treasury is responsible for entering into an external forward trans-
action corresponding to the internal forward whenever a subsidiary 
applies hedge accounting. Valmet’s Treasury Policy defines upper 
limits on the open currency exposures managed by the Treasury; 
limits have been calculated on the basis of their potential profit and 
loss impact. To manage the foreign currency exposure the Treasury 
may use forward exchange contracts and foreign exchange options.

Valmet is exposed to foreign currency risk arising from both on- 
and off-balance sheet items. The foreign currency exposure is com-
posed of all assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
and their counter values in local currencies. Calculation includes 
short- and long-term sales and purchase contracts, projected cash 
flows for unrecognized firm commitments and financial items, net 
of respective hedges. The table below illustrates corporate’s out-
standing foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting period:

As at Dec 31, 2014

EUR million EUR SEK USD CNY Others

Operational items 93 -166 103 -49 19

of which trade and other receivables -10 -55 51 4 9

of which trade and other payables -39 27 1 2 9

Financial items 117 -158 63 -22 -

Hedges -227 322 -157 69 -7

Total exposure -17 -2 8 -2 12

As at Dec 31, 2015

EUR million EUR SEK USD CNY Others

Operational items -78 -134 198 -27 41

of which trade and other receivables -12 -46 40 13 4

of which trade and other payables -10 11 -4 -11 13

Financial items 148 -214 97 -35 3

Hedges -75 341 -287 62 -41

Total exposure -5 -7 8 - 3
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The sensitivity analysis as required by IFRS 7, includes financial 
instruments, such as trade and other receivables, trade and other 
payables, interest bearing liabilities, deposits, cash and cash equiva-
lents and derivative financial instruments. The table below presents 
the effects, net of taxes, of a +/- ten percent change in EUR against 
all other currencies:

EUR million 2015 2014

Profit/loss +/- 0.3 +/- 7.4

Equity +/- 3.8 +/- 3.0

The effect in equity is the fair value change in derivative contracts 
qualifying as cash flow hedges for firm sales and purchase con-
tracts. The effect in profit and loss is the fair value change for all 
other financial instruments exposed to foreign exchange risk. With 
respect to sales and purchase contracts, this includes derivatives, 
which qualify as cash flow hedges, to the extent the underlying 
sales transaction, recognized under the percentage of completion 
method, has been recognized as revenue.

The nominal and fair values of the outstanding foreign exchange 
derivative contracts are presented in Note 27.

Translation or equity exposure
Foreign exchange translation exposure arises when the equity, 
goodwill and fair value step up of a subsidiary is denominated in 
currency other than the functional currency of the parent company. 
The total non-EUR denominated equity, goodwill and fair value 
step up of the corporate’s subsidiaries were EUR 482 million (EUR 
399 million). The major translation exposures were EUR 202 million 

(EUR 172 million) in SEK and EUR 144 million (EUR 138 million) 
in CNY. Valmet is currently not hedging any equity exposure.

Commodity risk
Valmet is exposed to risk in variations of the prices of raw materials 
and of supplies including energy. Subsidiaries have identified their 
commodity price hedging needs and hedges have been executed 
through the Treasury using approved counterparties and instru-
ments. For commodity risks separate overall hedging limits are 
defined and approved. Hedging is done on a rolling basis with a 
declining hedging level over time.

Electricity exposure in the Nordic subsidiaries has been hedged 
with electricity forwards and fixed price physical contracts, which 
are designated as hedges of highly probable future electricity pur-
chases. Hedging is focused on the estimated energy consumption for 
the next two year period with some contracts extended to approxi-
mately five years. The execution of electricity hedging has been out-
sourced to an external broker. As at December 31, 2015 Valmet had 
outstanding electricity forwards amounting to 216 GWh (327 GWh) 
and 153 GWh (18 GWh) under fixed price purchase agreements.

Valmet may reduce its exposure to the surcharge for certain met-
al alloys (Alloy Adjustment Factor) by entering into average-price 
swap agreements for nickel. As at December 31, 2015 Valmet had 
no outstanding average-price swap agreements for nickel.

The following table presenting the sensitivity analysis of the 
commodity prices based on financial instruments comprises the 
net aggregate amount of commodities bought through forward con-
tracts and swaps but excludes the anticipated future consumption 
of electricity.

As at Dec 31, 2015 

EUR million SEK USD CNY Others Total

EUR +/-10% change +/- 0.5 -/+ 0.7 -/+ 0.0 -/+ 0.2 -/+ 0.4

As at Dec 31, 2014 

EUR million SEK USD CNY Others Total

EUR +/-10% change +/- 0.1 -/+ 0.7 +/- 0.1 -/+ 0.9 -/+ 1.3

This corporate level currency exposure is the basis for the sensitivity 
analysis of foreign exchange risk. Assuming euro to appreciate or 

depreciate ten percent against all other currencies, the impact on 
cash flows, net of taxes, would be:
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A ten percent change upwards or downwards in electricity prices 
would have the following effects, net of taxes:

EUR million 2015 2014

Profit/loss +/- 0.1 +/- 0.2

Equity +/- 0.3 +/- 0.6

Cash flow hedge accounting has been applied for electricity forward 
contracts. The effective portion of derivatives is recognized in equity 
and the ineffective portion is recognized through profit and loss.

Credit and counterparty risk
Credit or counterparty risk is defined as the possibility of a custom-
er, subsupplier or a financial counterparty not fulfilling its com-
mitments towards Valmet. Subsidiaries are primarily responsible 
for credit risks pertaining to sales and procurement activities. The 
subsidiaries assess the credit standing of their customers, by taking 
into account their financial position, past experience and other 
relevant factors. Advance payments, letters of credit and third party 
guarantees are actively used to mitigate credit risks. The Treasury 
provides centralized services related to trade, project and customer 
financing and seeks to ensure that the principles of the Treasury 
Policy are adhered to with respect to terms of payment and required 
collateral. Valmet has no significant concentrations of credit risks 
due to the large number and geographic dispersion of companies 
that comprise corporate’s customer base.

The maximum credit risk equals the carrying value of trade 
and other receivables. The credit risk quality is evaluated both on 
the basis of aging of the trade receivables and also on the basis of 
customer specific analysis. The aging structure of trade receivables 
is presented in Note 16.

Counterparty risk arises also from financial transactions agreed 
upon with banks, financial institutions and corporations. The risk 
is managed by careful selection of banks and other counterparties 
and by applying counterparty specific limits and netting agreements 
such as ISDA (Master agreement of International Swaps and De-
rivatives Association). When measuring the financial credit risk 

exposure, all open exposures such as cash on bank accounts, in-
vestments, deposits and other financial transactions, for example 
derivative contracts, are included. The compliance with financial 
counterparty limits are regularly monitored by the management.

Fair value estimation
For those financial assets and liabilities which have been recognized 
at fair value in the statement of financial position, the following 
measurement hierarchy and valuation methods have been applied:

Level 1
Quoted unadjusted prices at the balance sheet date in active mar-
kets. The market prices are readily and regularly available from 
an exchange, dealer, broker, market information service system, 
pricing service or regulatory agency. The quoted market price used 
for financial assets is the current bid price. Level 1 financial instru-
ments include debt and equity investments classified as financial 
instruments available-for-sale.

Level 2
The fair value of financial instruments in Level 2 is determined 
using valuation techniques. These techniques utilize observable 
market data readily and regularly available from an exchange, 
dealer, broker, market information service system, pricing service 
or regulatory agency. Level 2 financial instruments include over- 
the-counter derivatives classified as financial assets/liabilities at fair 
value through profit and loss or qualified for hedge accounting.

Level 3
A financial instrument is categorized into Level 3 if the calculation 
of the fair value cannot be based on observable market data.

The tables below present Valmet’s financial assets and liabili-
ties that are measured at fair value. There have been no transfers 
between fair value levels during 2015. Fair value levels of other 
financial assets and liabilites are shown in Note 17.
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4     Selling, general and administrative expenses

Year ended Dec 31,

EUR million 2015 2014

Marketing and selling expenses -262 -206

Research and development expenses, net -59 -42

Administrative expenses -180 -153

Total -501 -401

Research and development expenses, net consists of following:
Year ended Dec 31,

EUR million 2015 2014

Research and development costs, total -60 -39

Grants received 5 2

Depreciation and amortization -5 -5

Research and development expenses, net -59 -42

As at Dec 31, 2015 

EUR million Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets

Derivatives at fair value through profit and loss - 6 -

Derivatives qualified for hedge accounting - 8 -

Available-for-sale financial assets 8 - 2

Total assets 8 15 2

Liabilities

Derivatives at fair value through profit and loss - 4 -

Derivatives qualified for hedge accounting - 13 -

Total liabilities - 16 -

As at Dec 31, 2014 

EUR million Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets

Derivatives at fair value through profit and loss - 7 -
Derivatives qualified for hedge accounting - 13 -

Available-for-sale financial assets 12 23 2

Total assets 12 43 2

Liabilities

Derivatives at fair value through profit and loss - 7 -

Derivatives qualified for hedge accounting - 26 -

Total liabilities - 33 -

There were no changes in level 3 instruments for the 12 months 
ended December 31, 2015.
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5     Other operating income and expenses

Year ended Dec 31,

EUR million 2015 2014

Gain on sale of fixed assets 2 1

Royalty income 2 -

Rental income 1 1

Foreign exchange gains 1) 17 19

Other income 8 6

Other operating income, total 29 27

Loss on sale of subsidiaries and businesses - -2

Loss on sale of fixed assets - -1

Impairment of fixed assets 2) -6 -2

Foreign exchange losses 1) -22 -12

Other expenses 3) -18 -7

Other operating expenses, total -47 -23

Other operating income and expenses, net -18 4

1)  Includes foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from trade receivables and payables and related derivatives.
2)  EUR 5 million relates to impairment of buildings in 2015.
3)  EUR 5 million and EUR 7 million of the 2015 amount related to transfer tax paid in connection with acquisition  

of the Automation business and allowances for doubtful receivables, respectively.

6     Personnel expenses and the number of personnel

Personnel expenses:
Year ended Dec 31,

EUR million 2015 2014

Salaries and wages -580 -471

Pension costs, defined contribution plans -62 -42

Pension costs, defined benefit plans 1) -8 -6

Other post-employment benefits 1) -4 -4

Share-based payments -4 -2

Other indirect employee costs -90 -84

Total -748 -609

1) For more information, see Note 24.

Number of personnel:

2015 2014

Personnel at end of year 12,306 10,464

Average number of personnel during the year 11,781 10,853
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8     Financial income and expenses

Year ended Dec 31,

EUR million 2015 2014

Dividends received - 1

Interest income on available-for-sale instruments - 1

Interest income on cash and cash equivalents 3 4

Net gain from foreign exchange 2 3

Financial income total 6 9

Interest expenses on financial liabilities at amortized cost -9 -8

Net interest from defined benefit plans -4 -4

Other financial expenses -2 -2

Financial expenses total -16 -15

Financial income and expenses, net -10 -5

Interest expenses on financial liabilities at amortized cost include 
interest expenses on interest-bearing loans, non-current interest 
rate swaps, and forward points on foreign exchange derivatives that 
are used for hedging loans, receivables and bank account balances.

In 2015 other operating income and expenses includes EUR 5 
million net foreign exchange loss (EUR 7 million gains) related 
to operative items and corresponding derivatives. Net foreign ex-
change gains of EUR 2 million (EUR 3 million) are recognized in 
financial income and expenses in 2015.

Depreciation and amortization by function are as follows:
Year ended Dec 31,

EUR million 2015 2014

Cost of goods sold -44 -39

Selling, general and administrative expenses

Marketing and selling -23 -12

Research and development -5 -5

Administrative -19 -16

Total -92 -72

7     Depreciation and amortization

Year ended Dec 31,

EUR million 2015 2014

Intangible assets -37 -22

Buildings and structures -13 -12

Machinery and equipment -42 -39

Total -92 -72
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The differences between income tax expense computed at the Finn-
ish statutory rate (20.0% in 2014 and 2015) and income tax expense 
provided on earnings are as follows:

Year ended Dec 31,

EUR million 2015 2014

Income before taxes 108 67

Taxes calculated according to tax rate in Finland -22 -13

Income tax for prior years 4 -

Effect of different tax rates in foreign subsidiaries -4 -4

Utilization of tax losses carried forward 2 2

Non-recoverable foreign taxes -3 -3

Effect of tax free income and non-deductible expenses -5 -2

Other -2 -2

Income tax expense -30 -21

Effective tax rate, (%) 28.0% 31.3%

Year ended Dec 31,

2015 2014

EUR million Before taxes Tax After taxes Before taxes Tax After taxes

Cash flow hedges -2 - -2 -11 3 -8

Remeasurement of defined benefit plans 8 -1 7 -40 13 -27

Currency translation on subsidiary net investments 10 - 10 7 - 7

Total comprehensive income / expense 16 -1 15 -44 16 -28

Current tax - 1

Deferred tax -1 15

Total -1 16

Tax effects of components in other comprehensive income:

9     Income taxes
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EUR million

Balance at  
beginning of 

year

Charged to  
income  

statement

Charged to  
other compre-

hensive income

Acquired in 
business  

combination
Translation 
differences

Balance at   
end of year

2015

Deferred tax assets

Tax losses carried forward 28 -10 - - -2 17

Fixed assets 21 - - 1 - 21

Inventory 4 1 - - -1 4

Provisions 18 2 - - -1 19

Accruals 11 -1 - - 1 11

Employee benefits 26 -1 -1 - 4 26

Other 2 2 - 3 -1 5

Total deferred tax assets 109 -7 -1 5 - 104

Offset against deferred tax liabilities 1) -24 4 - - - -19

Net deferred tax assets 86 -3 -1 5 -1 85

Deferred tax liabilities

Purchase price allocations 2) 35 -7 - 47 3 78

Fixed assets 1 - - - - 1

Other 10 -1 - - 2 11

Total deferred tax liabilities 46 -8 - 47 5 90

Offset against deferred tax assets 1) -24 4 - - - -19

Net deferred tax liabilities 22 -4 - 47 5 70

2014

Deferred tax assets

Tax losses carried forward 21 6 - - 2 28

Fixed assets 24 -2 - - -1 21

Inventory 4 1 - - -1 4

Provisions 16 2 - - - 18

Accruals 18 -7 - - - 11

Employee benefits 10 2 13 - - 26

Other 3 -3 3 - -1 2

Total deferred tax assets 96 -1 16 - -1 109

Offset against deferred tax liabilities 1) -16 -8 - - - -24

Net deferred tax assets 80 -9 16 - -1 86

Deferred tax liabilities

Purchase price allocations 36 1 - - -2 35

Fixed assets 2 -2 - - - 1

Other 7 1 - - 2 10

Total deferred tax liabilities 45 1 - - - 45

Offset against deferred tax assets 1) -16 -8 - - - -24

Net deferred tax liabilities 29 -7 - - - 22

1)  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is legally enforceable right to offset tax assets against tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the 
same fiscal authority.

2) Changes in deferred tax liabilities relates mainly to Automation acquisition. More information on acquisition on Note 10.

Reconciliation of deferred tax balances:

A deferred tax liability on undistributed profits of Valmet’s legal 
entities located in countries where distribution generates tax conse-
quences is recognized when it is likely that earnings will be distrib-
uted in the near future. For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 
2014, earnings of EUR 79 million and EUR 81 million, respectively, 
would have been subject to recognition of a deferred tax liability, 
had Valmet regarded a distribution in the near future as likely.

 

A deferred tax asset is recognized for tax loss carry-forwards 
to the extent that the realization of the related tax benefit through 
future taxable profits is probable. There were no material tax loss 
carry-forwards for which a deferred tax asset had not been recog-
nized. Valmet has tax loss carry-forwards of EUR 4 million that 
will expire within the following five years.
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Business combinations

Acquisition of Process Automation Systems
On April 1, 2015, the Group completed its acquisition of Process 
Automation Systems. The final purchase consideration was EUR 
312 million in cash. Process Automation Systems supplies process 
automation and information management systems and related ap-
plications and services to the pulp, paper, energy and other process 
industries. Control in the acquiree was obtained through a series of 
share deals financed through long-term borrowings. Goodwill of 
EUR 164 million arising from the acquisition is attributable to the 
assembled workforce and synergies expected to arise subsequent to 
the acquisition. Majority of the goodwill recognized is not expected 
to be deductible for income tax purposes.

10     Business combinations and 
disposals of businesses

As a result of the acquisition, Valmet will become a stronger 
and unique technology and services company in its field, with a 
full automation offering.

The acquisition strengthens Valmet’s competitiveness by com-
bining paper, pulp and power plant technology offering, services, 
process know-how and automation into one customer value-adding 
entity.

The following table summarizes the fair values of assets acquired 
and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition. 

The below amounts include EUR 2 million of net receivables 
from Valmet that were settled at closing.

As at April 1, 

EUR million 2015

Non-current assets

Goodwill 164

Other intangible assets 166

Property, plant and equipment 26

Financial and other non-current assets 13

Total non-current assets 369

Current assets

Inventories 51

Trade receivables 45

Other current assets 70

Cash and cash equivalents 48

Total current assets 213

Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liability 47

Other non-current liabilities 7

Total non-current liabilities 53

Current liabilities

Current debt 65

Trade and other payables 51

Advances received 75

Other current liabilities 26

Total current liabilities 216

Net assets acquired 312
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EUR million As at April 1, 2015

Consideration transferred -312

Cash and cash equivalents acquired 48

Loan repayments at closing -54

Net cash outflow -318

Acquisition related costs of EUR 2 million and EUR 1 million have 
been charged to selling, general and administrative expenses in the 
consolidated income statement for the 12 months ended December 
31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

From the date of acquisition, Process Automation Systems con-
tributed EUR 229 million of revenue and EUR 19 million to profit of 
the Group. If the acquisition had occurred on January 1, 2015, man-

agement estimates that the combined statement of income would 
show net sales of EUR 2,983 million and profit of EUR 64 million. 
These pro-forma amounts, include estimated interest expenses and 
income taxes as well as the fair value adjustments, determined as 
at December 31, 2015, for the January–March period.

The following table presents the cash flows associated with the 
acquisition of the Process Automation Systems business.

Acquisition of MC Paper Machinery and Focus  
Rewinding business
On August 6, 2015, the Group completed its acquisition of the MC 
Paper Machinery and Focus Rewinding business, through purchase 
of 100 percent of the share capital of Valmet Pescia S.r.l.. The pur-
chase consideration paid and provisional goodwill arising from 
the transaction amounted to EUR 5 million and EUR 5 million, 
respectively. The amounts are provisional in nature while work to 
complete accounting for the business combination still continues. 
This acquisition had no material effect on Valmet’s financial state-
ments for the August–December 2015 period. 

Valmet made no acquisitions during 2014.

Disposals of businesses
Valmet made no disposals during 2015.

On December 17, 2013 MW Power Oy signed a contract to sell its 
small-scale heating plant business in Finland and related services 
operations in Russia to KPA Unicon. The closing of the transaction 
covering the business in Finland took place on January 31, 2014. 
The closing of the transaction covering the Russian service business 
took place on June 27, 2014.

On December 17, 2013 Valmet signed a contract to sell its small- 
scale heating plant business in Sweden to a part of its current man- 
agement. The closing of the transaction covering the business in 
Sweden took place on January 2, 2014

The total annual revenue of the divested businesses has been 
approximately EUR 30 million, employing 114 employees as of year 
end 2013. These transactions had no material effect on Valmet’s 2014 
financial statements.
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Intangible assets

EUR million Goodwill
Patents and 

licences
Capitalized  

software
Other  

intangible assets
Intangible  

assets total

2015

Acquisition cost at beginning of year 446 39 62 246 794

Translation differences 9 - -1 3 11

Acquired in business combination 169 1 1 172 342

Capital expenditure - - - 7 7

Reclassifications - 2 6 -8 -

Other changes and disposals - -7 -1 1 -7

Acquisition cost at end of year 624 36 67 420 1,147

Accumulated amortization at beginning of year - -28 -53 -176 -256

Translation differences - - 1 -2 -1

Impairment losses - -1 - -1 -1
Other changes and accumulated amortization 
of disposals - 7 1 - 8

Amortization charges for the year - -3 -4 -30 -37

Accumulated amortization at end of year - -25 -55 -208 -288

Net book value at end of year 624 11 12 212 859

EUR million Goodwill
Patents and 

licences
Capitalized  

software
Other  

intangible assets
Intangible  

assets total

2014

Acquisition cost at beginning of year 443 42 58 250 793

Translation differences 4 - - -2 1

Capital expenditure - - - 6 6

Reclassifications - 2 5 -6 -

Other changes and disposals - -4 -1 -1 -6

Acquisition cost at end of year 446 39 62 246 794

Accumulated amortization at beginning of year - -28 -51 -164 -243

Translation differences - - - 2 2

Impairment losses - -1 - - -1
Other changes and accumulated amortization 
of disposals - 4 2 1 6

Amortization charges for the year - -3 -4 -15 -22

Accumulated amortization at end of year - -28 -53 -176 -256

Net book value at end of year 446 11 9 70 537

11     Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment
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Property, plant and equipment

EUR million
Land and  

water areas
Buildings and 

structures
Machinery and 

equipment
Assets under  
construction

Property,  
plant and  

equipment total

2015

Acquisition cost at beginning of year 22 368 863 25 1,278

Translation differences - 5 14 -1 19

Acquired in business combination 4 17 4 - 26

Disposals of businesses - - - - -

Capital expenditure - 1 7 29 37

Reclassifications - 7 21 -28 -

Other changes and disposals - -4 -19 -1 -24

Acquisition cost at end of year 26 394 892 25 1,336

Accumulated depreciation at beginning of year - -236 -661 - -897

Translation differences - -4 -10 - -14

Impairment losses - -5 - - -5
Other changes and accumulated depreciation of 
disposals - 3 18 - 21

Depreciation charges for the year - -13 -42 - -55

Accumulated depreciation at end of year - -255 -695 - -951

Net book value at end of year 26 138 196 25 385

EUR million
Land and  

water areas
Buildings and 

structures
Machinery and 

equipment
Assets under  
construction

Property,  
plant and  

equipment total

2014

Acquisition cost at beginning of year 21 363 848 21 1,253

Translation differences - 6 15 1 23

Disposals of businesses - -2 -3 - -5

Capital expenditure - - 6 33 40

Reclassifications - 3 25 -28 -

Other changes and disposals - -4 -26 -1 -31

Acquisition cost at end of year 22 368 863 25 1,278

Accumulated depreciation at beginning of year - -226 -638 - -864

Translation differences - -2 -9 - -12

Impairment losses - - -2 - -2
Other changes and accumulated depreciation of 
disposals - 4 26 - 30

Depreciation charges for the year - -12 -39 - -51

Accumulated depreciation at end of year - -236 -661 - -897

Net book value at end of year 22 132 202 25 381

As at December 31, 2015 and 2014 there were no material assets 
leased under financial lease arrangements included in property, 
plant and equipment.
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Goodwill impairment testing 
Goodwill arising from business acquisitions is allocated as at the 
acquisition date to the cash generating unit (CGU) or cash gener- 
ating units (CGUs) expected to benefit from the synergies of the 
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of 
the acquiree are assigned to the CGU or CGUs.

In 2015 Valmet had three CGUs (in 2014 Valmet had two CGUs). 
The first CGU comprises of Valmet’s Paper business line and the 
paper business related part of Valmet’s service business. The second 
CGU comprises of Valmet’s Pulp and Energy business line and the 
pulp and energy related part of Valmet’s service business. In 2015 
Valmet identified a third CGU as a result of Valmet’s acquisition 
of Process Automation Systems business.

As at Dec 31,

EUR million 2015 2014

Paper business line and the paper business related part of Valmet’s service business 169 155

Pulp and Energy business line and the pulp and energy related part of Valmet’s service business 291 292

Automation business line  164 -

Total 624 446

Key assumptions applied 2015 2014

Long term growth rate, (%)

Paper business line and the paper business related part of Valmet’s service business 2.0% 1.9%

Pulp and Energy business line and the pulp and energy related part of Valmet’s service business 1.4% 1.6%

Automation business line 1.0% -

Pre-tax discount rate, (%)

Paper business line and the paper business related part of Valmet’s service business 9.5% 11.0%

Pulp and Energy business line and the pulp and energy related part of Valmet’s service business 10.1% 11.0%

Automation business line 8.7% -

Market and product mix Materially stable -

EBIT Materially stable -

Valmet assesses the value of its goodwill for impairment annual-
ly or more frequently, if facts and circumstances indicate, that a risk 
of impairment exists. If any such indication exists, then the carrying 
value of the CGU is compared to its recoverable amount, which is 
determined based on a value in use calculation. This calculation 
uses pre-tax cash flow projections based on financial budgets ap- 
proved by Valmet’s management and Board of Directors covering 
a three-year period.

The following table sets out the allocation of goodwill as at De-
cember 31, 2015 and 2014 and the key assumptions applied in the 
value in use calculations (testing was performed as at September 
30, 2015).

The key assumptions are based on past performance and on expec-
tations of Valmet’s management and Board of Directors on mar-
ket development. External sources are also used to obtain data on 
growth, demand and price development in establishing the assump-
tions. The discount rate used in testing is derived from the weighted 

average cost of capital based on comparable peer industry betas and 
capital structure. The assumption requiring most judgment is the 
market and product mix.

As a result of the annual impairment tests, no impairment loss 
was recognized on goodwill in 2015 or 2014.
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Valmet Group included the following associated companies and joint ventures:

Share of ownership

Company name
Place of incorporation and 
principal place of business Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014

Measurement  
method

Allimand S.A. France 35.8% 35.8% Equity

Valpro gerenciamento de obras Ltda Brazil 51.0% 51.0% Equity

Nanjing SAC Metso Control System Co., Ltd. China 21.95% - Equity

12     Investments in associates and joint ventures

Allimand S.A. is a French company that provides products and 
services for the paper industry and its main focus is on speciality 
paper- and mid-size board machines. Allimand S.A. is an associ-
ated company for Valmet. Management reassessed the nature of 
its interest in Allimand S.A. in 2015 concluding that its interest in 
this associate is of an investing rather than an operating nature, 
and consequently, reporting of Valmet’s share of profit and losses 
in Allimand S.A. below operating profit is appropriate. The share 
of profit and losses is immaterial in 2014.

Valpro gerenciamento de obras Ltda is a joint venture between 
Valmet and Progen which attends exclusively to Valmet projects 
in the South American pulp, paper and energy market. Valpro 
gerenciamento de obras Ltda was established in 2013 in order to 
strengthen and diversify activities in Brazil. The joint venture sup-
plies specialized technical services in the field of construction and 
erection management.

Valpro gerenciamento de obras Ltda is classified as joint ven-
ture, because Valmet has, together with the other shareholder, joint 
power to govern the company.

Nanjing SAC Metso Control System Co., Ltd. (SAC) is a com-
pany established in 2011 between Metso Automation Co., Ltd. and 
Guodian Nanjing Automation Co., Ltd.. SAC, Guodian Nanjing 
Automation Co., Ltd is a public company majority owned by 
 Huadian Power International Corporation Limited, one of the five 
biggest power producing companies in China. The ownership of 
Metso Automation Co., Ltd. transferred to Valmet when the Group 
completed its acquisition of Process Automation Systems on April 
1, 2015. Nanjing SAC Metso Control System Co., Ltd. concentrates 
on developing new technology, products and solutions to the digital 
power plant concepts by combining the resources of the parties. The 
associated company is focusing especially on the Chinese market.

Change

EBIT

Paper business line and the paper business related part of Valmet’s service business decrease more than 50%

Pulp and Energy business line and the pulp and energy related part of Valmet’s service business decrease more than 30%

Automation decrease more than 35%

Pre-tax discount rate, (%)

Paper business line and the paper business related part of Valmet’s service business increase to more than 26%

Pulp and Energy business line and the pulp and energy related part of Valmet’s service business increase to more than 17%

Automation increase to more than 14%

Sensitivity analysis
Valmet’s management has assessed that no reasonably possible 
change in any of the key assumptions would cause the CGU’s car-
rying amount to exceed its recoverable amount.

A change in a key assumption that would cause the recoverable 
amount to equal the carrying amount of the CGU is presented in 
the table below.
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Allimand S.A. SAC

As at Dec 31, As at Dec 31,
EUR million 20151) 2014 2015 2014

Non-current assets 8 8 13 -

Current assets 28 14 82 -

Non-current liabilities 5 7 - -

Current liabilities 24 10 55 -

Net assets 7 6 40 -

Valmet’s share of net assets 3 2 9 -

Allimand S.A. SAC

Year ended Dec 31, Year ended Dec 31,
EUR million 20151) 2014 20152) 2014

Revenue 23 27 45 -

Profit/loss 1 -7 7 -

EUR million 2015 2014

Investments in associated companies and joint ventures

Acquisition cost at beginning of year 1 1

Acquired in business combination 8 -

Acquisition cost at end of year 8 1

Equity adjustments in investments in associated companies and joint ventures

Equity adjustments at beginning of year 4 4

Share of results, operative investments 2 -

Share of results, financial investments -2 -

Equity adjustments at end of year 3 4

Carrying value at end of year 12 5

Allimand S.A., Valpro gerenciamento de obras Ltda and Nanjing 
SAC Metso Control System Co., Ltd. are private companies and 
there are no quoted market prices available for their shares. There 
are no contingent liabilities relating to Valmet’s interest in Allimand 
S.A., Valpro gerenciamento de obras Ltda or Nanjing SAC Metso 
Control System Co., Ltd..

Summarized financial information of Allimand S.A. and Nanjing 
SAC Metso Control System Co., Ltd. is set out below. The summa-

rized financial information below represents amounts shown in 
Allimand S.A.’s and Nanjing SAC Metso Control System Co., Ltd.’s 
financial statements. 

The current and non-current assets and liabilities, revenues and 
results of Valpro gerenciamento de obras Ltda are not material.

1) Period Jan–Aug 2015
2) Period Apr–Dec 2015

Carrying value of investments in associates and joint ventures
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The available-for-sale financial assets comprise EUR 1 million listed 
shares (EUR 1 million), EUR 7 million current interest bearing 
financial assets (EUR 28 million current, EUR 6 million non-cur-
rent), which are all valued at their market value.

As at Dec 31,

EUR million 2015 2014

Materials and supplies 82 83

Work in process 350 331

Finished products 76 60

Total inventory 508 474

13     Available-for-sale financial assets

14     Inventories

The remaining EUR 2 million as at December 2015 (EUR 2 mil-
lion) consists of various industrial participations, shares in real 
estate companies and other shares for which market values do not 
exist, whereby they are valued at cost.

Available-for-sale financial assets have changed as follows:

EUR million 2015 2014

Carrying value at beginning of year 37 4

Additions - 34

Disposals and other changes -27 -

Carrying value at end of year 10 37

Non-current 3 9

Current 7 28

The cost of inventories recognized as expense was EUR 2,248 mil-
lion and EUR 1,965 million for the years ended December 31, 2015 
and 2014 respectively. 

The following transactions were carried out with associated com-
panies and joint ventures and the following balances have arisen 
from such transactions.

Transactions with associated companies and joint ventures

EUR million 2015 2014

Net sales - 1

Purchases - -

Receivables 1 -

Payables 1 -

Valmet Financial Statements 2015 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

52



Information on statement of financial position items of uncompleted projects at December 31 is as follows:

EUR million

Cost and earnings 
of uncompleted 

projects
Billings of  

projects Net

2015

Projects where cost and earnings exceed billings 1,594 1,378 216

Projects where billings exceed cost and earnings 972 1,248 276

2014

Projects where cost and earnings exceed billings 1,472 1,280 192

Projects where billings exceed cost and earnings 794 1,121 327

15     Revenue recognition

Provision for inventory obsolescence has changed as follows:

EUR million 2015 2014

Balance at beginning of year 21 18

Translation differences 1 -

Additions charged to expense 11 7

Used reserve -2 -2

Deductions / other additions -14 -1

Balance at end of year 18 21

Net sales recognized under the percentage of completion method 
amounted to EUR 1,330 million, or 45% of net sales, in 2015. Net sales 

recognized under the percentage of completion method amounted to 
EUR 1,195 million, or 48% of net sales, in 2014.

Year ended Dec 31,
EUR million 2015 2014

Sale of services and automation 1,357 989

Sale of projects, equipment and goods 1,572 1,484

Total 2,928 2,473

Analysis of net sales by category:
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As at Dec 31,

2015 2014
EUR million Non-current Current Total Non-current Current Total

Interest bearing receivables

Loan receivables 20 - 20 6 - 6

Trade receivables - 1 1 1 - 1

Total 20 1 21 7 - 8

Non-interest bearing receivables

Trade receivables - 476 476 - 333 333

Receivables from related parties - 1 1 - - -

Prepaid expenses and accrued income - 30 30 - 63 63

Other receivables 8 68 76 11 48 59

Total 8 575 583 11 445 456

Allowance for trade receivables has changed as follows:

Analysis of trade receivables by age:

EUR million 2015 2014

Balance at beginning of year 16 13

Addition charged to expense 6 4

Used reserve -2 -1

Unused amounts reversed -1 -1

Balance at end of year 19 16

As at Dec 31,

EUR million 2015 2014

Trade receivables, not due at reporting date 303 235

Trade receivables 1–30 days overdue 77 39

Trade receivables 31–60 days overdue 41 18

Trade receivables 61–90 days overdue 16 11

Trade receivables 91–180 days overdue 15 14

Trade receivables more than 180 days overdue 25 18

Total 478 335

16     Interest bearing and non-interest bearing receivables
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Financial assets and liabilities divided by categories were as follows at December 31:

EUR million

Financial   
assets at fair 

value through 
profit and loss

Derivatives 
qualified  

for hedge  
accounting

Loans and 
receivables

Available-  
for-sale  

financial assets
Carrying  

value
Fair  

value
Fair value  

level

2015

Non-current assets

Available-for-sale financial assets - - - 3 3 3 1,3

Loan receivables - - 20 - 20 20 2

Derivative financial instruments - 2 - - 2 2 2

Total - 2 20 3 26 26

Current assets

Available-for-sale financial assets - - - 7 7 7 1

Trade receivables - - 478 - 478 478 2

Derivative financial instruments 6 6 - - 13 13 2

Cash and cash equivalents 165 - - - 165 165 2

Total 172 6 478 7 663 663

17     Financial assets and liabilities

EUR million

Liabilities at fair 
value through  
profit and loss

Derivatives  
qualified  

for hedge  
accounting

Financial  
liabilities  

measured at 
amortized cost

Carrying  
value

Fair  
value

Fair value  
level

2015

Non-current liabilities

Loans from financial institutions - - 309 309 312 2

Derivative financial instruments - 3 - 3 3 2

Total - 3 310 312 315

Current liabilities

Current portion of non-current debt - - 62 62 62 2

Trade payables - - 250 250 250 2

Derivative financial instruments 3 10 - 13 13 2

Total 3 10 312 325 325
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Valmet manages its cash by investing in financial instruments with 
varying maturities. Instruments with maturities exceeding three 
months are classified as available-for-sale financial assets and in- 
struments with maturities of less than three months are classified 
as cash and cash equivalents.

EUR million

Financial 
assets at fair 

value through 
profit and loss

Derivatives 
qualified  

for hedge  
accounting

Loans and 
receivables

Available-  
for-sale  

financial assets
Carrying  

value
Fair  

value
Fair value  

level

2014

Non-current assets

Available-for-sale financial assets - - - 9 9 9 1, 3

Loan receivables - - 7 - 7 7 2

Trade receivables - - 1 - 1 1 2

Total - - 8 9 17 17

Current assets

Available-for-sale financial assets - - - 28 28 28 1, 2

Trade receivables - - 333 - 333 333 2

Derivative financial instruments 7 13 - - 20 20 2

Cash and cash equivalents 192 - - - 192 192 2

Total 199 13 333 28 573 573

EUR million

Liabilities at fair 
value through 
profit and loss 

Derivatives  
qualified  

for hedge  
accounting

Financial  
liabilities  

measured at 
amortized cost

Carrying  
value

Fair  
value

Fair value  
level

2014

Non-current liabilities

Loans from financial institutions - - 16 16 17 2

Derivative financial instruments - 2 - 3 3 2

Total - 2 16 19 20

Current liabilities

Current portion of non-current debt - - 51 51 51 2

Trade payables - - 226 226 226 2

Derivative financial instruments 7 24 - 30 30 2

Total 7 24 277 307 307

The hierarchy of fair value levels is presented in Note 3. For more 
information of derivative financial instruments, see Note 27.
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As at Dec 31,

EUR million 2015 2014

Cash at bank and in hand 135 127

Commercial papers and other investments 30 66

Total cash and cash equivalents 165 192

18     Cash and cash equivalents

The maturity of cash and cash equivalents does not exceed three 
months.

19     Equity

Share capital and number of shares
Valmet Corporation’s registered share capital was EUR 100,000,000 as 
at December 31, 2015 and EUR 100,000,000 as at December 31, 2014. 
The share capital is fully paid.

Valmet’s total number of shares is 149,864,619 and the num-
ber of outstanding shares as at December 31, 2015 was 149,864,220 
(149,864,220 shares). The number of shares held by Valmet Cor-
poration was 399 (399 shares). 

The average amount of shares outstanding amounted to 
149,864,220 (149,863,252) during the financial year ended at De-
cember 31, 2015.

Valmet Corporation has one series of shares. The shares of 
Valmet Corporation do not have a nominal value. In 2015, there 
has been no changes in the number of outstanding shares or share 
capital. 

Treasury shares
Valmet Corporation acquired 14,310 of its own shares through a 
purchase on the Helsinki Stock Exchange (Nasdaq Helsinki Ltd) on 
April 2, 2014. The price paid was EUR 7.5880 per share. The total 
amount paid to acquire the shares, including transaction costs, was 
EUR 109 thousand and it has been deducted from retained earnings 
in equity. 

In accordance with a resolution of Valmet Corporation’s Board 
of Directors, Valmet Corporation has conveyed a total of 13,911 of 
these shares to 25 of Valmet’s key employees included in the Group’s 
share-based incentive program 2011–2013. The handover date for 
the shares was April 30, 2014 after which the remaining number of 
shares held by Valmet Corporation was 399. The total value of the 
conveyed shares, including the related transaction costs, was EUR 
117 thousand which has been recognised in equity as an increase 
in reserve for invested unrestricted equity. 

Valmet has entered into an agreement with a third-party ser-
vice provider concerning the administration of the share-based in-

centive programs for key personnel. As at December 31, 2015, the 
number of shares held within the administration plan was 473,617.

Dividends
The Board of Directors proposes that a dividend of EUR 0.35 per 
share will be paid out based on the statement of financial position 
to be adopted for the financial year ended December 31, 2015, and 
that the remaining part of the retained earnings will be carried 
forward in Valmet Corporation’s unrestricted equity. These financial 
statements do not reflect this dividend payable of EUR 52 million. 
Dividends paid relating to the year ended December 31, 2014 were 
0.25 EUR per share totaling EUR 37 million.

Fair value and other reserves
Hedge reserve includes fair value movements of derivative financial 
instruments which qualify for hedge accounting.

Fair value reserve includes the change in fair values of assets 
classified as available-for-sale.

Legal reserve consists of restricted equity, which has been trans-
ferred from distributable funds under the Articles of Association, 
local company law or by a decision of the shareholders.

Reserve for invested unrestricted equity
Reserve for invested unrestricted equity includes other equity-  
related investments and share subscription prices to the extent not 
designated to be included in share capital.

The reserve for invested non-restricted equity fund in Valmet’s 
consolidated statement of financial position consists of the fund 
held by the parent company Valmet Corporation.

Cumulative translation adjustments
Cumulative translation adjustments consist of currency transla-
tion differences, which relate to translation of foreign operations’ 
financial statements.
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Long-term incentive plan for 2012–2014
In December 2011, a share-based incentive plan including three 
performance periods, which were the calendar years 2012, 2013 and 
2014, was approved. The reward for each performance period of the 
plan cannot exceed 120 percent of a participant’s total annual base 
salary. As a rule no reward is paid if the key employee’s employment 
or service ends before the reward payment.

For the 2012 performance period a gross number of 321,438 
shares were earned by 31 participants. The earning criteria of the 
performance period 2012 were based on net sales growth of the 
Services business, return on capital employed (ROCE) before taxes 
and earnings per share (EPS). The reward was paid partly as com-
pany shares and partly in cash during 2015. The cash portion was 
dedicated to cover taxes and tax-related payments. The expense 
of the plan was recognized over the vesting period i.e. from the 
beginning of 2012 until the end of February 2015. The recognized 
expense of the equity portion was based on a grant date share price 
of EUR 8.13.

For the 2013 performance period, the performance criteria was 
not met and therefore no rewards will be paid for the 2013 perfor-
mance period.

For the 2014 performance period, the plan was targeted at 40 
persons in Valmet’s management. From the performance period 
2014 a gross number of 268,003 shares were earned. The earning 
criteria of the performance period 2014 were based on growth in 
Valmet’s EBITA % and growth in Services orders received. The re-
ward will be paid partly as company shares and partly in cash. The 
cash portion is dedicated to cover taxes and tax-related payments. 
The expense of the plan is recognized over the vesting period i.e. 
from the beginning of 2014 until the end of February 2017. The rec-
ognized expense of the equity portion is based on Valmet’s average 
share price on the grant date of EUR 8.28.

Long-term incentive plan for 2015–2017
The Board of Directors of Valmet Corporation approved in De-
cember 2014 a new share-based incentive plan for Valmet’s key 
employees. The Plan includes three discretionary periods, which are 
the calendar years 2015, 2016 and 2017. The Board of Directors shall 
decide on the performance criteria and targets in the beginning of 
each discretionary period.

The potential reward of the plan from the discretionary period 
2015 is based on EBITA % and Services orders received growth %. 

The potential reward of the plan from the discretionary period 
2015 will be paid partly as company shares and partly in cash in 
2016. The proportion to be paid in cash is intended to cover taxes 
and tax-related costs arising from the reward to the key employee. 
As a rule, no reward is paid, if the key employee’s employment or 
service ends before the reward payment. 

As part of the plan, members of Valmet’s Executive Team shall 
have a possibility to receive a matching share reward for the dis-
cretionary period 2015 provided that he or she owns or acquires 
Valmet shares up to a number determined by the Board of Directors 
by December 31, 2015. Reward receipt is tied to continued em-
ployment or service of the Valmet Executive Team member upon 
reward payment.

The reward of the plan may not exceed 120 percent of the key 
employee’s annual base salary. The shares paid as reward may not be 
transferred during the restriction period, which will end two years 
from the end of the discretionary period. Should a key employee´s 
employment or service end during the restriction period, as a rule, 
he or she must gratuitously return the shares given as reward to 
the Company.

The plan is directed to approximately 80 people. The rewards to 
be paid on the basis of the discretionary period 2015 are in total a 
maximum of 693,079 shares in Valmet Corporation including a cash 
payment to cover taxes and tax-related payments arising from the 
reward to the key employee. The expense of the discretionary period 
2015 is recognized over the vesting period i.e. from the beginning 
of 2015 until the end of December 2017. The recognized expense of 
the equity portion is based on Valmet’s closing share price on the 
grant date of EUR 11.40. As at December 31, 2015 a total of 540,032 
shares had been allotted to participants.

The Board of Directors of Valmet Corporation decided in De-
cember 2015 to continue the share based incentive program for 
Valmet’s key employees approved in December 2014. The potential 
reward of the program from the discretionary period 2016 is based 
on EBITA % and orders received growth % of the stable business, 
that is, the Services and Automation business lines. The potential 
reward of the plan from the discretionary period 2016 will be paid 
partly as Valmet shares and partly in cash in 2017. The proportion 
to be paid in cash is intended to cover taxes and tax-related costs 
arising from the reward to the key employee. As a rule, no reward 
is paid, if the key employee’s employment or service ends before 
the reward payment.

20     Share-based payments
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Granted share amounts of the share-based incentive plans:

Shares total 2015

Plan 2012–2014
At beginning of year 568,686
Paid -321,438
Returned -12,746
Other 33,500
At end of year 268,003

Plan 2015–2017

At beginning of year -
Granted 693,079
Returned -25,741
Expired -127,306
At end of year 540,032

Costs recognized for the share ownership 
plans
The compensation expense for the shares, which are accounted for 
as equity-settled, is recognized as an employee benefit expense with 
corresponding entry in equity. The cost of the equity-settled por-
tion, which will be evenly recognized during the required service 
period, is based on the market price of the Valmet share on the 
grant date. The compensation expense resulting from the cash-set-
tled portion is recognized as an employee benefit expense with a 

EUR thousand Plan 2011–2013 Plan 2012–2014 Plan 2015–2017 Total

2014 -151 -2,030 - -2,181
2015 - -981 -3,174 -4,155

As part of the share based incentive program members of the 
Valmet Executive Team shall have a possibility to receive a matching 
share reward for the discretionary period 2016 provided that he or 
she owns or acquires Valmet shares up to a number determined 
by the Board of Directors by December 31, 2016. The reward re-
ceipt is tied to the continued employment or service of the Valmet 
Executive Team member upon reward payment.

The plan is directed to approximately 80 people. The rewards to 
be paid on the basis of the discretionary period 2016 are in total an 

approximate maximum of 850,000 shares in Valmet. The reward of 
the plan may not exceed 120 percent of the key employee’s annual 
total base salary. The shares paid as reward may not be transferred 
during the restriction period, which will end two years from the 
end of the discretionary period. Should a key employee’s employ-
ment or service end during the restriction period, as a rule, he or 
she must gratuitously return the shares given as reward to Valmet.

corresponding entry in current liabilities. The cash-settled portion 
is fair valued at each balance sheet date based on the prevailing 
share price. 

As at December 31, 2015 the total carrying value of the cash-set-
tled portion was EUR 3 million (EUR 2 million).

The table below represents the costs recognized for the share-
based payment plans.
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As at Dec 31,
Carrying value Fair value

EUR million 2015 2014 2015 2014

Non-current debt 309 16 312 17

Current portion of non-current debt 62 51 62 51

Total debt 371 68 374 69

The fair value of non-current debt is equal to the present value of 
its future cash flows. More information about the maturities are 
presented in Note 3.

21     Non-current and current debt

As at Dec 31, 2015

EUR million
Warranty and  

guarantee liabilities
Restructuring  

provisions
Other  

provisions Total

Balance at beginning of year 83 14 11 107

Translation differences 1 - - 1
Addition charged to expense 80 4 4 87

Acquired in business combination 2 - 6 9

Used reserve -40 -8 -9 -57

Reversal of reserve / other changes -38 - -2 -40

Balance at end of year 88 9 10 108

Non-current 10

Current 98

22     Provisions

Provisions, for which the expected settlement date exceeds one 
year from the moment of their recognition, are discounted to their 
present value and adjusted in subsequent periods for the time effect.

Warranty and guarantee liabilities
Valmet issues various types of contractual product warranties under 
which it generally guarantees the performance levels agreed in the 
sales contract, the performance of products delivered during the 
agreed warranty period and services rendered for a certain peri-
od or term. The warranty liability is based on historical realized 
warranty costs for deliveries of standard products and services. 
The usual warranty period is 12 to 24 months from the date of 
customer acceptance of the delivered equipment. For more com-
plex contracts, including long-term projects, the warranty reserve 
is calculated contract by contract and updated regularly to ensure 
its sufficiency.

Restructuring provisions
The costs included in a provision for restructuring are those costs 
that are either incremental and incurred as a direct result of the for- 
mal plan approved and committed by management, or are the result 
of a continuing contractual obligation with no economic benefit to 
Valmet or a penalty incurred for a cancelled contractual obligation.

Environmental and product liabilities
Valmet accrues for losses associated with environmental remedi- 
ation obligations when such losses are probable and reasonably 
calculable. The amounts of accruals are adjusted later as further 
information develops or circumstances change. The Group has no 
material environmental and product liabilities as at December 31, 
2014 or December 31, 2015.

Other provisions
Other provisions comprise among other things provisions related 
to personnel and lawsuits.
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As at Dec 31,

EUR million 2015 2014

Trade payables 250 226

Accrued interest 2 -

Accrued personnel costs 120 91

Accrued project costs 313 361

Other payables 81 62

Trade and other payables total 767 740

The maturity of payables rarely exceeds six months and is largely 
determined by local trade practices and individual agreements be-
tween Valmet and its suppliers.

23     Trade and other payables

Accrued personnel costs, which include holiday pay, are settled 
in accordance with local laws and stipulations.

Valmet sponsors both defined contribution and defined benefit 
arrangements.

Valmet operates various defined benefit pension and other long 
term employee benefit arrangements pursuant to local conditions, 
practices and collective bargaining agreements in the countries in 
which it operates. The majority of Valmet’s defined benefit liabil-
ities relate to arrangements that are funded through payments to 
either insurance companies or to independently administered funds 
based on periodic actuarial calculations. Other arrangements are 
unfunded with benefits being paid directly by Valmet as they fall 
due. All arrangements are subject to local tax and legal restrictions 
in their respective jurisdictions.

Valmet’s defined benefit pension arrangements in the US, 
Canada and Sweden together represent 85% of Valmet’s Defined 
Benefit Obligation and 79% of its pension assets. These arrange-
ments provide income in retirement which is substantially based 
on salary and service at or near retirement.

In the US and Canada annual valuations are carried out to de-
termine whether cash funding contributions are required in accor-
dance with local legislation.

Defined benefit pension arrangements in Sweden are offered 
in accordance with collective labor agreements and are unfunded.

The liability recorded on Valmet’s balance sheet and cash con-
tributions to funded arrangements are sensitive to the assumptions 
used to measure the liabilities, the extent to which actual experience 
differs to the assumptions made and the returns on plan assets. 
Therefore Valmet is exposed to the risk that balance sheet liabili-
ties and/or cash contributions increase based on these influences.

Assets of Valmet’s funded arrangements are managed by external 
fund managers. The allocation of assets is reviewed regularly by 
those responsible for managing Valmet’s arrangements based on 
local legislation, professional advice and consultation with Valmet, 
based on acceptable risk tolerances.

The expected contributions to arrangements in 2016 are  
EUR 5 million.

24     Post-employment benefit  
obligations
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2015 2014
EUR million Funded Unfunded Total Funded Unfunded Total

Present value of funded obligation 179 - 179 162 - 162

Fair value of plan assets -132 - -132 -114 - -114

Net surplus (-) / deficit (+) of funded plans 47 - 47 48 - 48

Present value of unfunded obligation - 101 101 - 93 93
Asset (-) / liability (+) recognized  
in the statement of financial position 47 101 148 48 93 141

Amounts in the statement of financial position

Liabilities 48 101 149 48 93 141

Assets -1 - -1 - - -

Net liability 47 101 148 48 93 141

Year ended Dec, 31

2015 2014
EUR million Funded Unfunded Total Funded Unfunded Total

Employer's current service cost 3 6 8 3 3 6

Net interest on net surplus / deficit 2 3 4 1 3 4

Expense recognized in the statement of income 4 8 13 4 6 10

2015 2014
EUR million Funded Unfunded Total Funded Unfunded Total

Present value of obligation at beginning of year 162 93 255 109 80 189

Other adjustments1) 9 2 12 9 1 10

Employer's current service cost 3 6 8 3 3 6

Interest expense 6 3 9 5 3 8

Adjustment due to business combinations 3 3 6 - - -

Liabilities extinguished on settlements or curtailments - - - -2 - -2

Actuarial gain (-) / loss (+) due to change in assumptions - financial -7 -5 -12 21 13 34
Actuarial gain (-) / loss (+) due to change in assumptions - 
demographic -3 - -3 10 - 10

Actuarial gain(-)/loss (+) due to experience 3 - 3 - -1 -1

Benefits paid from the arrangements -8 - -8 -6 - -6

Benefits paid directly by employer - -4 -4 - -3 -3

Currency gain (-) / loss (+) 13 2 15 12 -3 9

Present value of defined benefit obligation at end of year 179 101 280 162 93 255

 -  of which related to active members 104 95

 -  of which related to deferred members 54 52

 -  of which related to pensioner members 123 108

1) Extension of coverage

The amounts recognized in the statement of income are as follows:

The amounts recognized as at December 31 in the statement of financial position are as follows:

The changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows:
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Year ended Dec, 31

2015 2014
EUR million Funded Unfunded Total Funded Unfunded Total

Experience gain (-) / loss (+) on assets 4 - 4 -7 - -7
Actuarial gain (-) / loss (+) on liabilities due to change in financial 
assumptions -7 -5 -12 21 13 34
Actuarial gain (-) / loss (+) on liabilities due to change in  
demographic assumptions -3 - -3 10 - 10

Actuarial gain (-) / loss (+) on liabilities due to experience 3 - 3 - -1 -1

Total gain (-) / loss (+) recognized in OCI -4 -4 -9 23 13 36

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability / asset reported in other comprehensive income are as follows:

2015 2014
EUR million Funded Unfunded Total Funded Unfunded Total

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 114 - 114 86 - 86

Other adjustments to the fair value of assets 9 - 9 10 - 10

Interest income on assets 4 - 4 4 - 4

Return on plan assets excluding interest income -4 - -4 7 - 7

Adjustment due to business combinations 2 - 2 - - -

Assets distributed on settlements - - - -2 - -2

Employer contributions 6 4 10 7 3 10

Benefits paid from the arrangements -8 - -8 -6 - -6

Benefits paid directly by employer - -4 -4 - -3 -3

Currency gain (+) / loss (-) 8 - 8 10 - 10

Fair value of plan assets at end of year 132 - 132 114 - 114

The changes in the fair value of the plan assets during the year are as follows:

2015 2014
As at Dec 31 Quoted Unquoted Total Quoted Unquoted Total

Equities 37% - 37% 42% - 42%

Bonds 34% - 34% 37% - 37%

Other 8% 21% 29% 7% 14% 22%

Total 79% 21% 100% 86% 14% 100%

The major categories of plan assets as a percentage of total plan assets of Valmet’s defined benefit plans are as follows:

At December 31, 2015 there were no plan assets invested in affiliated 
companies or property occupied by affiliated companies.
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The principal actuarial assumptions used to determine the defined benefit obligation  
(expressed as weighted averages) are as follows:

The weighted average life expectancy used for the major defined benefit plans are as follows:

2015 2014

As at Dec 31 Funded Unfunded Total Funded Unfunded Total

Discount rate 3.7% 3.0% 3.5% 3.5% 2.7% 3.2%

Salary increase 2.8% 2.6% 2.7% 2.9% 2.5% 2.7%

Pension increase 1.9% 2.5% 2.3% 2.0% 2.5% 2.4%

Medical cost trend rates - 6.9% 6.9% - 7.4% 7.4%

Life expectancy at age 65 for a  
male participant currently aged 65

Life expectancy at age 65 for a  
male participant currently aged 45

Expressed in years 2015 2014 2015 2014

Sweden 23 23 23 23

Canada 21 21 22 23

USA 21 22 23 22

Finland 21 19 24 21

Life expectancy is allowed for in the assessment of the defined 
benefit obligation using mortality tables which are generally based 
on experience within the country in which the arrangement is lo-

cated with (in many cases) an allowance made for anticipated future 
improvements in longevity.

Sensitivity analysis on present value of defined benefit obligation:

2015 2014

EUR million Funded Unfunded Total Funded Unfunded Total

Discount rate

Increase of 0.25% -6 -4 -9 -5 -7 -12

Decrease of 0.25% 6 4 11 5 8 13

Salary increase rate

Increase of 0.25% 1 2 3 1 4 5

Decrease of 0.25% -1 -2 -2 -1 -3 -4

Pension increase rate

Increase of 0.25% 1 2 3 1 5 6

Decrease of 0.25% -1 -3 -3 -1 -5 -5

Medical cost trend

Increase of 1% - 1 1 - 1 1

Decrease of 1% - -1 -1 - -1 -1

Life expectancy

Increase of one year 5 3 8 4 3 7

Decrease of one year -5 -3 -8 -4 -3 -7
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2015 2014

Expressed in years Funded Unfunded Total Funded Unfunded Total

As at December 31 14 17 15 14 25 18

Weighted average duration of defined benefit obligation:

Valmet Corporation, with its subsidiaries, and financial institutions 
have guaranteed commitments arising from the ordinary course of 
business of Valmet Group up to a maximum of EUR 771 million and 
EUR 1,170 million as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

25    Mortgages and contingent liabilities

Valmet leases offices, manufacturing and warehouse space under 
various noncancellable leases. Certain contracts contain renewal 
options for various periods of time.

Minimum annual rental expenses for leases in effect at December 31 are shown in the table below:

EUR million 2015 2014

Not later than 1 year 18 16

Later than 1 year and not later than 2 years 14 10

Later than 2 years and not later than 3 years 9 8

Later than 3 years and not later than 4 years 6 5

Later than 4 years and not later than 5 years 3 3

Later than 5 years 6 6

Total minimum lease payments 56 48

Total rental expenses amounted to EUR 22 million in 2015 and 
EUR 18 million in 2014.

26    Lease contracts

Valmet Group entities had given guarantees on behalf of others 
of EUR 4 million and EUR 5 million as at December 31, 2015 and 
2014, respectively.

As at December 31, 2015 and 2014 there were no material assets 
leased under financial lease arrangements.
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Notional amounts and fair values of derivative financial instruments as at December 31 are as follows:

EUR million Notional amount Fair value, assets Fair value, liabilities Fair value, net

2015

Forward exchange contracts 1) 1,591 15 12 2
Under hedge accounting 960 8 10 -2
Not qualifying for hedge accounting 630 6 3 4

Electricity forward contracts 2) 216 - 3 -3

Under hedge accounting 158 - 2 -2

Not qualifying for hedge accounting 58 - 1 -1

Interest rate swaps 1) 30 - 1 -1

Under hedge accounting 30 - 1 -1

Total 15 16 -2

Netting fair values of derivative financial  
instruments subject to ISDAs 3) -11 -11 -

Net Total 3 5 -2

2014

Forward exchange contracts 1) 1,290 20 30 -10

Under hedge accounting 730 13 24 -11

Not qualifying for hedge accounting 560 7 6 1

Electricity forward contracts 2) 327 - 3 -3

Under hedge accounting 251 - 2 -2

Not qualifying for hedge accounting 76 - 1 -1

Total 20 33 -13

Netting fair values of derivative financial  
instruments subject to ISDAs 3) -19 -19 -

Net Total 1 14 -13

27     Derivative financial instruments
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As at December 31, the maturities of financial derivatives are the following:

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 and later

2015

Notional amounts

Forward exchange contracts 1) 1,413 166 12 - -

Electricity forward contracts 2) 104 56 39 17 -

Interest rate swaps 1) - - - - 30

Fair values, EUR million

Forward exchange contracts 1 1 - - -

Electricity forward contracts -2 -1 - - -

Interest rate swaps - - - - -1

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 and later

2014

Notional amounts

Forward exchange contracts 1) 1,260 30 - - -

Electricity forward contracts 2) 117 97 56 39 18

Fair values, EUR million

Forward exchange contracts -9 -1 - - -

Electricity forward contracts -1 -1 - - -

1) Notional amount in EUR million
2) Notional amount in GWh
3)  Group’s derivatives are carried out under International Swaps and Derivatives Association’s Master Agreements (ISDA). In case of an event of default under these Agreements 

the non-defaulting party may request early termination and set-off of all outstanding transactions. These Agreements do not meet the criteria for offsetting in the statement of 
financial position.
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Valmet‘s related parties include Valmet Group companies and  
associated companies and joint ventures (see Note 12) as well as 
the members of Valmet’s Board of Directors and Executive Team.

28     Related party information

EUR thousand

Salaries and 
other short-term 

benefits
Performance 

bonus
Share-based 

payment
Post-retirement 

benefits
Termination 

benefits Total

2015

President and CEO -506 -260 -411 -233 - -1,411

Other Executive Team members -2,972 -761 -1,581 -1,093 -291 -6,698

Total -3,478 -1,021 -1,992 -1,326 -291 -8,109

2014

President and CEO -491 -177 -263 -190 - -1,121

Other Executive Team members -2,952 -750 -888 -831 -130 -5,552

Total -3,444 -927 -1,151 -1,021 -130 -6,674

EUR thousand 2015

Jukka Viinanen, Chairman until March 27, 2015 -6

Bo Risberg, Chairman since March 27, 2015 -116

Mikael von Frenckell, Vice Chairman -74

Friederike Helfer, Member -74

Pekka Lundmark, Member until April 7, 2015 -7

Erkki Pehu-Lehtonen, Member -64

Lone Fønss Schrøder, Member -71

Rogério Ziviani, Member -85

Eija Lahti-Jäntti, Personnel Representative -8

Total -504

As at December 31, 2015, the aggregate shareholding of the Board of 
Directors, the President and CEO and other Executive Team mem-
bers was 293,214 shares (197,647 shares as at December 31, 2014).

The President and CEO is entitled to retire when reaching 63 
years  of age. All other Executive Team members belong to the 
pension systems of their country of residence and have a statuto-
ry retirement age. The President and CEO and some members of 
the Executive Team have an additional defined contribution plan. 

Remuneration of Chief Executive Officer and 
other Executive Team members
The table below presents the expenses related to management com-
pensation that have been recognized in the statement of income. 
More information about share-based payments is presented in  
Note 20.

Valmet has no loan receivables from the Executive Team or the Board 
of Directors. No pledges or other commitments have been given on 
behalf of management or shareholders.

Contributions to the plan are 15–20 percent of the employee’s annual 
salary. Expenses are included in the post-retirement benefits together 
with statutory pension benefits presented in the table above. The 
final benefit received by the employee depends on the return on the 
plan’s investments.

Remuneration paid to members of the Board of Directors
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Company name

Country of  
incorporation and 
place of business Primary nature of business Parent holding, %

Group ownership 
interest, %

Valmet Automation Pty Ltd Australia Sales 100.0 100.0

Valmet Pty Ltd Australia Sales - 100.0

Valmet Automation GesmbH Austria Sales - 100.0

Valmet GesmbH Austria Sales - 100.0

Valmet Automacao Ltda Brazil Manufacturing - 100.0

Valmet Celulose Papel e Energia Ltda Brazil Manufacturing - 100.0

Valmet Fabrics Tecidos Técnicos Ltda Brazil Manufacturing - 100.0

Valmet Sulamericana Celulose Papel e Energia Ltda Brazil Manufacturing - 100.0

Valmet Ltd. Canada Sales - 100.0

Valmet SA Chile Sales - 100.0

Valmet (China) Co., Ltd. China Manufacturing - 100.0

Valmet Fabrics (China) Co., Ltd. China Sales - 100.0

Valmet Paper (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. China Sales - 100.0

Valmet Paper Technology (China) Co., Ltd. China Manufacturing - 100.0

Valmet Paper Technology (Guangzhou) Co., Ltd. China Manufacturing - 100.0

Valmet Paper Technology (Xi'an) Co., Ltd. China Manufacturing - 75.0

Valmet Automation (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. China Manufacturing - 100.0

Valmet d.o.o. Croatia Manufacturing - 100.0

Valmet Automation s.r.o Czech Republic Sales - 100.0

Valmet s.r.o. Czech Republic Manufacturing - 100.0

Valmet Technologies Oü Estonia Sales - 100.0

Valmet Automation Oy Finland Manufacturing 100.0 100.0

Valmet Automation Property Oy Finland Holding 100.0 100.0

Valmet Kauttua Oy Finland Manufacturing - 100.0

Valmet Technologies Oy Finland Manufacturing 100.0 100.0

Valmet Automation SAS France Sales - 100.0

Valmet SAS France Manufacturing - 100.0

Valmet Automation GmbH Germany Sales - 100.0

Valmet Deutschland GmbH Germany Holding - 100.0

Valmet GmbH Germany Sales - 100.0

Valmet Panelboard GmbH Germany Manufacturing - 100.0

Valmet Plattling GmbH Germany Sales - 100.0

Valmet Automation Limited India Manufacturing - 100.0

Valmet Chennai Pvt. Ltd. India Manufacturing - 100.0

PT Valmet Indonesia Sales - 100.0

PT Valmet Automation Indonesia Indonesia Sales - 100.0

PT Valmet Technology Center Indonesia Sales - 100.0

Valmet Como Srl Italy Manufacturing - 100.0

Valmet Pescia Srl Italy Manufacturing - 100.0

Valmet SpA Italy Manufacturing - 100.0

Valmet Automation K.K. Japan Sales - 100.0

Valmet K.K. Japan Sales - 100.0

Valmet Sdn Bhd Malaysia Sales - 100.0

Valmet Automation BV Netherlands Sales - 100.0

Valmet Automation A/S Norway Sales - 100.0

29     Group companies
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Year ended Dec 31,

2015 2014

EUR million Paid to PwC
Paid to other 

auditors Paid to PwC
Paid to other 

auditors

Audit -1.1 -0.2 -0.8 -0.1 

Tax consulting -0.5 -0.2 -0.5 -0.1 

Other services -0.3 -0.3 -0.5 -0.1 

Total -1.9 -0.8 -1.8 -0.3 

30     Audit fees

In 2015, the Annual General Meeting of Valmet Corporation elected 
Authorised Public Accountants PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy (PwC) 
as Valmet Corporation’s auditor.

Company name

Country of  
incorporation and 
place of business Primary nature of business Parent holding, %

Group ownership 
interest, %

Valmet AS Norway Manufacturing - 100.0

Valmet Automation Sp. z o.o. Poland Manufacturing - 100.0

Valmet Technologies Sp. z o.o. Poland Manufacturing - 100.0

Valmet Lda Portugal Manufacturing - 100.0

Valmet Automation Limited Republic of Korea Sales - 100.0

Valmet Inc. Republic of Korea Sales - 100.0

Valmet ZAO Russia Sales - 100.0

Valmet Automation JSC Russia Sales - 100.0

Valmet Pte. Ltd. Singapore Sales - 100.0

Valmet Automation Pte. Ltd. Singapore Sales - 100.0

Valmet Automation (Pty) Ltd South Africa Manufacturing - 100.0

Valmet  South Africa (Pty) Ltd South Africa Sales - 100.0

Valmet Technologies, S.A.U Spain Manufacturing - 100.0

Valmet Technologies Zaragoza SL Spain Manufacturing - 81.0

Valmet AB Sweden Manufacturing 100.0 100.0

Valmet Automation AB Sweden Manufacturing - 100.0

Valmet Automation Co., Ltd. Thailand Sales - 100.0

Valmet Co., Ltd. Thailand Sales - 100.0

Valmet Seluloz Kagit Enerji Teknolojileri A.S. Turkey Sales - 100.0

Valmet Automation Limited United Kingdom Sales - 100.0

Valmet Limited United Kingdom Manufacturing - 100.0

Valmet, Inc. USA Sales 90.0 100.0

Allimand S.A. France Manufacturing - 35.8

Valpro gerenciamento de obras Ltda Brazil Manufacturing - 51.0

Nanjing SAC Metso Control System Co., Ltd. China Manufacturing - 21.95
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Several lawsuits, claims and disputes based on various grounds 
are pending against Valmet in various countries, including prod-
uct liability lawsuits and claims as well as legal disputes related to 
Valmet’s deliveries. 

On February 20, 2015 Valmet issued a stock exchange release 
about Andritz Oy having filed a summons application with the 
Stockholm District Court against Valmet AB, a subsidiary of Valmet 
Corporation, regarding patent infringement. In the claim, Andritz 
is asking that Valmet under a penalty ceases to utilize the patent 
allegedly infringing Andritz’s patent and the Court to impose roy-
alty and damages on Valmet AB. Valmet has denied the claims in 

31     Lawsuits and claims

There were no subsequent events after the review period that re-
quired recognition or disclosure.

32     Events after the reporting period

                           Average rates                            Year-end rates
2015 2014 2015 2014

USD (US dollar) 1.1130 1.3256 1.0887 1.2141
SEK (Swedish krona) 9.3414 9.1004 9.1895 9.3930

BRL (Brazilian real) 3.7024 3.1207 4.3117 3.2207

CNY (Chinese yuan) 6.9924 8.1693 7.0608 7.5358

33     Key exchange rates

its writ of response submitted to the Stockholm District Court. In 
June, Andritz revised its claim, which subsequently changed their 
overall claim from EUR 52 million to EUR 54 million and interest 
for the alleged infringement. Consequently, Valmet filed a second 
response to the Stockholm District Court in September. 

Valmet’s management does not expect to the best of its present 
understanding that the outcome of these lawsuits, claims and dis-
putes will have a material adverse effect on Valmet in view of the 
grounds presented for them, provisions made, insurance coverage 
in force and the extent of Valmet’s total business activities. Valmet 
is also a plaintiff in several lawsuits.
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Financial Indicators 2015 and 2014

EUR million
As at and for the twelve 

months ended Dec 31, 2015
As at and for the twelve 

months ended Dec 31, 2014

Net sales 2,928 2,473

Net sales change, % 18% -5%

Operating profit 120 72

% of net sales 4.1% 2.9%

Profit before tax 108 67

% of net sales 3.7% 2.7%

Profit 78 46

% of net sales 2.7% 1.9%

Profit attributable to owners of the parent company 77 46

Amortization -37 -22

Depreciation -55 -51

Depreciation and amortization -92 -72

% of net sales -3.1% -2.9%

EBITA 157 94

% of net sales 5.3% 3.8%

Financial income and expenses, net -10 -5

% of net sales -0.3% -0.2%

Interest expenses -13 -12

% of net sales -0.5% -0.5%

Gross capital expenditure (incl. business acquisitions) -368 -46

% of net sales -12.6% -1.8%

Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired -323 -

Cash flow provided by operating activities 78 236

Cash flow after investments -287 194

Research and development expenses, net -59 -42

% of net sales -2.0% -1.7%

Total assets 2,894 2,412

Equity attributable to owners of the parent 855 804

Total equity 860 809

Interest bearing liabilities 371 68

Net interest bearing liabilities 178 -166

Net working capital (NWC) -238 -353

Return on equity (ROE), % 9% 6%

Return on capital employed (ROCE) before taxes, % 12% 9%

Equity to assets ratio, % 36% 42%

Gearing, % 21% -21%

Orders received 2,878 3,071

Order backlog at end of year 2,074 1,998

Average number of personnel 11,781 10,853

Personnel at end of year 12,306 10,464
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Formulas for Calculation of Indicators

EBITA:

Operating profit + amortization + goodwill impairment

EBITA before non-recurring items:

Operating profit + amortization + goodwill impairment +  
non-recurring items

Earnings per share:

Profit attributable to shareholders of the company
Average number of outstanding shares during period

Earnings per share, diluted:

Profit attributable to shareholders of the company
Average number of diluted shares during period

Dividend per share:

Dividend for the financial period
Basic number of shares at end of period

Return on equity (ROE), %:

Profit
Total equity (average for period)

Dividend / earnings ratio (%):

Dividend per share
Earnings per share

Effective dividend yield, %:

Dividend per share
Closing share price at end of period

Price / earnings ratio:

Closing share price at end of period 
Earnings per share

Return on capital employed (ROCE) before taxes, %:

Profit before tax + interest and other financial expenses
Balance sheet total - non-interest bearing liabilities  
(average for period)

Equity to assets ratio, %:

Total equity
Balance sheet total – advances received

x 100 x 100

x 100x 100

Gearing, %:

Net interest bearing liabilities
Total equity

x 100

x 100

Net interest bearing liabilities:

Non-current interest bearing debt + current interest bearing debt
- Cash and cash equivalents - other interest bearing assets

Net Working Capital:

Other non-current assets + inventories + trade and other receivables  
+ Amounts due from customers under construction contracts  
+ Derivative financial instruments (assets)
- Post-employment benefit obligations - provisions  
- Trade and other payables - advances received  
- Amounts due to customers under construction contracts  
- Derivative financial instruments (liabilities)
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Parent Company Statement of Income, FAS

Year ended Dec 31,
EUR Note 2015 2014

Other operating income 2  11,441,188.39   9,498,456.15

Personnel expenses 3 -10,859,380.87   -11,857,918.32

Depreciation and amortization -733,113.16   -699,468.05

Other operating expenses 4 -14,030,718.83   -12,186,327.67

Operating profit/loss -14,182,024.47   -15,245,257.89

Financial income and expenses, net 6  32,861,181.57   8,203,279.02

Profit/loss before extraordinary items  18,679,157.10   -7,041,978.87

Group contributions  - 10,340,000.00

Profit/loss before appropriations and taxes  18,679,157.10   3,298,021.13

Income taxes 8  2,914,054.83   520,368.48

Profit/loss  21,593,211.93   3,818,389.61

Valmet Financial Statements 2015 Parent Company Financial Statements

74



Parent Company Statement of Financial Position, FAS

As at Dec 31,
EUR Note 2015 2014

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 9  207,923.29   247,871.05

Property, plant and equipment 9  6,989,084.00   7,659,565.44

Equity investments 10  1,448,890,170.84   1,131,401,370.84

Non-current receivables 12, 13  106,917,241.69   161,582,715.48

Total non-current assets  1,563,004,419.82   1,300,891,522.81

Current assets
Current receivables 12, 13  103,204,432.69   179,207,046.10

Available-for-sale financial assets 13  6,029,640.00   32,987,960.32

Cash and cash equivalents  68,004,827.90   85,226,135.67

Total current assets  177,238,900.59   297,421,142.09

Total assets  1,740,243,320.41   1,598,312,664.90

As at Dec 31,
EUR Note 2015 2014

Equity 14

Share capital  100,000,000.00   100,000,000.00

Reserve for invested unrestricted equity  409,654,428.44   407,727,370.60

Fair value and other reserves -392,688.26   22,035.50

Retained earnings  451,747,728.03   492,776,290.62

Profit/loss  21,593,211.93   3,818,389.61

Total equity  982,602,680.14   1,004,344,086.33

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities 13, 15  311,269,789.14   16,914,391.85

Current liabilities 13, 16  446,370,851.13   577,054,186.72

Total liabilities  757,640,640.27   593,968,578.57

Total equity and liabilities  1,740,243,320.41   1,598,312,664.90

Assets

Equity and liabilities
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Parent Company Statement of Cash Flows, FAS

Year ended Dec 31,
EUR thousand 2015 2014

Cash flows from operating activities:

Profit / loss before extraordinary items  18,679   -7,042

Adjustments

Depreciation and amortization  733   699

Financial income and expenses, net -32,861   -8,203

Other non-cash items  380   17

Cash flow before changes in working capital -31,748   -7,487

Increase (-) / decrease (+) in current non-interest bearing receivables  32,972   -45,436

Increase (+) / decrease (-) in current non-interest bearing liabilities -30,678   37,368

Change in working capital  2,294   -8,068

Interest and other financial expenses paid -13,211   -9,217

Dividends received  35,007   6,047

Interest received  7,675   8,783

Income taxes paid -676   -332

Group contribution received  10,340   -

Net cash provided by operating activities  28,360   -17,316

Cash flows from investing activities:

Investments in tangible and intangible assets -23   -1,312

Proceeds from sale of tangible and intangible assets  - 414

Net increase (+) / decrease (-) in loan receivables from Group companies  72,857   139,796

Investments in subsidiaries -317,489   -

Repayment of capital reserve  - 68,538

Other investments  26,221   -34,867

Net cash used in investing activities -218,434   172,569

Cash flows from financing activities:

Net borrowings (+) / payments (-) of debt from Group companies -165,300   92,652

Net borrowings (+) / payments (-) of non-current debt  305,159   -133,048

Issue of Treasury shares to management  1,547   92

Purchase of Treasury shares -7,499   -109

Dividends paid -37,348   -22,480

Net increase (+) / decrease (-) in Group pool accounts  76,294   -83,035

Net cash provided by (+) / used in (-) financing activities  172,853   -145,928

Net increase (+) / decrease (-) in bank and cash -17,221   9,325

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  85,226   75,901

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  68,005   85,226
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Notes to Parent Company Financial Statements

The parent company’s financial statements have been prepaid in 
accordance with the Finnish Generally Accepted Accounting Prin-
ciples.

Non-current assets
Tangible and intangible assets are measured at historical cost, less 
accumulated depreciation according to plan. Land and water areas 
are not depreciated.

Depreciation and amortization is calculated on a straight-line 
basis over the expected useful lives of the assets as follows:

Other intangible assets 5–10 years
Buildings and structures 20–25 years
Machinery and equipment 3–5 years
Other tangible assets 20 years

Investments in subsidiaries and other companies are measured 
at acquisition cost, or fair value in case the fair value is less than cost. 

Financial Instruments
Valmet’s financial risk management is carried out by a central trea-
sury department (the Group Treasury) under the policies approved 
by the Board of Directors. The Group Treasury functions in co-op-
eration with the operating units to minimize financial risks to both 
the parent company and the Group.

The Group’s external and internal forward exchange contracts 
are measured at fair value. The change in the fair value of the in-
struments used in hedging of operational activities is recognized as 
‘Other income and expenses’ in Statement of income. The change 
in the fair value of the instruments used in hedging of the foreign 
currency financial items is recognized in the ‘Financial income and 
expenses’ in the Statement of income. The fair value of forward 
exchange contracts is determined using forward exchange market 
rates at the balance sheet date.

The derivative contracts used to hedge the commodity risk re-
lated to the electricity price risk are measured at fair value. The 
change in the fair value of electricity derivatives is recognized as 
‘Other income and expenses’ in the Statement of income. The fair 
value of electricity derivatives are based on quoted market prices 
at the balance sheet date. 

Principles of hedge accounting are applied in accounting for 
interest rate risks arising from floating rate debt. The derivative 
financial instruments used to hedge the interest rate risk are mea-
sured at fair value. The realized gain or loss relating to the effective 

portion of interest rate swaps is recognized in the Statement of 
income within ‘Financial income and expenses’ concurrently with 
the recognition of the underlying interest expense. The gain or loss 
relating to the ineffective portion of interest rate swaps is reported 
under ‘Financial income and expenses’ in the Statement of income. 
The gain or loss relating to the effective portion of interest rate 
swaps is recognized in the ‘Hedge reserve’ of the shareholders’s 
equity in the Statement of financial position. The fair value on the 
interest rate swap contract is calculated as the present value of the 
estimated future cash flows arising from the contract. 

Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value. The 
change in the fair value is recognized in the ‘Fair value reserve’ of 
the shareholder’s equity in the Statement of financial position. The 
fair value of available-for-sale financial assets is determined using 
market rates as at the balance sheet date.

Pensions
An external pension insurance company manages the parent com-
pany’s statutory and voluntary pension plan. Contributions are ex-
pensed to the statement of income as incurred.

Deferred taxes
A deferred tax liability or asset has been calculated for all tempo-
rary differences between tax bases of assets and liabilities and their 
amounts in financial reporting, using the enacted tax rates effective 
for future years. The deferred tax liabilities are recognized in the 
statement of financial position in full, and the deferred tax assets are 
recognized when it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable 
profit against which the asset can be utilized.

Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currency are recorded at the exchange rate 
prevailing on the date on the individual transaction. Foreign cur-
rency denominated monetary items recognized in the statement 
of the financial position have been translated at the exchange rates 
prevailing at the balance sheet date. Exchange gains and losses re-
lated to business operations are recognized as other income and 
expenses in the statement of income. Exchange gains and losses 
related to financing operations are recognized under financial in-
come and expenses.

Receivables
Receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective in-
terest method, less provision for impairment.

1     Accounting principles
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Share-based incentive plans
Rewards arising from share-based incentive plans are settled partly 
in shares and partly in cash. The shares to be transferred as part of 
the plan are obtained in public trading. The acquisition of shares 
is recognized as decrease in ‘Retained earnings’ and transfer of 
shares as increase in ‘Invested non-restricted equity’ and ‘Personnel 
expenses’. The part settled in cash is recognized in the Statement of 
income under ‘Personnel expenses’ at the time of payment.

Extraordinary income and expenses
Extraordinary income and expenses consist of items, such as Group 
contributions, that fall outside the ordinary activities of the com-
pany.

Bank and cash
Bank and cash consist of cash in banks and other liquid investments 
with initial maturity of three months or less.

3     Personnel expenses

Year ended Dec 31,

EUR thousand 2015 2014

Salaries and wages -8,639   -9,388

Pension costs -1,783   -2,019

Other indirect employee costs -437   -451

Total -10,859   -11,858

Remuneration paid to Management:
Year ended Dec 31,

EUR thousand 2015 2014

Chief Executive Officer -1,411 -1,121
Members of the Board -504 -558
Total -1,914   -1,679

The President and CEO has the right to retire at the age of 63 years. 
The President and CEO has an additional defined contribution plan. 
The contribution to the plan is 20 percent of his annual salary. 

Expenses are included in the remuneration paid to management 
table above. Additional information on management remuneration 
is presented in Note 28 of the Consolidated financial statements.

2     Other operating income 

Year ended Dec 31, 

EUR thousand 2015 2014

Services to Group companies  11,441   9,498
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4     Other operating expenses

Year ended Dec 31,

EUR thousand 2015 2014

Consulting and other services -8,703   -5,389

IT -1,845   -1,893

Valuation of derivatives -1,790   -2,108

Other -1,693   -2,796

Total -14,031   -12,186

5     Audit fees

Year ended Dec 31,

EUR thousand 2015 2014

Audit -331   -254

Tax consulting -198   -166

Other services -298   -334
Total -827 -754

Number of personnel:

2015 2014

Personnel at end of year 84   82

Average number of personnel during the year 84   81
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7     Fair value hedges recognized in income statement

Year ended Dec 31,
EUR thousand 2015 2014

Other operating expenses

Changes in fair value of derivatives -1,790   -2,108

Other financial expenses

Changes in fair value of derivatives  1,869   -15,490

8     Income taxes

Year ended Dec 31,
EUR thousand 2015 2014

Income tax for the financial period -35   -

Income tax for prior years -2   -

Change in deferred taxes  2,951   520

Total  2,914   520

6     Financial income and expenses

Year ended Dec 31,

2015 2014

EUR thousand
Group  

companies
Other  

companies Total
Group  

companies
Other  

companies Total

Dividends received 35,000 7 35,007 5,000 1,047 6,047

Interest income 6,855 166 7,021 10,234 662 10,896

Other financial income 22,091 42,024 64,115 6,967 14,349 21,316

Interest expenses -1,108 -7,663 -8,771 -2,059 -6,082 -8,141

Other financial expenses -30,425 -34,086 -64,511 -5,844 -16,071 -21,915

Total 32,861 8,203
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EUR thousand
Intangible 

assets Land areas

Buildings  
and  

structures

Machinery 
and  

equipment

Other  
tangible 

assets
Tangible 

assets total Total

2014
Acquisition cost at beginning of 
financial period 3 810 8,160 189 557 9,716 9,719

Additions 305 - - 593 - 593 898

Acquisition cost as at Dec 31 308 810 8,160 782 557 10,309 10,617

Accumulated depreciation at beginning 
of financial period -3 - -1,786 -169 -52 -2,007 -2,010
Depreciation charges for the financial 
period -57 - -514 -103 -25 -642 -699

Accumulated depreciation as at Dec 31 -60 - -2,300 -272 -77 -2,649 -2,709

Net book value as at Dec 31 248 810 5,860 510 480 7,660 7,907

EUR thousand
Intangible 

assets Land areas

Buildings  
and  

structures

Machinery 
and  

equipment

Other  
tangible 

assets
Tangible 

assets total Total

2015
Acquisition cost at beginning of 
financial period 308 810 8,160 782 557 10,309 10,617

Disposals - - - -100 - -100 -100

Additions 23 - - - - - 23

Acquisition cost as at Dec 31 331 810 8,160 682 557 10,209 10,540

Accumulated depreciation at beginning 
of financial period -60 - -2300 -272 -77 -2,649 -2,709
Other changes and accumulated  
depreciation of disposals - - - 99 - 99 99
Depreciation charges for the financial 
period -63

-
-515 -128 -27 -670 -733

Accumulated depreciation as at Dec 31 -123 - -2,815 -301 -104 -3,220 -3,343

Net book value as at Dec 31 208 810 5,345 381 453 6,989 7,197

9     Intangible assets, Property, plant and equipment
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Domicile Ownership %

Valmet Technologies Oy Finland, Helsinki 100.0

Valmet AB Sweden, Sundsvall 100.0

Valmet Inc. USA, Duluth 90.0

Valmet Automation Oy Finland, Helsinki 100.0

Valmet Automation Property Oy Finland, Helsinki 100.0

Valmet Automation Pty Ltd Australia, Melbourne 100.0

11     Shareholdings

Shares
EUR thousand Group companies Others Investments total

2014

Acquisition cost at beginning of financial period 1,198,578 1,362 1,199,940

Disposals -68,538 - -68,538

Acquisition cost as at Dec 31 1,130,040 1,362 1,131,401

Net book value as at Dec 31 1,130,040 1,362 1,131,401

Shares
EUR thousand Group companies Others Investments total

2015

Acquisition cost at beginning of financial period 1,130,040 1,362 1,131,401

Acquisitions 317,488 - 317,488

Acquisition cost as at Dec 31 1,447,528 1,362 1,448,890

Net book value as at Dec 31 1,447,528 1,362 1,448,890

10     Investments

Valmet Financial Statements 2015 Notes to Parent Company Financial Statements

82



12     Specification of receivables

Non-current receivables
As at Dec 31,

EUR thousand 2015 2014

Loan receivables from Group companies  97,102   157,554

Deferred tax asset  5,069   2,014

Derivatives  2,130   136

Other receivables  2,616   1,879

Non-current receivables total  106,917   161,583

Current receivables
As at Dec 31,

EUR thousand 2015 2014

Trade receivables from

Group companies  5,189   13,004

Other  4   10

Total  5,193   13,014

Loan receivables from

Group companies  65,997   72,308

Group pool account  1,537   26,901

Total  67,534   99,209

Prepaid expenses and accrued income from Group companies  14,747   45,020

Other  15,725   21,922

Total  30,472   66,942

Other receivables

VAT receivables  2   27

Other receivables  3   15

Total  5   42

Current receivables total  103,204   179,207

Current receivables from Group companies total 87,470 157,233

Specification of prepaid expenses and accrued income
As at Dec 31,

EUR thousand 2015 2014

Prepaid expenses and accrued income from Group companies

Group contribution receivables  -     10,340

Accrued interest income  2,072   2,640

Derivatives  12,345   31,220

Other  330   820

Total  14,747   45,020

Other prepaid expenses and accrued income

Accrued interest income 7 94

Derivatives  12,270   19,326

Other accrued items 3,448 2,502

Total  15,725   21,922
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2015 2014

EUR thousand
Fair value  

Dec 31

Changes in  
fair value  

recognized in 
profit or loss

Changes in 
fair value 

recognized in 
fair value  

reserve or 
hedge reserve

Fair value  
Dec 31

Changes in  
fair value  

recognized in 
profit or loss

Changes in 
fair value 

recognized in 
fair value  

reserve or 
hedge reserve

Forward exchange contracts

With Group companies 1,471 6,684 - 12,526 23,522 -

Others 2,417 -7,680 - -10,695 -38,589 -

Forward commodity contracts (electricity)

Others -3,325 -794 - -2,531 -2,531 -

Forward  contracts (interest rate swap)

Others -509 -85 509 -  - -

Available-for-sale financial assets

Others 6,030 103 -10 32,988  - -22

13     Financial assets and liabilities recognized at fair value
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As at Dec 31,
EUR thousand 2015 2014

Share capital as at Jan 1  100,000   100,000

Share capital as at Dec 31  100,000   100,000

Reserve for invested unrestricted equity as at Jan 1  407,727   407,611

Share-based payments  1,927   117

Reserve for invested unrestricted equity as at Dec 31  409,654   407,727

Fair value and other reserves as at Jan 1  22   -

Additions -415   22

Fair value reserve as at Dec 31 -393   22

Retained earnings as at Jan 1  496,595   515,365

Dividends paid -37,348   -22,480

Purchase of Treasury  shares -7,499   -109

Retained earnings as at Dec 31  451,748   492,776

Profit/loss  21,593   3,818

Total equity as at Dec 31  982,602   1,004,344

Statement of distributable funds  
As at Dec 31,

EUR 2015 2014

Invested non-restricted equity fund  409,654,428.44   407,727,370.60

Retained earnings  451,747,728.03   492,776,290.62

Profit/loss  21,593,211.93   3,818,389.61

Total distributable funds  882,995,368.40   904,322,050.83

14     Statement of changes in equity
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As at Dec 31, 

EUR thousand 2015 2014

Current portion of non-current loans  60,857   49,841

Trade payables to

Group companies  286   2,994

Others  1,348   1,544

Total  1,634   4,538

Accrued expenses and deferred income to

Group companies  11,027   18,928

Others  18,246   34,113

Total  29,273   53,041

Other current interest bearing debt to

Group companies  45,234   210,820

Group pool accounts  308,991   258,061

Total  354,225   468,881

Other current non-interest bearing debt to others  382   753

Current liabilities total  446,371   577,054

Current liabilities to Group companies total  365,538   490,803

15     Non-current liabilities

As at Dec 31, 

EUR thousand 2015 2014

Loans from financial institutions  308,429   14,286

Derivatives  2,841   2,628

Non-current liabilities total  311,270   16,914

16     Current liabilities
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As at Dec 31, 
EUR thousand 2015 2014

Accrued expenses and deferred income to Group companies

Accrued interest expenses  153   47

Derivatives  10,874   18,694

Other accrued items  - 187

Total  11,027   18,928

Accrued expenses and deferred income to others

Accrued interest expenses  1,767   133

Derivatives  12,975   30,060

Accrued salaries, wages and social costs  3,002   3,509

Other accrued items  502   411

Total  18,246   34,113

Specification of accrued expenses and deferred income

Guarantees
As at Dec 31, 

EUR thousand 2015 2014

Guarantees on behalf of subsidiaries  766,392   1,162,166

Lease commitments
As at Dec 31, 

EUR thousand 2015 2014

Payments in the following year  133   153

Payments later  126   139

Total  259   292

Other commitments
As at Dec 31, 

EUR thousand 2015 2014

Payments in the following year  652   600

Payments later  1,250   1,867

Total  1,902   2,467

17     Other contingencies
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Voucher class

General journal and general ledger in electronic format
Specifications of accounts receivable and payable in electronic format
Fixed assets entries 01, 03, 04 in electronic format
Bank entries 10, 16, 17, 20, 27, 36, 42 in electronic format
Sales invoices RV in electronic format
Purchase invoices 23 in electronic format
Travel invoices 32 in electronic format
Salary entries 33 in electronic format
Journal vouchers 30, 31, 51, 52, 53, 54, 55, 59, 64, 67, 68, 71, 72, 75, 79 in electronic format
Financing entries 34, 35 in electronic format

List of Account Books Used in Parent Company
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Signatures of Board of Directors’ Report and  Financial 
Statements

Bo Risberg
Chairman of the Board

Friederike Helfer
Member of the Board

Erkki Pehu-Lehtonen
Member of the Board

Rogério Ziviani
Member of the Board

Jouko Malinen
Authorized Public Accountant

Pasi Laine
President and CEO

Lone FØnss SchrØder
Member of the Board

Mikael von Frenckell
Vice Chairman of the Board

The Auditor’s Note

Our auditor’s report has been issued today.

Espoo, February 9, 2016

PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy
Authorized Public Accountant Firm

Espoo, February 9, 2016
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Auditor’s Report (Translation from the Finnish Original)

To the Annual General Meeting of Valmet 
Corporation
We have audited the accounting records, the financial statements, 
the report of the Board of Directors and the administration of 
Valmet Corporation for the year ended 31 December, 2015. The fi-
nancial statements comprise the consolidated statement of financial 
position, income statement, statement of comprehensive income, 
statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows, and 
notes to the consolidated financial statements, as well as the parent 
company’s balance sheet, income statement, cash flow statement 
and notes to the financial statements.

Responsibility of the Board of Directors and 
the Managing Director
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible 
for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give 
a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU, as well as for 
the preparation of financial statements and the report of the Board 
of Directors that give a true and fair view in accordance with the 
laws and regulations governing the preparation of the financial 
statements and the report of the Board of Directors in Finland. The 
Board of Directors is responsible for the appropriate arrangement 
of the control of the company’s accounts and finances, and the 
Managing Director shall see to it that the accounts of the company 
are in compliance with the law and that its financial affairs have 
been arranged in a reliable manner.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial state-
ments, on the consolidated financial statements and on the report 
of the Board of Directors based on our audit. The Auditing Act re-
quires that we comply with the requirements of professional ethics. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with good auditing practice 
in Finland. Good auditing practice requires that we plan and per-
form the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors are 
free from material misstatement, and whether the members of the 
Board of Directors of the parent company or the Managing Director 
are guilty of an act or negligence which may result in liability in 
damages towards the company or whether they have violated the 
Limited Liability Companies Act or the articles of association of 
the company. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evi-
dence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements 
and the report of the Board of Directors. The procedures selected 
depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of 
the risks of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal 
control relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial statements 
and report of the Board of Directors that give a true and fair view 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the company’s internal control. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by manage-
ment, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements and the report of the Board of Directors. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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Opinion on the Consolidated Financial 
Statements
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true 
and fair view of the financial position, financial performance, and 
cash flows of the group in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU. 

Opinion on the Company’s Financial 
Statements and the Report of the Board of 
Directors
In our opinion, the financial statements and the report of the Board 
of Directors give a true and fair view of both the consolidated 
and the parent company’s financial performance and financial 
position in accordance with the laws and regulations governing 
the preparation of the financial statements and the report of the 
Board of Directors in Finland. The information in the report of 
the Board of Directors is consistent with the information in the 
financial statements. 

Espoo, February 9, 2016

PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy
Authorised Public Accountants

Jouko Malinen
Authorised Public Accountant
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Board of Directors

Friederike Helfer 
born 1976

Valmet Board Member since 2013

Member of the Board’s Audit Committee

Independent of the company and independent of significant shareholders

M.Sc. Real Estate Development, Diplom-Ingenieur in Urban Planning, CFA charterholder

Main occupation: Partner at Cevian Capital

Mikael von Frenckell 
born 1947

Valmet Board Member and Vice Chairman of the Board since 2013

Member of the Board’s Remuneration and HR Committee

Independent of the company and independent of significant shareholders

M.Sc. (Soc.)

Board Member of Antti Ahlströmin Perilliset Oy, Sponsor Capital Oy and Sponsor Capital Partners Oy

Bo Risberg 
born 1956

Valmet Board Member and Chairman of the Board since March 27, 2015

Chairman of the Board’s Remuneration and HR Committee

Independent of the company and independent of significant shareholders

BSc (Mech. Eng), MBA

Chairman of the Board in Piab Group Holding AB

Vice Chairman of the Board in Grundfos Holding A/S and IMD (International Management Development Institute)

Board Member of Nordstjernan AB and Trelleborg AB

Lone Fønss Schrøder 
born 1960

Valmet Board Member since 2014

Chairman of the Board’s Audit Committee

Independent of the company and independent of significant shareholders

M.Sc. (Econ.), Accounting; LL.M

Board Member of Saxobank A/S, Volvo PV AB, Schneider SE, Bilfinger Berger SE, INGKA Holding 
B.V, Akastor ASA, Canada Steamship Lines and Credit Suisse London.
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  More information about Valmet’s Board of Directors: www.valmet.com/management

Erkki Pehu-Lehtonen 
born 1950

Valmet Board Member since 2013

Member of the Board’s Audit Committee and Remuneration and HR Committee

Independent of the company and independent of significant shareholders

M.Sc. (Mechanical Engineering)

Chairman of the Board in Raute Corporation

Rogério Ziviani 
born 1956

Valmet Board Member since 2013

Independent of the company and independent of significant shareholders

B.Sc. in Business Management, MBA

Board Member of Innovatech Negócios Florestais

Eija Lahti-Jäntti 
born 1963

Personnel representative since 2014

MBA

Main occupation: Project coordinator at Valmet

Personnel representative Eija Lahti-Jäntti will participate as an invited expert in meetings of  
the Board of Directors.

Employed by Valmet since 1988

Jukka Viinanen was Chairman of Valmet’s Board and Chairman of the Board’s Remuneration and HR Committee until March 27, 2015.

Pekka Lundmark was Member of Valmet’s Board and Member of the Board’s Remuneration and HR Committee until April 7, 2015.
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Executive Team

Pasi Laine   
born 1963

President and CEO

M.Sc. (Eng.)

Bertel Karlstedt 
born 1962

Business Line President,  
Pulp and Energy,  
from February 1, 2015

M.Sc. (Eng.)

Sakari Ruotsalainen 
born 1955

Business Line President, 
Automation, 
from April 1, 2015

M.Sc. (Eng.)

William (Bill) Bohn 
born 1954

Area President,  
North America

B.Sc. (Pulp and Paper)

B.Sc. (Forestry)

Jukka Tiitinen  
born 1965

Business Line President, 
Services

M.Sc. (Eng.)

Jari Vähäpesola 
born 1959

Business Line President,  
Paper

M.Sc. (Eng.)

Diploma in International 
Marketing Management

Celso Tacla  
born 1964

Area President,  
South America 

MBA

Production Engineer

Chemical Engineer

Vesa Simola  
born 1967

Area President, EMEA,  
from August 1, 2015

MSc. (Eng.)
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Aki Niemi 
born 1969

Area President, China

M.Sc. (Eng.)

Hannu T Pietilä 
born 1962

Area President, Asia Pacific

B.Sc. (Mechanical 
Engineering) 

Kari Saarinen 
born 1961

CFO,  
from November 15, 2015 
(previously SVP,  
Strategy and Operational 
Development)

M.Sc. (Accounting and 
Finance)

Julia Macharey 
born 1977

Senior Vice President,  
Human Resources

B.A. (Intercultural 
Communication)

M.Sc. (Econ.)

Anu Salonsaari-Posti 
born 1968

Senior Vice President,  
Marketing and 
Communications

M.Sc. (Econ.)

MBA

  More information about Valmet’s Executive Team: www.valmet.com/management

Markku Honkasalo was CFO until November 14, 2015.

Hannu Mälkiä was Area President, EMEA, until July 31, 2015.

Juha Lappalainen 
born 1962

Senior Vice President, 
Strategy and Operational 
Development,  
from January 4, 2016

MSc. (Eng.)
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EUR Shares, Million 

Shares and Shareholders

Valmet’s share
The trading in Valmet Corporation shares commenced in Nasdaq 
Helsinki Ltd. on January 2, 2014. Valmet’s share capital amounts 
to EUR 100,000,000 and the aggregate number of Valmet shares 
is 149,864,619. Valmet has one series of shares and its shares have 
no nominal value. Each share will carry one vote at the general 
meeting of shareholders.

The volume of Valmet shares traded in Nasdaq Helsinki Ltd. 
during 2015 was 102,181,856, which represents approximately 82 
percent of the total volume of traded Valmet shares. In addition to 
Nasdaq Helsinki Ltd., Valmet shares are also traded on other market 
places, such as Chi-X and BATS. During 2015, the volume of Val-
met’s shares traded on the alternative market places was 21,850,143, 
which represents approximately 18 percent of the total volume of 
traded Valmet’s shares. Of the alternative market places, Valmet’s 
shares were traded especially on Chi-X. (Source: VWS, Six) 

Valmet Corporation held 399 Valmet shares on December 31, 2015. 

Basic information on Valmet share Indices

•  Listed: Nasdaq Helsinki

•  First day of listing: January 2, 2014

•  Trading currency: euro

•  Industry classification: Large corporations

•  Trading code: VALMT

•  ISIN code: FI4000074984

•  Reuters instrument code: VALMT.HE

•  Bloomberg symbol: VALMT FH

In 2015, Valmet’s shares belonged at least to the following indices:

•  OMX Helsinki Benchmark

•  OMX Helsinki 25
•  OMX Helsinki Industrials

•  OMX Helsinki Large Cap
•  NASDAQ OMX Nordic 120
•  Dow Jones Sustainability World (DJSI World) and Europe (DJSI Europe)

•  OMX GES Ethical Nordic Index
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Volume 
(Valmet)

Valmet OMX Helsinki 
(rebased)

Closing price
December 31, 2014: 
EUR 10.22
December 31, 2015:  
EUR 8.90
Change:  
-12.9%

Market capitalization 
of shares
December 31, 2014:  
EUR 1,531,616,406 
December 31, 2015:  
EUR 1,333,795,109
Change:  
EUR -197,821,297

High, low and  
average price during 
the review period
High: EUR 12.47
Low: EUR 8.36
Volume-weighted average 
share price:  
EUR 10.39

Volume
Total:  
124,031,999 
% of outstanding:  
82.8%



Largest shareholders (Euroclear) Holdings % of holdings

1 Solidium Oy1 16,695,287 11.14

2 Varma Mutual Pension Insurance Company 4,208,465 2.81

3 Ilmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance Company 2,980,055 1.99

4 The State Pension Fund 1,520,000 1.01

5 Keva 1,502,166 1.00

6 Nordea Fennia Fund 1,331,310 0.89

7 Mandatum Life Insurance Company Limited 1,217,307 0.81

8 Odin Finland 974,240 0.65

9 Nordea Nordenfonden 811,896 0.54

10 Danske Invest Finnish Institutional Equity Fund 700,000 0.47

11 Nordea Pro Finland Fund 700,000 0.47

12 OP-Finland Value Fund 620,756 0.41

13 Sigrid Jusélius Foundation 610,865 0.41

14 Evli Finnish Small Cap Fund 610,253 0.41

15 Kaleva Mutual Insurance Company 599,659 0.40

1 Solidium Oy (wholly owned by the Finnish state)

Holdings Holdings of interest parties

Risberg, Bo Chairman of the Board 3,922 0

Von Frenckell, Mikael Vice Chairman of the Board 107,989 0

Helfer, Friederike Member of the Board 4,187 0

Pehu-Lehtonen, Erkki Yrjö Juhani Member of the Board 7,366 0

Schrøder, Lone Fønss Member of the Board 5,235 0

Ziviani, Rogério Member of the Board 4,187 0

Laine, Pasi Kalevi President and CEO 49,021 0

Holdings of the Board of Directors and CEO in Valmet as at December 31, 2015

Shareholders
The number of registered shareholders at the end of December 2015 
was 47,952 (49,294 on December 31, 2014).

Shares owned by nominee-registered parties and by non-Finnish 
parties equaled 51.3 percent of the total number of shares at the end 
of December 2015 (54.7% on December 31, 2014).

Largest shareholders
Valmet’s largest shareholders according to Euroclear Finland are 
listed below.

In addition, according to a notification received by Valmet from 
Cevian Capital Partners Ltd., Cevian Capital Partners Ltd. held, on 
February 12, 2015, altogether 10,323,191 shares, which corresponds 
to 6.89 percent of all Valmet’s shares and votes.
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Distribution of holdings by number of shares held on December 31, 2015

Distribution of holdings by group on December 31, 2015

Number of shares
Number of  

shareholders % of shareholders
Total number  

of shares % of share capital

1–100 19,950 41.6 1,034,868 0.7

101–1,000 23,167 48.3 8,565,969 5.7

1,001–10,000 4,434 9.2 11,354,016 7.6

10,001–100,000 333 0.7 8,727,228 5.8

100,001– 68 0.1 120,173,618 80.2

Total 47,952 100.0 149,855,699 100.0

Nominee registered 12 0.0 74,114,704 49.5

Treasury shares held by the parent company 1 0.0 399 0.0

On shared account 0 0.0 8,920 0.0

Number of shareholders Number of shares % of share capital 

Nominee registered and non-Finnish holders 298 76,891,116 51.3

Finnish institutions, companies and foundations 2,629 34,619,876 23.1

Solidium Oy1 0 16,695,287 11.1

Finnish private investors 45,025 21,658,340 14.5

Total 47,952 149,864,619 100.0

1 Solidium Oy (wholly owned by the Finnish state)

The ownership structure is based on the sector classifications of Statistics Finland. The classification specifies institutions that invest in compulsory insurance, such as pension 
insurance companies in the public sector. Life and accident insurance companies, among others, are defined as finance and insurance institutions.

  Nominee registered and non-Finnish holders 51.3%
  Finnish institutions, companies and foundations 23.1%
  Solidium Oy1  11.1%
  Finnish private investors 14.5%
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Investor Relations

Valmet’s pulp-themed site visit to Sundsvall, Sweden in September 2015. 

Mission and goal
The main task of Valmet’s Investor Relations is to ensure that the 
markets have correct and sufficient information in order to deter-
mine the value of Valmet’s share. Investor Relations is responsible 
for planning and executing financial and investor communications, 
and all investor requests are processed centrally through Valmet’s 
Investor Relations.

In addition to Financial Statements and Interim Reviews, the in-
vestor website, stock exchange releases and press releases, Valmet’s 
investor communication involves investor meetings, seminars, web-
casts, news conferences of result publications, site visits and general 
meetings. Valmet also arranges Capital Markets Days for investors 
and analysts.

Valmet’s Investor Relations is also responsible for gathering and 
analyzing market information and investor feedback to be used by 
Valmet’s management and the Board of Directors.

Silent period
Valmet observes a 21 days silent period prior to the publication of 
financial results. During this time, Valmet does not comment on 

the company’s financial situation, markets or future outlook and 
Valmet’s executives and employees do not meet with representatives 
of capital markets or financial media.

Investor Relations in 2015
During 2015, Valmet’s Investor Relations have actively arranged 
different events for investors and analysts. In 2015 Valmet partic-
ipated in 250 investor meetings, seminars or conference calls. In 
addition to investor relations, also the CEO, CFO, Business Line 
Presidents and Area Presidents have participated in investor events. 
Valmet’s site visits have also offered a chance to meet local business 
management. Altogether, Valmet was on roadshows for a total of 32 
days and in 13 different countries, including Great Britain, France, 
Switzerland, Germany, Austria, Belgium, Sweden, Norway, Den-
mark, Netherlands, the United States, and Singapore.

The publication dates for Valmet’s Interim Reviews in 2015 were 
February 6, April 29, July 30 and October 28. For Interim Reviews 
published on February 6, April 29 and October 28, Valmet also 
arranged news conferences, where the CEO and CFO presented 
the results for the previous quarter. It was possible to follow these 
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Valmet’s site visit to Tampere was arranged in November 2015 and focused on 
automation business.

Valmet’s site visit to Jyväskylä, Finland in June 2015 
focused on Valmet’s board and paper business.

Investor and analyst group was introduced to Valmet 
site at Jiading in September 2015.

Valmet was presenting for private investors at 
Rahapäivä event in September 2015 arranged by 
Arvopaperi.

Site visit to Shanghai, China in September 2015 was focused on Valmet’s operations 
and market in China.

events at Valmet headquarters in Keilasatama, via a live webcast on 
Valmet’s investor website, a conference call or via Twitter. For the 
Interim Review published on July 30, Valmet arranged a conference 
call, and it was also possible to follow the call via a live audiocast 
on Valmet’s investor website. Recordings and transcripts of these 
events are available on Valmet’s investor website.

During 2015, Valmet arranged four site visits for institutional 
investors and analysts. The purpose of these visits was to give a 
better insight into Valmet’s businesses, and every visit focused on 
one part of Valmet’s businesses. The first visit, on June 3–4, was to 
Jyväskylä, Finland and the purpose of the visit was to introduce 
Valmet’s board and paper business. During the same trip, the group 
also visited Metsä Fibre’s pulp mill and Metsä Board’s board ma-
chine in Äänekoski. On September 10, the destination of the site 
visit was Sundsvall, Sweden, where the visitor group was introduced 
to Valmet’s pulp business. On September 24, Valmet arranged a 
site visit to Shanghai, China, with a focus on the Chinese market 
and Valmet’s operations in China. The last site visit for the year 
was on November 26 to Tampere, Finland, where the theme was 
Valmet’s automation business. The highlights of the site visits are 
introduced in the IR Director’s blog and in summary videos in the 
IR Video Gallery. In September, Valmet arranged a presentation by 
CFO Markku Honkasalo at Valmet Headquarters in Espoo, and in 

December Valmet’s new CFO, Kari Saarinen, hosted an introduc-
tory presentation to institutional investors and analysts.

During the year Valmet has also participated in different events 
for private investors, such as the Rahapäivä event, an event by Arvo-
paperi with an engineering company theme, and the Sijoitus Invest 
2015 event. Valmet has also conducted sales briefings for brokers 
based mainly in Finland and the USA. 

Valmet has also been actively present in social media. Inter-
esting topics for investors, for example highlights of the site visits 
and questions related to Interim Reviews, are presented in the IR 
Director’s blog on Valmet’s investor website. In addition, VP, In-
vestor Relations in Valmet, Hanna-Maria Heikkinen, has written 
posts in an Arvopaperi partner blog, where she has discussed global 
trends and developments related to Valmet’s operating environ-
ment. Valmet’s Investor Relations also has a Twitter account, which 
is used to give updates from different events, such as Valmet’s news 
conferences for result publications. It is also possible for investors 
to order Valmet’s IR Newsletter, which is published four times a 
year. The IR Newsletter summarizes the highlights of each quarter.

It is also possible to get to know Valmet as an investment by 
watching videos in the IR Video Gallery. Investor Relations provide 
different summary videos of site visits and quarterly results, among 
others. Launched in autumn 2015, Valmet’s IR Video Academy offers 
short videos introducing Valmet as an investment. 
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Investors met

~490
Meetings and events

~250
Countries visited

13
Days of roadshow

32

JANUARY 
 • SEB Nordic Semi-
nar, Copenhagen

MARCH
 • Capital Markets 
Day, London

 • Annual General 
Meeting

 • Roadshow
 ‒ Amsterdam
 ‒ London

MAY
 • Q1 presentation 
for Finnish institu-
tions, Helsinki

 • UBS Pan Europe-
an Small & Midcap 
Conference, 
London

 • Goldman Sachs 
European Small & 
Mid Cap Symposi-
um, London

 • Berenberg Euro-
pean Conference 
USA, New York

 • SEB NASDAQ 
OMX Nordic 
Market Day 2015, 
New York

 • Forest Products 
& Paper Seminar 
2015, Helsinki

 • Roadshow
 ‒ Frankfurt

FEBRUARY
 • Publication of 
Financial State-
ments Review 
for 2015 and 
webcast

 • Q4 presentation 
for Finnish institu-
tions, Helsinki

 • Roadshow
 ‒ Stockholm
 ‒ Oslo
 ‒ Singapore 
 ‒ Tokyo

APRIL
 • Publication of Q1 
Interim Review 
and webcast

JUNE
 • Site visit,  
Jyväskylä

 • Nordic Mid/Small 
Cap Seminar 
2015, Stockholm

 • Berenberg Energy 
Efficiency & 
Construction Con-
ference, Zürich

 • Arvopaperi event: 
Engineering com-
panies, Helsinki

 • Roadshow
 ‒ Paris

AUGUST
 • Q2 presentation 
for Finnish institu-
tions, Helsinki

 • Aftermarket 
Services seminar, 
Helsinki

OCTOBER
 • Publication of Q3 
Interim Review 
and webcast

 • Q3 presentation 
for Finnish institu-
tions, Helsinki

DECEMBER
 • Berenberg European 
Conference, London

 • Lunch with CFO for 
analysts and insti-
tutional investors, 
Helsinki

 • Roadshow
 ‒ Brussels

JULY
 • Publication of Q2 
Interim Review 
and audiocast

SEPTEMBER
 • FIM one-on-one 
seminar, Helsinki 

 • Rahapäivä event, 
Helsinki

 • Site visit,  
Sundsvall

 • Management 
pre sentation at 
Valmet Headquar-
ters, Espoo

 • Roadshow
 ‒ New York
 ‒ Boston
 ‒ Chicago
 ‒ Paris
 ‒ London
 ‒ Geneva

NOVEMBER
 • Sijoitus Invest 
2015 event, 
Helsinki

 • Site visit, Tampere

 • Pörssi-ilta event, 
Tampere

 • Roadshow
 ‒ New York
 ‒ Boston
 ‒ Frankfurt
 ‒ Vienna
 ‒ Singapore
 ‒ Stockholm
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Analyst coverage
During 2015, at least 12 analysts had coverage on Valmet, and of 
the analysts eight are located in Helsinki, two in London, one in 
Stockholm and one in Frankfurt. Analyst contact information and 
consensus estimates are available on Valmet’s investor website. 
Valmet does not take any responsibility for the content, accuracy 
or completeness of the views of the capital market representatives.

According to Valmet’s knowledge at least the following analysts 
have regular coverage on Valmet’s share.

Helsinki
Carnegie Investment Bank
Danske Markets Equities
SEB
Evli Bank
Handelsbanken Capital Markets
Inderes
Nordea
Pohjola Bank

Rest of Europe
Berenberg
DnB NOR
Kepler Cheuvreux
UBS

Valmet’s investors website
Valmet offers its investor information also on Valmet’s investor 
website. The investor website provides information about Valmet 
as an investment as well as Valmet’s operating environment. The 
website also offers various tools for monitoring the development 
of Valmet’s share, such as an interactive share monitor and a clos-
ing price search function. In addition, the pages offer information 
on the company’s insiders and their holdings as well as monthly 
updated information on the holdings of Valmet’s top shareholders 
and on the ownership structure. The investor website also features 
financial reports, presentation material and webcast recordings of 
Valmet’s result publication news conferences. In addition, the IR 
Director’s blog features Valmet-related posts aimed at investors.

In 2015 Valmet’s investor website won first place in the ‘Best 
investor website’ contest, in the category of the Large Cap com-
panies. The contest was arranged by the Finnish Foundation for 
Share Promotion and the Finnish Society of Financial Analysts. 
In the contest, the Finnish websites of the companies listed on the 
Helsinki Stock Exchange were evaluated.  

Financial calendar 2016

February 9, 2016    Financial Statements Review 2015

March 22, 2016   Annual General Meeting

April 6, 2016   Silent period begins

April 27, 2016    Publication of Interim Review 
for January–March 2016

July 7, 2016   Silent period begins

July 28, 2016    Publication of Interim Review 
for January–June 2016

September 20, 2016 Capital Markets Day in Helsinki

October 6, 2016   Silent period begins

October 27, 2016    Publication of Interim Review 
for January–September 2016

The calendar is available on Valmet’s investor website.

Investor Relations contact information

Hanna-Maria Heikkinen
VP, Investor Relations
Tel. +358 10 672 0007

Calle Loikkanen
Investor Relations Manager
Tel. +358 10 672 0020

Maija Honkanen
Financial Communicator
Tel. +358 10 672 0046

All meeting requests are coordinated by Maija Honkanen.
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Valmet  reports 2015

ANNUAL REVIEW 2015
The report describes Valmet’s market 
environment and the progress 
of its strategy, operations and 
sustainability in 2015.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2015
The report includes Valmet’s 
Financial Statements for 2015 
and information about its shares, 
shareholders and management.

GRI SUPPLEMENT 2015
The report defines Valmet’s 
sustainability reporting scope and 
principles, and alignment with the 
Global Reporting Initiative (GRI).

annual review
Valmet’s operations and sustainability in 2015 

financial statements  
2015

gri supplement 
2015

Valmet is the leading global developer and supplier
of process technologies, automation and services 
for the pulp, paper and energy industries. We aim 
to become the global champion in serving our 
customers.

Valmet’s strong technology offering includes pulp
mills, tissue, board and paper production lines, as 
well as power plants for bioenergy production. 
Our advanced services and automation solutions 
improve the reliability and performance of our 
customers’ processes and enhance the effective 
utilization of raw materials and energy.

Valmet’s net sales in 2015 were approximately
EUR 2.9 billion. Our 12,000 professionals around 
the world work close to our customers and are 
committed to moving our customers’ performance 
forward – every day. Valmet’s head office is in 
Espoo, Finland and its shares are listed on the 
Nasdaq Helsinki. 

Contacts
Visiting address
Keilasatama 5, 02150 Espoo, Finland

Postal address
P.O. Box 11, 02151 Espoo, Finland
Tel. +358 (0)10 672 0000
firstname.lastname@valmet.com

Media contacts
media@valmet.com

Sustainability contacts
sustainability@valmet.com

Investor relations
ir@valmet.com

Order publications
www.valmet.com/subscribe

About this report

Follow Valmet in Twitter or YouTube and join 

us in Linkedin and Facebook. 

Twitter.com/valmetglobal

Youtube.com/valmetglobal

 Linkedln.com/company/valmet 

Facebook.com/valmetcorporation

Concept, design and production
Miltton Oy

Paper
MultiArt Silk 300 g
MultiArt Silk 115 g

Printing
Oy Fram Ab

The paper, and the pulp used in making

the paper, was produced with machines and

equipment manufactured by Valmet. The

report is printed on MultiArt Silk, which is

PEFC-certified and meets the environmental

criteria for the Swan ecolabel. PEFC

certification confirms that the forests are

being sustainably managed. The printing inks

and chemicals used in printing comply with

the requirements for the Swan ecolabel. The

printing ink is plant oil-based, and the other

materials used are recyclable and ecofriendly.

www.valmet.com

4041 0797
Printed matter
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www.valmet.com

Converting  
renewable resources 
into sustainable 
results
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